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PART I

 
Cautionary Statement for Purposes of the “Safe Harbor” Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
 
This document includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements relate to analyses and other
information that are based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. These statements also relate to our future prospects, developments and
business strategies. The statements contained in this document that are not statements of historical fact may include forward-looking statements that involve a number of risks
and uncertainties.
 
We have used the words “anticipate”, “believe”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “predict”, “project”, “will”, and similar terms and phrases, including
references to assumptions, in this document to identify forward-looking statements.  These forward-looking statements are made based on our management’s expectations and
beliefs concerning future events affecting us and are subject to uncertainties and factors relating to our operations and business environment, all of which are difficult to
predict and many of which are beyond our control, that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those matters expressed in or implied by these forward-looking
statements. The following factors are among those that may cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements.
 



• highly competitive nature of the retail entertainment business;

• price and product changes;

• adverse publicity and product liability claims;

• interest rate fluctuations;

• dependence on key employees;

• new product introductions (“hit releases”) and  promotional activity by competitors;

• difficulties in integrating acquisitions;

• our level of debt and related restrictions and limitations;

• future cash flows, and

• availability of new real estate.
 
The reader should keep in mind that any forward-looking statement made by us in this document, or elsewhere, speaks only as of the date on which we make it. New risks and
uncertainties come up from time-to-time, and it’s impossible for us to predict these events or how they may affect us. In light on these risks and uncertainties, you should keep
in mind that any forward-looking statements made in this report or elsewhere might not occur.
 
In addition, the preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires us to make estimates
and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect:
 

•               the reported amounts and timing of revenue and expenses,
•               the reported amounts and classification of assets and liabilities, and
•               the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
 

Actual results may vary from our estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are based on historical results, assumptions that we make, as well as
assumptions by third-parties.
 
Item 1.  BUSINESS
 
Company Background
 
Trans World Entertainment Corporation, which, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, is referred to herein as the “Company”, was incorporated in New York in 1972.  It
owns 100% of the outstanding common stock of Record Town, Inc., through which its principal operations are conducted.  The Company operates retail stores and two e-
commerce sites and is one of the largest specialty retailers of entertainment software including music, video and home video games and related products in the United States.
 
In October, 2003 the Company acquired substantially all of the net assets of 111 stores from Wherehouse Entertainment Inc. (“Wherehouse”), a specialty music retailer
located primarily in the Western United States for $34.7 million in cash.  The acquired stores represent an excellent fit both strategically and operationally with the
Company’s free standing stores and provide the unique opportunity to expand its presence on the West Coast.  The Company also acquired in October, 2003 substantially all
of the net assets of 13 specialty stores of CD World Inc. (“CD World”), located in New Jersey and Missouri for $1.8 million in cash.  Management will focus on these
acquired stores in its fiscal year 2004 in order to optimize their value.  See Note 3 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
 
The Company’s headquarters are located at 38 Corporate Circle, Albany, New York 12203, and its telephone number is (518) 452-1242. The Company’s corporate website
address is www.twec.com.  The Company makes available free of charge its Exchange Act Reports (Forms 10-K, 10-Q, 8-K and any amendments to each) on its website as
soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with the SEC.  The public may read
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and copy any materials the Company files with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549.  Information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.  The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. This information can be obtained from the site http://www.sec.gov.
 
The Company’s Common Stock, $.01 par value, is quoted on the NASDAQ National Market under the trading symbol “TWMC”.   The Company’s fiscal year end is on  the
last Saturday closest to January 31.
 

Stores and Store Concepts
 

At January 31, 2004 the Company operated 881 stores totaling approximately 5.5 million square feet in 47 states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico
and the U.S. Virgin Islands.
 

Mall Stores
 

At January 31, 2004, the Company operated 595 mall-based stores in three concepts, predominantly under the FYE, For Your Entertainment, brand including:
 

Traditional FYE stores.   The traditional FYE mall store averages 5,700 square feet in size and carries a full complement of entertainment products.   These stores are often
the exclusive provider of music in regional malls.   There were 565 traditional FYE stores at January 31, 2004.
 
Super FYE stores.  The super FYE concept carries the same merchandise categories as traditional FYE mall locations, but with a much broader and deeper assortment.  This
concept is designed to be a semi-anchor or destination location in major regional malls.  There were 15 super FYE stores at January 31, 2004 that averaged 24,200 square
feet in size.
 
Saturday Matinee stores.  The Saturday Matinee stores specialize in the sale of video products and related accessories.  They are located in large, regional shopping malls
and average 2,100 square feet in size.  The Company operated 15 Saturday Matinee stores at January 31, 2004.
 

Freestanding Stores
 

At January 31, 2004, the Company operated 285 freestanding stores, which operate under the brand names of Coconuts, Strawberries, Wherehouse Music, CD World or
Spec’s Music.  They carry a full complement of entertainment products and are designed for freestanding, strip center and downtown locations.  The freestanding stores
average approximately 6,500 square feet in size.
 
The Company also operates a single Planet Music store, a 31,400 square foot freestanding superstore in Virginia Beach, VA.   The store offers an extensive catalog of music,
video and related merchandise.



 
Second Spin Inc.
 

The Company owns a majority interest in Second Spin Inc. Second Spin. Inc. operates online and in store marketplaces for buying and selling of used CD’s, videos and
DVD’s. Second Spin Inc. operates six stores in California and Colorado.
 

E-Commerce Sites
 

The Company operates the FYE, For Your Entertainment, www.fye.com website and the www.wherehouse.com website.  These sites offer substantially the same
complement of products in music, video and video games, as offered in the Company’s stores.
 
Business Environment
 
The entertainment software industry, including music, video and home video games, totaled $31 billion in the United States in 2003.  This statistic is derived from he
Recording Industry of America, or RIAA’s dollar value of shipped units of all CD’s and music videos and cassettes and singles; Rentrak Home Video Essentials’ estimated
title revenues; and NPD Funworld’s estimate of retail video games software sales.  Since 1999, management estimates that the industry has grown approximately 1% in total. 
This reflects weakness in the music industry, where shipments have declined 31% since 1999, according to the RIAA.  The weakness in music was offset by growth over the
same period in the home video segment, due to growing DVD penetration, and in the video games segment, that benefited from the launch of new hardware platforms and
related software such as Sony’s PlayStation II, Nintendo’s GameCube and Microsoft’s Xbox.
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Competition
 
There has been significant growth in channels available for consumers to access music as well as other entertainment products.  As a result, the number of specialty and
independent retailers that rely on music sales has decreased.  The Company still competes with certain large specialty retail chains, including The Musicland Group Inc.,
mostly in malls, and Tower Records, mostly in free-standing locations and other mass merchants like Best Buy, Circuit City, Target and Walmart.  There are also other
independent and smaller regional specialty retailers which still operate.
 
Merchandise Categories
 
The Company’s stores offer predominantly entertainment software, including music, home video and home video games.  In total, these categories represented 91% of the
Company’s total sales in 2003.  The balance of categories, items relating to the use, care and storage of entertainment software, along with boutique and electronic products,
represented 9% of the Company’s total sales in 2003.  Management believes there will be continued growth in its home video and home video games businesses. However, the
majority of sales will be in music for the foreseeable future.
 
Seasonality
 
The Company’s business is seasonal, with the fourth fiscal quarter constituting the Company’s peak selling period.  In 2003, the fourth fiscal quarter accounted for
approximately 41% of annual sales.  In anticipation of increased sales activity during these months, the Company purchases additional inventory and hires additional,
temporary employees to supplement its permanent store sales staff.   If, for any reason, the Company’s net sales were below seasonal norms during the fourth quarter, the
Company’s operating results, particularly operating and net income, could be adversely affected.  Additionally, quarterly sales results, in general, are affected by the timing of
new product releases, new store openings or closings and the performance of existing stores.
 
Advertising
 
The Company makes extensive use of in-store signs in all stores.  It also pursues a mass-media marketing program primarily for its freestanding stores, including newspaper,
radio, and television advertisements.  The majority of vendors from whom the Company purchases merchandise offer advertising allowances to promote their merchandise
that are generally accounted for as a reduction of the cost of inventory to the extent that such allowances exceed the costs incurred for the advertising.
 
Suppliers and Purchasing
 
The Company purchases inventory from approximately 800 suppliers.  Approximately 52% of purchases in 2003 were made from five suppliers: WEA
(Warner/Electra/Atlantic Corp.), Sony Music, UMVD (Universal Music and Video Distribution), BMG (Bertelsmann Music Group) and EMD (EMI Music Distribution). 
The Company does not have material long-term purchase contracts instead, purchases products from its suppliers on an order-by-order basis.  Historically, the Company has
not experienced difficulty in obtaining satisfactory sources of supply and management believes that it will retain access to adequate sources of supply.
 
Trade Customs and Practices
 
Under current trade practices with large suppliers, retailers of music and video products are generally entitled to return merchandise they have purchased for other titles carried
by the suppliers.  This practice permits the Company to carry a wider selection of titles by reducing the risk of inventory obsolescence.  Four of the five largest music suppliers
charge a related merchandise return penalty.  Most manufacturers and distributors of video products do not typically charge a return penalty.  Merchandise return policies and
other trade practices have not changed significantly in recent years.  The Company generally adapts its purchasing policies to changes in the policies of its largest suppliers.
 
One of the Company’s major suppliers, UMVD, changed its CD cost structure, such that it sells to the Company and other retailers the majority of its compact discs at a lower
net cost and eliminated substantially all incentives, including volume, purchase and cooperative advertising discounts.  UMVD accounted for 15% of the Company’s total
purchases in 2003.   Since this change, in October 2003, the Company has not experienced a material impact related to its financial results.
 
Employees
 
As of January 31, 2004, the Company employed approximately 8,200 employees, of whom 3,000 were employed on a full-time basis.   All other employees were employed
on a part-time or temporary basis.  The Company hires seasonal sales employees during its fourth quarter peak selling season to ensure continued levels of customer service. 
Store managers, district managers and regional managers are eligible to receive incentive compensation based on the sales and profitability of stores for which they are
responsible.  None of the Company’s employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements and management believes that the Company enjoys mostly favorable
relations with its employees.
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Information Systems
 
The Company continually assesses its information system needs to increase efficiency, improve decision-making and support growth.   It utilizes primarily IBM AS400



technology to run its management information systems, including its merchandising, distribution and accounting systems.  Management believes its systems contribute to
enhanced customer service and operational efficiency, as well as provide the ability to monitor critical performance indicators versus plans and historical results.
 
The Company’s point of sale and merchandising systems allow for and utilize the daily reporting of sales, inventory and gross margin by store and by SKU (which is defined
as a “Stock Keeping Unit” and is a number associated with a product for inventory purposes). The Company uses a broadband communication network in its stores to provide
data transmission to centralized computer operations, streamline customer checkout procedures (i.e. credit authorization) and transmit content for its in-store listening and
viewing stations.   It further provides the capability to implement digital distribution in stores.
 
Item 2.  PROPERTIES
 
Retail Stores
 
At January 31, 2004, the Company operated 881 stores all under operating leases, many of which have renewal options.  Substantially all of the leases provide for payment of
fixed monthly rentals and expenses for maintenance, property taxes, insurance and utilities.  Many leases provide for added rent based on store receipts in excess of specified
levels.  The following table lists the leases due to expire as of January 31 in each of the fiscal years shown, assuming any renewal options are not exercised:
 

 

No. of
Leases

Year
 

2004 233
    

2005 112
    

2006 78
    

2007 119
    

2008 130
    

2009 81
    

2010 52
    

2011 and beyond 76
 
The Company expects that as these leases expire it will exercise its renewal rights or obtain new leases for the same or similar locations.
 
Corporate Offices and Distribution Center Facilities
 
The Company leases its Albany, New York, distribution facility and corporate office space from its largest shareholder and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer under three
capital lease arrangements that extend through 2015.  These leases are at fixed rentals with provisions for biennial increases based on increases in the Consumer Price Index. 
The Company incurs all property taxes, insurance and maintenance costs.  The office portion of the facility is approximately 40,300 square feet and the distribution center
portion is approximately 128,100 square feet.  The Company owns a 236,600 square foot distribution center with 59,200 square feet of adjacent office space in North Canton,
Ohio.  The Company also leases a 198,200 square foot distribution center in Carson, California. The term of the Carson lease expires in December 2005 and contains two
options to extend the lease by five years each.
 
The Company believes that its existing distribution facilities are adequate to meet the Company’s planned business needs.  Shipments from the distribution facilities to the
Company’s stores are made at least once a week and currently provide approximately 76% of all merchandise requirements.  The balance of the stores’ requirements is
satisfied through direct shipments from vendors.  Company operated trucks service approximately 114 of its stores.  The remaining stores are serviced by common carriers
chosen on the basis of geography and rate considerations.  The Company’s shipment volume allows it to take advantage of transportation economies.
 
The Company leases a 43,500 square foot facility in Johnstown, New York, where it manufactures the majority of its store fixtures. The operating lease expires in December
2006.  The Company believes that its costs of production are equal to or lower than purchasing the fixtures from an outside supplier.
 
The Company also leases 8,500 square feet of commercial office space in Albany, New York that expires in June 2004 and includes an option to renew for 6 months.
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Item 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 
On October 16, 2000, the United States District Court for the District of Delaware issued an opinion in favor of the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) in the case IRS vs. CM
Holdings Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, upholding the IRS’ disallowance of deductions of interest expense related to corporate-owned life insurance
policies (“COLI”).  The remaining accrued liabilities attributable to this matter are $8.1 million and $11.0 million which are included in other (long-term) liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets as of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, respectively.  During the second fiscal quarter of 2003, the Company and the IRS agreed on final
payment terms for an amount less than previously accrued, which resulted in an income tax benefit of $2.1 million.  Under the final payment terms, the Company has agreed
to make annual interest payments and a final principal payment of approximately $7.1 million in 2006.
 
On March 3, 2003, the Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court in the Northern District of New York against Fullplay Media Systems, Inc (“Fullplay”).
The action against Fullplay by the Company was for breach of contract and misappropriation of trade secrets in the design and development of its Listening and Viewing
Stations (“LVS”). Under a non-disclosure agreement with the Company, Fullplay was obligated to keep confidential the Company’s proprietary information relating to the
LVS and not make use whatsoever at any time of such proprietary information except for purposes related to Fullplay’s contractual obligations to develop the LVS for the
Company. On March 7, 2003, Fullplay filed a complaint against the Company asserting breaches of two other agreements between the parties. On March 19, 2003, Fullplay
filed a voluntary petition for a Chapter 11 bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Washington. On June 24, 2003, Fullplay filed suit
against the Company as part of its Chapter 11 bankruptcy filing claiming breach of contract. The Company reached an agreement with Fullplay on July 18, 2003, to resolve
the disputes, whereby both parties discontinued all legal actions without admitting or denying the merits of the other’s claims.
 
The Company is subject to other legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business and have not been finally adjudicated.  Although there can
be no assurance as to the ultimate disposition of these matters, it is management’s opinion, based upon the information available at this time, that the expected outcome of
these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Company.
 
Item 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004.
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PART II
 
Item 5.  MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
 
Market Information.  The Company’s Common Stock trades on the NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol “TWMC.”  As of January 31, 2004, there were 546
shareholders of record.  The following table sets forth high and low last reported sale prices for each fiscal quarter during the period from February 2, 2002 through March 19,
2004.
 

Closing
Sales
Prices

High Low
2002

  

1st Quarter $ 9.25 $ 7.28
2nd Quarter $ 8.23 $ 4.82
3rd Quarter $ 5.55 $ 2.65
4th Quarter $ 4.59 $ 3.13
      

2003
1st Quarter $ 3.98 $ 2.26
2nd Quarter $ 6.50 $ 2.76
3rd Quarter $ 7.21 $ 4.99
4th Quarter $ 8.30 $ 5.90
      

2004
1st Quarter (through March 19, 2004) $ 11.00 $ 7.03

 
On March 19, 2004, the last reported sale price on the Common Stock on the NASDAQ National Market was $9.54.
 
Options for the Company’s Common Stock trade on the Chicago Board Options Exchange.
 
In May 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase 10 million shares of Common Stock from time to time on the open market.  The program
marks the fourth program authorized in the last three years.  As of January 2004, the Company had completed the purchase of fifteen million shares of common stock under
previously announced programs. The following table shows the purchase of equity securities purchased under the repurchase program as required by Regulation 229.703 Item
703:
 

Period
Total Number of Shares

Purchased
Average Price Paid per

Share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced

Programs

Maximum Number of
Shares that May Yet Be

Purchased Under the
Plan

November 2, 2003 – November
29, 2003 — — — 6,802,373

November 30, 2003 – January 3,
2004 101,832 $ 7.27 101,832 6,700,541

January 3, 2004 – January 31,
2004 25,600 $ 7.60 25,600 6,674,941

           
Total 127,432 $ 7.34 127,432 6,674,941
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The following table contains information about the Company’s Common Stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options, warrants and rights under all of the
Company’s equity compensation plans as of January 31, 2004:
 

Plan Category

Number of Shares to be Issued
upon Exercise of Outstanding
Options, Warrants and Rights

Weighted Average Exercise
Price of Outstanding Options,

Warrants and Rights

Number of Shares Remaining
Available for Future Issuance
Under Equity Compensation

Plans (Excluding Outstanding
Options, Warrants and Rights)

(Shares in thousands)
Equity Compensation Plan Approved

by Shareholders 8,814 $ 7.60 2,965
Equity Compensation Plans and

Agreements not Approved by
Shareholders — — —

 
Dividend Policy: The Company has never declared any dividends on its Common Stock and does not plan to pay cash dividends on its Common Stock in the foreseeable
future.  The Company’s credit agreement currently allows the Company to pay a cash dividend once in each calendar year.  Any dividend would be restricted to ten percent of
the most recent fiscal year’s consolidated net income and could only be paid if, after any payment of dividends, the Company maintains $25 million in availability under the
credit agreement.  Any future determination as to the payment of dividends will depend upon capital requirements, limitations imposed by the Company’s credit agreement
and other factors the Company’s Board of Directors may consider.
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Item 6.  SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA



 
The following table sets forth selected income statement and balance sheet data for the five fiscal years ended January 31, 2004 from the Company’s audited consolidated
financial statements.  Each fiscal year of the Company consisted of 52 weeks, except the fiscal year ended February 3, 2001, which consisted of 53 weeks.  All share and per
share amounts have been adjusted for stock splits.  The information should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and related
notes and other financial information included herein, including Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.
 

Fiscal Year Ended
January 31,

2004
February 1,

2003
February 2,

2002
February 3,

2001
January 29,

2000
(in thousands, except per share and store data)

INCOME STATEMENT DATA:
Sales $ 1,330,626 $ 1,281,869 $ 1,388,032 $ 1,414,589 $ 1,358,132
Cost of sales 842,726 815,071 935,256 917,354 858,588
Gross profit 487,900 466,798 452,776 497,235 499,544
Selling, general and administrative expenses 459,441 465,893 422,737 416,990 371,998
Camelot merger-related costs (1) — — — — 25,473
Goodwill impairment charge (2) — 40,914 — — —
Income (loss) from operations 28,459 (40,009) 30,039 80,245 102,073
Interest expense 2,147 2,349 2,477 3,128 3,496
Other expenses (income), net (718) (1,231) (2,120) (6,543) (4,086)
Income (loss) before income taxes, extraordinary gain –

unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle 27,030 (41,127) 29,682 83,660 102,663

Income tax expense (benefit) 8,302 (9,341) 12,891 43,510 41,270
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated

negative goodwill  and  cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle 18,728 (31,786) 16,791 40,150 61,393

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, net
of income taxes (3) 4,339 — — — —

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,  net
of income taxes (4) — (13,684) — — —

Net income (loss) $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 16,791 $ 40,150 $ 61,393
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain –

unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.40 $ 0.84 $ 1.17

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.12 — — — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — $ (0.34) — — —
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40 $ 0.84 $ 1.17
Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic 37,422 40,224 41,938 47,597 52,457
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain –

unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative  effect of
change in accounting principle $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.39 $ 0.83 $ 1.15

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.11 — — — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — $ (0.34) — — —
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39 $ 0.83 $ 1.15
Weighted average number  of shares outstanding –

diluted 38,209 40,224 42,553 48,498 53,354
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Fiscal Year Ended

January 31,
2004

February 1,
2003

February 2,
2002

February 3,
2001

January 29,
2000

(in thousands, except per share and store data)
BALANCE SHEET DATA: (at the end of the period)
Total assets $ 817,758 $ 803,396 $ 935,418 $ 1,002,002 $ 956,410
Current portion of long-term obligations 395 1,640 4,711 5,702 5,311
Long-term obligations 7,465 7,860 9,500 13,767 19,461
Shareholders’ equity $ 399,184 $ 392,104 $ 448,066 $ 448,822 $ 494,173
            
OPERATING DATA:
Store count (open at end of period):

Mall stores 595 650 686 755 723
Freestanding stores 286 205 216 229 244
Total stores 881 855 902 984 967

            
Comparable store sales increase/(decrease) (5) 1.3% (5.0)% (2.7)% 0.2% 2.0%
            
Total square footage (in thousands) 5,484 4,944 5,076 5,322 4,913
 

(1)          The Camelot merger-related costs included the write-off of the book value of retired assets, professional fees associated with the completion of the merger, severance
costs, joint proxy printing and distribution costs, and regulatory filing fees.

 
(2)          The Company recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge in fiscal 2002 related to Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 142, concerning the

accounting for goodwill. For additional discussion regarding the impairment charge, refer to Note 1 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K .

 
(3)          The Company’s acquisition of the net assets of Wherehouse Entertainment Inc. and CD World Inc. stores in fiscal 2003 resulted in an extraordinary gain recorded in

accordance with SFAS No. 141 concerning Business Combinations.  The gain represents the excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the purchase price of the
acquired assets. For additional discussion regarding the extraordinary gain, refer to Note 3 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.



 
(4)          The Company adopted guidance relating to the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB’s”) Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Statement No. 02-16,

“Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor”, effective as of the beginning of fiscal 2002, resulting in a one-
time, non-cash, after-tax charge of $13.7 million, which was classified as a “cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle”. This new practice has the effect of
increasing selling, general and administrative expenses and increasing gross profit. For additional discussion regarding the cumulative effect of the change in
accounting principle, refer to Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Selling, General and Administrative
Expenses and to Note 2 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 
(5)          A store is included in comparable store sales calculations at the beginning of its 13th full month of operation.
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Item 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Overview
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations provides information that the Company’s management believes necessary to
achieve a clear understanding of the Company’s financial statements and results of operations.  To the extent that such analysis contains statements which are not of a
historical nature, such statements are forward-looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties.  These risks include, but are not limited to, changes in the competitive
environment for the Company’s merchandise, including the entry or exit of non-traditional retailers of the Company’s merchandise to or from its markets; the release by the
music industry of an increased or decreased number of “hit releases”; general economic factors in markets where the Company’s merchandise is sold; and other factors
discussed in the Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  The following discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations should be read in conjunction with “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this
report.
 
At January 31, 2004, the Company operated 881 stores totaling approximately 5.5 million square feet in 47 states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto
Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands.
 
The Company’s stores offer predominantly entertainment software, including music, home video and home video games.  In total, these categories represented 91% of the
Company’s total sales in 2003.  The balance of categories, items relating to the use, care and storage of entertainment software, along with boutique and electronic products,
represented 9% of the Company’s total sales in 2003.  Management believes there will be continued growth in its home video and home video games businesses, though the
majority of sales will be in music for the foreseeable future.
 
Management feels the greatest competitive issues that the Company faces include the:

•                   Decrease in music sales due to proliferation of the unauthorized duplication of music; and
•                   Mass merchants and electronics superstores, including Best Buy, Circuit City, Target and Wal-Mart, often compete on price and are garnering a larger share of

customer traffic than mall-based retailers, and some of which may have greater financial or other resources than the Company.
 

The Company believes it competes primarily for customers in the following ways:
•                   Location and convenience: the Company believes that one of its primary strengths is  the location of its stores and the convenience of having a wide selection of

product in shopping centers where it is often the only tenant selling entertainment software;
•                   Marketing: the Company uses primarily newspaper inserts, radio advertising and extensive in-store signs and displays to advertise to its customers;
•                   Selection and assortment: the Company feels it differentiates itself by maintaining a high in-stock position in a wide and deep assortment of varied product, particularly

in CD’s and DVD’s;
•                   Customer service: the Company believes its customer service levels are above the level of its competition;
•                   Price perception: the Company communicates a value message by promoting exclusive value-priced merchandise, off-brand product and closeout merchandise and by

offering a broad selection of used CD’s, DVD’s and video games;
•                   Listening and Viewing Stations (“LVS”):  the Company’s in-store LVS technology is the cornerstone of an interactive shopping experience for FYE customers.
 

In the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004 (referred to herein as “2003”), the Company improved its sales over the year ended February 1, 2003, (referred to herein as “2002”)
primarily as a result of the acquisitions of the Wherehouse stores and CD World stores and positive comparable store sales.  Earnings increased in 2003 as a result of increased
sales, a higher gross margin rate in 2003 and a decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses. This reversed the trend of the previous two fiscal years, during which
the Company experienced declining sales and earnings caused by the deliberate closing of stores coupled with a decline in music sales.  The Company’s music business
experienced slower declines in 2003, as compared to 2002, as it did for the industry.  The Company believes its improved 2003 results were also the result of its initiative to
evolve into a total entertainment retailer, as described below.
 
Business Plans
 
Management expects to increase its sales and earnings in 2004 through the deliberate execution of its business plan.  Key components of its plan include:
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Developing its Brands - FYE Brand
 

The Company endeavors to continually develop all of its brands.  Particular attention has been paid to its national mall-based brand FYE, For Your Entertainment, since its
launch in 2001.  The FYE brand initiative was aimed at broadening the Company’s customer base by creating a more relevant entertainment shopping experience and
differentiating FYE from its competition.  The FYE brand is further tagged as the place where people “discover entertainment” and this is continually communicated to
customers through the Company’s stores, associates and Web site, www.fye.com.  The brand promise centers around an engaging and personalized approach in marketing
and merchandising, an interactive in-store and online entertainment experience and a best-in-retail-class customer service level – all designed to draw customers into stores
and enhance long-term customer loyalty.
 
Development of in-store technologies is the cornerstone of an interactive shopping experience for FYE customers.  In 2002, the Company installed Listening and Viewing
Stations in its FYE stores.   LVS is an industry-leading product sampling and selection tool designed to encourage customer purchases.  This technology is seen as setting the
Company apart from the competition by drawing more customers to its stores.  Based on a survey by the NPD Group, a leading marketing information provider, LVS has
been found to have a significant impact on driving repeat business.  The Company will continue to leverage this key technology and upgrade it into a second generation in the
fiscal year ending January 29, 2005, (hereinafter referred to as “2004”), adding the capability to host digital downloading services.  Additional enhancements including
expanded product browsing capabilities, touch screens, and better resolution are some of the planned upgrades.
 



The Company plans to aggressively embrace digital media in its stores and through its e-commerce activities and regards digital downloading as yet another format for selling
media products.  The Company plans to test an online solution in its stores in the fourth quarter of 2004.  The Company’s plan for implementing a digital downloading
solution is contingent on (a) acquiring licenses to digitally distribute content; (b) developing an in-store delivery system compliant with the licenses; and, (c) creating a system
compatible with portable consumer devices.
 

Improving Merchandise Assortments
 

The Company will continue to edit, the product mix of its stores toward regional tastes in order to increase the productivity of its stores, seeking to serve key customer
segments within each store.  This involves tailoring the overall music inventory and square footage allocation in line with a store’s trend, and increasing inventory and square
footage allocations for other, growing categories, particularly home video and video games.  The Company is further improving store productivity by continuing to develop a
highly customer service-oriented selling culture in its management team and work force.
 

Growing Store Count
 

The Company continues to explore growth for mall and freestanding stores, as competitors abandon locations and where economics are compelling.  Management believes
there are opportunities to expand into new markets, fill in existing markets, and reposition stores in its current portfolio, particularly with its freestanding formats.
 

Leveraging costs
 

An important component of the Company’s plan is to continue to steadily reduce the cost of doing business.  The Company is looking to grow its store count so that it can
better leverage its cost structure. The Company plans to outsource its internet operations (www.fye.com) to BuyServices, Inc. beginning in August 2004.   Outsourcing will
improve the efficiency with which the Company operates this medium, without changing the name, look and feel of the Company’s existing site, while expanding its on-line
offering of products and services. The Company will continue to maintain its www.fye.com Web site and only the functionality will be outsourced to BuyServices, Inc. The
Company expects to reduce expenses by approximately $3 million as a result of outsourcing its internet operations.
 
New Stores and Acquisitions
 
The Company has historically grown its sales by opening new stores and by acquiring specialty retailers in its business.
 
In October 2003, the Company acquired substantially all of the net assets of 111 stores from Wherehouse Entertainment Inc. (“Wherehouse”), a specialty music retailer
located primarily in the Western United States for $35.2 million in cash.  The acquired stores represent an excellent fit both strategically and operationally with the
Company’s freestanding stores and provide the unique opportunity to expand its presence on the West Coast.  The Company also acquired in October 2003 substantially all of
the net assets of 13 specialty stores of CD World Inc. (“CD World”), located in New Jersey and Missouri for $1.9 million in cash.  Management will focus on these acquired
stores in its fiscal year 2004 in order to optimize their value.  See Note 3 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
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Store Closings
 
Historically, about 10% of the Company’s stores are being evaluated at any time for closure.  The composition of these stores changes from time to time as the result of
competitive changes and other factors.  The Company aggressively closes stores when minimum operating thresholds are not achieved.
 
In 2003, the Company closed more stores than it opened.  However, with the acquisition of the Wherehouse stores and CD World stores, the Company finished the year with
an increase in store count from the prior year (881 vs. 855).  Management believes it will close roughly the same number of stores in 2004 that it opens and believes it will
increase its overall store count beginning in fiscal year 2005.
 
Suppliers
 
One of the Company’s major suppliers, UMVD, changed its CD cost structure, such that it sells to the Company and other retailers the majority of its compact discs at a lower
net cost and eliminated substantially all purchase incentives, including volume, purchase and cooperative advertising discounts.  UMVD accounted for 15% of the Company’s
total purchases in 2003.   Since this change in October 2003, the Company has not experienced a material impact related to its financial results.
 
Management continually monitors a number of key performance indicators to evaluate its performance, including:
 
Revenues:  The Company generates substantially all of its revenue from sales of entertainment software and related products.  It continually measures the rate of comparable
store sales change. A store is included in comparable store sales calculations at the beginning of its thirteenth full month of operation.  The Company further analyzes sales by
store format (i.e. mall vs. freestanding) and by product category.
 
Cost of Sales and Gross Margins:  The Company tightly controls its cost of sales.  Gross margins are impacted primarily by the mix of products sold and by purchase
discounts provided by vendors.  The Company records its distribution and product shrink expenses in cost of sales.
 
Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) expenses: SG&A expenses are comprised largely of salaries and wages and related costs, occupancy charges, including rent
and utilities, advertising, store operating costs and other overhead expenses, including depreciation.
 
Balance Sheet and Ratios:  The Company views cash, net inventory investment (inventory less accounts payable) and working capital as indicators of its financial position. 
See Liquidity and Capital Resources for further discussion of these items.
 

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2004 (“2003”)
Compared to Fiscal Year Ended February 1, 2003 (“2002”)

 
Sales.  The increase in sales resulted from a comparable store sales increase of 1.3% and an increase in the average number of stores in operation due to the acquisition of
stores in the third quarter.  The store count increased from 855 at the end of 2002 to 881 at the end of 2003.  In 2003, comparable store sales increased 1.9% for mall-based
stores and decreased 0.2% for freestanding stores.
 

Music
The Company’s stores offer a wide range of compact discs, audio cassettes and singles across most music genres, including new releases from current artists as well as an
extensive catalog of music from past periods and artists.   This category represented 55% of the Company’s total sales in 2003.
 
Comparable store sales for music declined in fiscal 2003, following industry trends.  However, comparable store sales for CD sales improved during the third and fourth
quarters of 2003 as compared to the first and second quarters, with an improvement in new release performance.  The Company’s annual CD sales declined in fiscal 2003 for
the third straight year.  The decreases followed industry trends that have been much publicized by the RIAA and are largely due to the unauthorized duplication of music and
weak industry new releases.  According to the RIAA, industry sales of CD’s were down 7% in 2003.  Music piracy commonly occurs through either illegal downloading of
music from the internet or illegal duplication (CD to CD copying) of music.  Compounding the problem is the fact that the categories of cassettes and singles are being



virtually eliminated by the deliberate efforts of vendors and shifts in consumer preferences.
 
However, the CD category improved for the Company, as with the industry, during the third and fourth quarters of 2003.  It is widely believed that it was further helped by
measures undertaken by the RIAA to reduce piracy, including legal actions taken against those who abuse online file-sharing services to illegally distribute product.
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The Company believes that the paid digital downloading of music will garner more market share in the coming years and has developed plans to introduce an in-store test in
the fourth quarter of 2004.
 

Video
The Company offers home video, including DVD’s and videocassettes, in all of its stores.  Since the introduction of the DVD format in 1997, the video industry has
experienced significant growth.   The growth in the DVD format has more than offset the corresponding decline in the videocassettes for the Company.  According to The
Digital Entertainment Group (DEG), consumer spending on home video was up 18% in 2003, with DVD representing 72% of all home video transactions.  Overall, DVD
retail sales in the United States in the calendar year 2003 grew by 33% over last year.   The increase in comparable store sales for video was driven by increased DVD sales. 
The Company plans to continue to grow its business and market share in this category by adding more product and increasing square footage allocations.   The category
represented 28 % of total company sales in 2003.
 

Video Games
The Company offers video game hardware and software in most of its stores, with a mix that favors software.  The Company’s total sales in this category were flat in 2003.
According to a leading market information provider, the NPD Group, the video games market in 2003 was impacted by price cuts from console manufacturers as well as
declines in retail software prices.  According to year-end figures released The NPD Group, which tracks industry sales, sales of video games rose in 2003, but overall industry
revenue declined by 4% to $11.2 billion. The Company expects a modest increase in sales in this category until new hardware platforms, and related software, are introduced. 
The category represented 6% of total company sales in 2003. Management believes there will be continued growth in its home video and home video games businesses,
though the majority of sales will continue to be in music for the foreseeable future.
 
Sales by merchandise category as a percentage of total sales for the two years ended January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003 were as follows:
 

January 31,
2004

Comparable
Store Sales

February 1,
2003

Music:
Compact discs 52.8 % (4.6 )% 55.7 %
Audio cassettes 1.5 (45.3 ) 2.8
Singles 0.4 (5.1 ) 0.4

Total Music 54.7 (6.5 ) 58.9
Video:

VHS 4.9 (28.1 ) 6.7
DVD 23.1 29.4 17.8

Total  Video 28.0 13.7 24.5
Video games 6.1 (2.0 ) 6.1
Other 11.2 21.8 10.5
Total 100.0 % 1.3 % 100.0 %

 
  

2003 vs. 2002
(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ %
Sales $ 1,330,626 $ 1,281,869 $ 48,757 3.8 %

 
Gross Profit.  The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s gross profit:

 
  

2003 vs. 2002
(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ %
Gross Profit $ 487,900 $ 466,798 $ 21,102 4.5 %
          
As a percentage of sales 36.7 % 36.4 %

 
The increase in the gross profit rate as a percentage of sales was due to improvement in margin rate across most product categories. The Company also recorded lower costs
related to distribution and product shrink expenses (which is defined as the difference between beginning and ending inventory that has not been recorded as sales or
transfers), as a rate of sales, which are recorded in cost of sales.  Management believes that it can maintain its margin rate in the foreseeable future. However, if its
competitors lower prices, and the Company has to lower its prices in response, it will negatively impact the margin rate.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.  The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s SG&A expenses:
 

2003 vs. 2002
(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ %
Selling, general and administrative

expenses $ 459,441 $ 465,893 $ (6,452) (1.4 )%
          
As a percentage of sales 34.5 % 36.3 %

 
The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses was the result of lower overhead expenses, including depreciation, as non-recurring charges in 2003 were
partially offset by non-recurring charges in 2002.  In 2003, the Company recorded additional employee incentive costs based on its improved performance, and recorded
transition costs associated with the acquisition of the Wherehouse stores.  It further wrote-off long-lived assets of $3.7 million related to its internet operations.  These
additional charges were partially offset by charges of $9.3 million taken in 2002 for the write down of certain investments deemed impaired.  The improvement in the selling,
general and administrative expenses rate as a percentage of sales was due largely to the increase in 2003 annual sales.
 
Goodwill Impairment Charge. In 2002, the Company performed its annual review of its goodwill balances in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and determined that the entire recorded goodwill of $40.9 million was impaired. The
impairment charge resulted from operating profits and cash flows being lower than expected during the second half of 2002.  Based on this trend, the earnings forecasts of the
Company were revised. The current fair values of the Company’s reporting units were based on the expectations for these businesses in light of  sales trends and the business
environment at that time, including a slowdown in the retail music industry.   A discounted cash flow model based upon the Company’s weighted average cost of capital, and



other widely accepted valuation techniques, including market multiple analyses, were used to determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting units for purposes of testing
goodwill impairment. Accordingly, the Company took a non-cash impairment charge to operations of $40.9 million. For additional discussion regarding the impairment
charge, refer to Note 1 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on  Form 10-K.
 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit).   The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s provision for income taxes:
 

 

2003 vs. 2002
(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ %
Income tax expense/ (benefit) $ 8,302 $ (9,341) $ 17,643 188.9 %
Effective tax rate 30.7 % 22.7 %

 
For 2003, the Company’s effective rate of 30.7% was positively impacted by improved earnings before taxes and the settlement of its COLI litigation with the IRS.  The
Company received an additional tax benefit of $2.1 million as a result of the COLI settlement payment terms with the IRS that it recorded in the second quarter (see Note 7 of
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K).  The effective income tax benefit rate for 2002 was impacted significantly by an
increase in the valuation allowance for deferred taxes related to the write-off of goodwill balances (see Note 1 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K), losses from the write down of certain investments deemed impaired and the realizability of state operating loss carryforwards.  See Note 6 of
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax
rate.
 
Extraordinary Gain.  The Company acquired 111 Wherehouse stores and 13 CD World stores in October 2003 (see Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K), resulting in an extraordinary gain of $4.3 million, which is net of income taxes of $2.4 million.  The gain represents the excess of the fair
value of net assets acquired in excess of the purchase price of the acquired assets.
 
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle.  The Company adopted a new method of accounting for cooperative advertising and certain other vendor allowances
effective from the beginning of fiscal 2002 in accordance with the FASB’s EITF No. 02-16, Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration
Received from a Vendor, resulting in a one-time, non-cash charge of $13.7 million, net of income taxes of $8.9 million. For additional discussion regarding the charge, refer to
Note 2 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
In adopting the guidance of EITF No. 02-16, the Company changed its previous method of accounting for cooperative advertising and other vendor allowances. This new
practice changed the timing of recognizing allowances in net earnings and had the effect of reducing inventory and related cost of sales.
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Net Income (Loss).   The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s net income (loss):
 

 

2003 vs. 2002
(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ %
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill

and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $ 50,514 158.9 %
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, net  of income

taxes of $2,437 4,339 —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle net of income taxes

of $8,950 — (13,684 )
          
Net income (loss) $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 68,537 150.7 %
          
Net income (loss) as a percentage of sales 1.7 % (3.5% )

 
The Company’s net income was $23.1 million and income before extraordinary gain was $18.7 million for 2003.  The increase over 2002 is due to increased sales and gross
margin and lower SG&A expenses in 2003.  Further, the net loss in 2002 included the goodwill impairment charge of $40.9 million and the charge arising from a change in an
accounting principle as discussed above (see Notes 1 and 2, respectively, in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K).
 

Fiscal Year Ended February 1, 2003 (“2002”)
Compared to Fiscal Year Ended February 2, 2002 (“2001”)

 
Sales.   Sales by merchandise category as a percentage of total sales for the two years ended February 1, 2003 and February 2, 2002 were as follows:
 

February 1,
2003

Comparable
Store Sales

February 2,
2002

Music:
Compact discs 55.7 % (14.3 )% 66.6 %
Audio cassettes 2.8 (41.2 )% 6.9
Singles 0.4 (62.0 )% 1.6

Total Music 58.9 (16.8 )% 75.1
Video:

VHS 6.7 (15.7 )% 8.5
DVD 17.8 42.7 % 6.0

Total Video 24.5 19.9 % 14.5
Video games 6.1 37.3 % 2.3
Other 10.5 10.5 % 8.1
Total 100.0 % (5.0 )% 100.0 %

 
(dollars in thousands)

 

2002 vs. 2001
2002 2001 $ %

Sales $ 1,281,869 $ 1,388,032 $ (106,163 ) 7.6 %
 
The Company’s sales decreased due to a comparable store sales decrease of 5.0% and a net reduction in the average number of stores open over the course of the year from
943 in 2001 to 878 in 2002.
 
For 2002, comparable store sales decreased 5.0% for mall stores and 4.6% for freestanding stores.  The decrease in music reflected the impact of an industry wide decrease in
CD sales.  According to the RIAA Yearend 2002 statistics, shipments of all music formats including CD’s were down 11% in 2002 as compared to 2001. Most of the decrease
is believed to be attributable to music piracy.  Music piracy commonly occurs through either illegal downloading of music from the internet or illegal duplication (CD to CD
copying) of music.  Compounding this problem was the fact that the categories of cassettes and singles were being virtually eliminated by the deliberate efforts of vendors.
The increase in comparable sales for video was driven by DVD sales. The increase in the games category was the result of the Company’s devotion of more space to and



expansion of the category.
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Gross Profit.  The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s gross profit:
 

  

2002 vs. 2001
(dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 $ %
Gross Profit $ 466,798 $ 452,776 $ 14,022 3.1 %
          
As a percentage of sales 36.4 % 32.6 %

 
The increase in gross profit was primarily the result of the reclassification of certain net vendor allowances of $48.3 million in accordance with guidance issued by FASB’s
EITF No. 02-16 (see Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K). Without the effect of the reclassification of vendor
allowances, gross profit as a percentage of sales, was the same as last year at 32.6%. Including the reclassification of vendor allowances, gross profit as a percentage of sales
was 36.4% in 2002.
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.   The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s SG&A expenses:
 

 

2002 vs. 2001
(dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 $ %
Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 465,893 $ 422,737 $ 43,156 10.2 %
          
As a percentage of sales 36.3 % 30.5 %

 
The increase in SG&A in 2002 can be attributed to the reclassification of certain net vendor allowances in accordance with guidance issued by FASB’s EITF No. 02-16 (See
Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K). The effect of the reclassification of vendor allowances increased SG&A by $49.9
million or 3.9% of sales in 2002. Furthermore, in 2002, the Company recorded charges of $5.5 million and $3.8 million, for the write down of certain investments deemed
impaired.
 
Goodwill Impairment Charge.  The Company performed an annual review of its goodwill balances in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142 and determined that
the entire recorded goodwill of $40.9 million was impaired. The impairment charge resulted from operating profits and cash flows being lower than expected during the
second half of 2002.  Based on this trend, the earnings forecasts of the Company were revised. Given the then existing retail music industry conditions, including CD piracy,
management lowered its near-term expectations for its business resulting in the impairment charge. The then current fair values of the Company’s reporting units were based
on the expectations for these businesses.  A discounted cash flow model based upon the Company’s weighted average cost of capital, and other widely accepted valuation
techniques, including market multiple analyses, were used to determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting units for purposes of testing goodwill impairment.
Accordingly, the Company took a non-cash impairment charge to operations of $40.9 million. For additional discussion regarding the impairment charge, refer to Note 1 in
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit).   The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s provision for income taxes:
 

 

2002 vs. 2001
(dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 $ %
Income tax expense/ (benefit) $ (9,341) $ 12,891 $ (22,232) (172.5 )%
          
Effective tax rate 22.7 % 43.4 %

 
For 2002, the Company recorded an income tax benefit at an effective rate of 22.7%.  The effective income tax benefit rate for 2002 was adversely impacted by an increase in
the valuation allowance for deferred taxes related to the goodwill impairment charge, losses from investments and the realizability of state operating loss carryforwards, as
well as the Company’s loss before income tax expense (benefit).  See Note 6 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a reconciliation of the federal statutory tax
rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate.
 
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle.  The Company adopted a new method of accounting for cooperative advertising and certain other vendor allowances
effective from the beginning of fiscal 2002 in accordance with EITF No. 02-16, resulting in a one-time, non-cash charge of $13.7 million, net of income taxes of $8.9 million.
For additional discussion regarding the charge, refer to Note 2 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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In adopting the guidance of EITF No. 02-16, the Company changed its previous method of accounting for cooperative advertising and other vendor allowances. This new
practice changed the timing of recognizing allowances in net earnings and had the effect of reducing inventory and related cost of sales.
 
Net Income (Loss).   The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s net income (loss):
 

  

2002 vs. 2001
(dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 $ %
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle $ (31,786) $ 16,791 $ (48,577) (289.3%)
          
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income

taxes of $8,950 (13,684) —

          
Net income (loss) $ (45,470) $ 16,791 $ (62,261) (370.8%)
          
As a percentage of sales (3.5 )% 1.2%
 
The Company’s net loss of $45.5 million included the effect of the one time non-cash charges relating to the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle of $13.7
million and goodwill impairment charge of $40.9 million as discussed above, compared to a net income of $16.8 million in 2001.  The net loss in 2002 is attributable to lower
sales, the write-off of investments in two unconsolidated affiliates as discussed above in SG&A, the non-cash goodwill impairment charge and the cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle. For additional discussion regarding the impairment charge and the non-cash charge arising from the cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, refer to Notes 1 and 2, respectively, in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 
Liquidity and Cash Flows:  The Company’s primary sources of working capital are cash provided by operations and borrowing capacity under its revolving credit facility. 
The Company’s cash flows fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to various items, including seasonality of revenues and earnings, inventory purchases and the related terms on
the purchases, store acquisitions, tax payments, capital expenditures and more recently, stock repurchase activity.  Management believes it will have adequate resources to
fund its cash needs for the foreseeable future.
 
The following table sets forth a three year summary of key components of cash flow and working capital:
 

 

2003 vs. 2002
 

2002 vs. 2001
dollars in thousands 2003 2002 $ % 2001 $ %

Operating Cash Flows $ 66,180 $ (1,262) $ 67,442 >100% $ 73,139 $ 74,401 >(100)%
Investing Cash Flows (54,033) (40,874) (13,159) (32)% (58,366) 17,492 (30)%
Financing Cash Flows (17,978) (15,757) (2,221) (14)% (24,914) 9,157 (37)%

                
Capital Expenditures 16,989 40,331 (23,342) (58)% 51,056 (10,725) (21)%

                
Cash and Cash Equivalents 191,219 197,050 (5,831) (3)% 254,943 (57,893) (23)%

Inventories 424,783 378,005 46,778 12% 409,067 (31,062) (8)%
Working Capital 253,475 218,628 34,847 16% 228,982 (10,354) (5)%

Inventory turns 2.1 2.1 2.1
 
The increase in operating cash flows in 2003 was primarily due to increased earnings in 2003.  Inventory decreased $5.3 million in 2003 as compared to a reduction in
inventory of $8.4 million in 2002 and a reduction of $66.7 million in 2001.  In 2003, the reduction of inventory due to the closing of stores was offset by the inventory related
to the acquired Wherehouse stores.  The rate of inventory turn (which is a measure of how fast inventory is sold and is calculated by dividing current year’s cost of goods sold
by average inventory) for 2003 was 2.1 which was the same as 2002.  Including the Wherehouse stores, inventory was $77 per square foot at the end of 2003 as compared to
$76 per square foot at the end of 2002.  Management does not anticipate significant changes to its inventory turn rates and inventory investment per square foot for the
foreseeable future. Accounts payable leveraging (the percentage of merchandise inventory financed by vendor credit terms, e.g., accounts payable divided by merchandise
inventory) decreased to 72.0% as of January 31, 2004 compared with 86.5% as of February 1, 2003. The reduction in leverage was due to the inventory related to the acquired
Wherehouse stores, which was funded in October 2003 without the corresponding accounts payable, and which a significant amount was still present at year-end.
 
Cash used in investing activities was $54.0 million in 2003, as compared to $40.9 million in 2002.  In 2003, the primary uses of cash were $17.0 million for capital
expenditures and $37.0 million for the acquisition of businesses (see Note 3 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
detail).  The majority of the Company’s capital expenditures in 2003 were spent on store improvements, relocations and new store openings.  The Company also made
investments in technology in its stores including upgrading and maintenance of Listening and Viewing Stations and continued enhancement of the Company’s Web site
www.fye.com.  The investment in technology was $4.0 million. The remainder of the Company’s capital expenditures in 2003 primarily related to miscellaneous MIS
projects.  In 2002, the Company spent $40.3 million for capital expenditures.  In 2002, the Company spent $21.0 million on technology and $1.0 million on the rebranding of
its mall stores.  The Company typically finances its capital expenditures through cash generated from operations.  The Company may also receive financing from landlords in
the form of construction allowances or rent concessions.   In 2004, the Company plans to spend approximately $30.0 million, net of construction allowances, for additions to
fixed assets, which includes approximately $7.0 million for real estate purchases. The Company anticipates replacing its point of sale system in fiscal 2005, including
equipment, which will require between $11 million and $13 million in capital spending.  It further expects to finance this expenditure through a capital lease transaction.
 
Cash used in financing activities was $18.0 million in 2003, as compared to $15.8 million in 2002.  In 2003 and 2002, the primary use of cash used in financing activities was
$17.0 million and $11.3 million, respectively, to repurchase outstanding shares of the Company’s Common Stock under programs authorized by the Board of Directors.  In
May 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase 10 million shares of Common Stock from time to time on the open market.  The program
marks the fourth program authorized in the last three years.  As of January 2004, the Company had completed the purchase of 15 million shares of common stock under
previously announced programs.  As of March 19, 2004, the Company had completed the purchase of an additional 170,600 shares under the current program.
 
The Company has a three year, $100 million secured revolving credit facility with Congress Financial Corporation that expires in July 2006 and renews on a year-to-year
basis thereafter upon the consent of both parties. The revolving credit facility contains certain restrictive provisions including provisions governing cash dividends, additional
indebtedness and acquisitions, and it is collateralized by merchandise inventory and contains a minimum net worth covenant.  The Company anticipates the amount of the
credit agreement being fully available to the Company through its term.  As of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, the Company did not have any borrowings outstanding
under the facility, and
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$100 million was available for borrowing.  Interest expense was $2.1 million in 2003, of which $1.8 million was for capital leases.  Interest expense was $2.3 million in 2002,
of which $1.8 million was for capital leases.
 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments.  The following table summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations at January 31, 2004, and the effect that such
obligations are expected to have on liquidity and cash flows in future periods (in thousands).
 

Contractual
Obligation 2004

2005 -
2006

2007 -
2008

2009 and
Beyond Total

Operating lease obligations $ 115,780 $ 178,157 $ 125,495 $ 118,913 $ 538,345
Capital lease obligations (1) 1,957 3,841 3,678 12,437 21,913
Total $ 117,737 $ 181,998 $ 129,173 $ 131,350 $ 560,258

 

(1)           Includes $14.1 million in interest
 
As more fully discussed in Note 11 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company leases its Albany, NY distribution
center and administrative offices under three capital lease arrangements with its Chief Executive Officer and largest shareholder.
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires that management
apply accounting policies and make estimates and assumptions that affect results of operations and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements. 
Management continually evaluates its estimates and judgments including those related to merchandise inventory and return costs, valuation of long-lived assets and goodwill,
provision for income taxes, and accounting for vendor allowances.  Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.   Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements includes a summary of the significant accounting policies and methods used by the Company in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements.



Management believes that of the Company’s significant accounting policies, the following may involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity:
 
Merchandise Inventory and Return Costs: Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market as determined by the average cost method. The average cost method attaches a
cost to each SKU and is a blended average of the original purchase price and those of subsequent purchases or other cost adjustments throughout the life cycle of that SKU.
 
Inventory valuation requires significant judgment and estimates, including merchandise markdowns, obsolescence and provision for inventory shrink.  Inherent in the
entertainment software industry is the risk of obsolete inventory.  Typically, newer releases generate a higher product demand.  Some vendors offer credits to reduce the cost
of products that are selling more slowly, thus allowing for a reduction in the selling price and reducing the possibility for items to become obsolete. The Company records
inventory markdowns and obsolescence based on current and anticipated demand, customer preferences, and market conditions. The provision for inventory shrink is
estimated as a percentage of sales for the period from the last inventory date to the end of the fiscal year.  Such estimates are based on historical results and trends, and the
shrink results from the last physical inventory.  Physical inventories are taken at least annually for all stores throughout the year, and inventory records are adjusted
accordingly.
 
The Company is generally entitled to return merchandise purchased from major vendors for credit against other purchases from these vendors.   These vendors often reduce
the credit with a merchandise return charge ranging from 0% to 20% of the original merchandise purchase price depending on the type of merchandise being returned.  The
Company records merchandise return charges in cost of sales.
 
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill:  The Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets to determine if any part of the carrying value may not be
recoverable. Factors that the Company considers to be important when assessing impairment include:

•               significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
•               significant changes in the manner of the use of acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s overall business;
•               significant negative industry or economic trends;
•               significant decline in stock price for a sustained period; and
•               market capitalization relative to net book value.
 

When the Company determines that the carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable based on one or more of the above indicators, the Company tests for
impairment to determine if an impairment charge is needed. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment under the provisions of SFAS No.142. The Company used a two-step
impairment assessment to determine if an impairment charge was needed. The first step of the goodwill impairment test compared the fair value of the reporting unit with its
carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair
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value of the reporting unit had exceeded its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit would have been considered not impaired, and the second step of the impairment
test would not have been necessary. Since the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeded its fair value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test was performed to
measure the amount of impairment loss.
 
The Company tested goodwill pursuant to SFAS No. 142 as of the end of 2002 and determined that all of its recorded goodwill was impaired. Accordingly a non-cash
goodwill impairment charge of $40.9 million was recorded in loss from operations during the fourth quarter of 2002. This impairment charge resulted from operating profits
and cash flows being lower than expected during the second half of 2002.  Based on this trend, the earnings forecasts of the Company were revised. Given the then existing
retail music industry conditions, including CD piracy, management lowered its near-term expectations for its business resulting in the impairment charge. The then current fair
values of the Company’s reporting units were based on the present expectations for these businesses.  A discounted cash flow model based upon the Company’s weighted
average cost of capital, and other widely accepted valuation techniques, including market multiple analyses, were used to determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting
units for purposes of testing goodwill impairment.
 
Income Taxes: Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and tax operating loss
carryforwards.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the results of operations in the period that
includes the enactment date.
 
Accounting for income taxes requires management to make estimates and judgments regarding interpretation of various taxing jurisdictions, laws and regulations as well as
the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets.  These estimates and judgments include the generation of future taxable income, viable tax planning strategies and support of
tax filings.  Valuation allowances are recorded against deferred tax assets if, based upon management’s estimates of realizability, it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of these deferred tax assets will not be realized.  For additional discussion regarding income taxes, refer to Note 6 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Accounting for Vendor Allowances: In accordance with guidance issued by the FASB’s EITF in March 2003 regarding the accounting for vendor allowances, EITF No. 02-
16, vendor allowances are to be recognized as a reduction of cost of sales, unless the allowance represents a reimbursement of a specific, incremental and identifiable cost
incurred to sell the vendor’s products.
 
In adopting the guidance of EITF No. 02-16, the Company changed its previous method of accounting for cooperative advertising and other vendor allowances.  This new
practice changed the timing of recognizing allowances in net earnings and had the effect of reducing inventory and related cost of sales.
 
Prior to adoption of EITF No. 02-16, vendor allowances were recognized as an offset to selling, general and administrative expenses. These allowances exceeded the specific,
incremental costs of the advertising and promotional expenses incurred by the Company.  The portion of the allowances in excess of the specific, incremental costs was
recorded as an offset to other operating expenses within selling, general and administrative expenses.
 
In accordance with the provisions of EITF No. 02-16, vendor advertising allowances which exceed specific, incremental and identifiable costs incurred in relation to
advertising and promotional events conducted for vendors were required to be classified as a reduction of the purchase price of merchandise inventory and recognized as a
reduction of cost of sales as the merchandise inventory is sold.  The amount of vendor allowances to be recorded as a reduction of merchandise inventory was determined by
calculating the ratio of vendor allowances in excess of specific, incremental and identifiable advertising and promotional costs to merchandise inventory purchases.  This ratio
was then applied to the value of merchandise inventory to determine the amount of vendor reimbursements that were recorded as a reduction to merchandise inventory as
reflected in the consolidated balance sheets.  The Company adopted the new guidance related to this method of accounting for cooperative advertising and certain other vendor
allowances effective from the beginning of fiscal 2002, resulting in a one-time, non-cash charge of $13.7 million, net of income taxes of $8.9 million. For additional
discussion regarding the charge, refer to Note 2 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements.
In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132R, Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits. SFAS No.132R amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 132 to require additional disclosures about assets, obligations, cash flow and net periodic benefit cost.  SFAS No. 132R is effective in 2003 and the
related disclosures have been included in Note 9 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
 



In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.  SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies the
accounting and reporting for derivatives, amending the previously issued SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.  SFAS No. 149
clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an initial net investment meets the characteristics of a derivative, amends the definition of an underlying contract, and
clarifies when a derivative contains a financing
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component in order to increase the comparability of accounting practices under SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30,
2003. The Company has determined that the adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have an impact on its financial position and results of operations.
 
In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.  SFAS No. 150 establishes
standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 applies specifically to a
number of financial instruments that companies have historically presented within their financial statements, as equity or between the liabilities section and the equity section,
rather than as liabilities. SFAS No. 150 is generally effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning
of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company has determined that the adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have an impact on its financial position and
results of operations.
 
In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an Interpretation of ARB No. 51, and, in October 2003, the
FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. FIN 46-6, Effective Date of FASB Interpretation 46. This staff position deferred the effective date for applying FIN 46 to an
interest held in a VIE or potential VIE that was created before February 1, 2003 until the end of the first interim or annual period ending after December 15, 2003,  except if
the company had already issued statements reflecting a VIE in accordance with FIN 46. In December 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46R (FIN 46R),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - An Interpretation of ARB No. 51. FIN 46R replaces FIN 46 and addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable
interest entities that possess certain characteristics.  A variable interest entity (“VIE”) is defined as (a) an ownership, contractual or monetary interest in an entity where the
ability to influence financial decisions is not proportional to the investment interest, or (b) an entity lacking the invested capital sufficient to fund future activities without the
support of a third party. FIN 46R establishes standards for determining under what circumstances VIEs should be consolidated with their primary beneficiary, including those
to which the usual condition for consolidation does not apply.  Adoption of the required sections of FIN 46, as modified and interpreted, including the provisions of FIN 46R,
did not have any effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements or disclosures.  The Company intends to adopt the remaining sections of this guidance as required
in 2004. The Company will evaluate the impact of the adoption of FIN 46, as modified and interpreted, including the provisions of FIN 46R, and does not expect the adoption
to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements or disclosures.
 
Item 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
The Company does not hold any financial instruments that expose it to significant market risk and does not engage in hedging activities.  Information about the fair value of
financial instruments is included in Note 1of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Item 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
 
The index to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements is included in Item 15, and the consolidated financial statements follow the signature page to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference.
 
The quarterly results of operations are included herein in Note 12 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Item 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 
None.
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Item 9A.  DISCLOSURE CONTROLS
 
Based on their evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer have
concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective for the purpose of ensuring that material information required to be in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K is made known to them by others on a timely basis.
 
There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their most recent
evaluation.
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PART III
 
Item 10.  DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
 
(a) Identification of Directors
 
Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the captions “Election of Directors” and “Board of Directors Meetings and Its Committees” in the
Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the Registrant’s 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days
after January 31, 2004.
 
(b) Identification of Executive Officers
 
Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the caption “Executive Officers and Compensation” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the
Registrant’s 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after January 31, 2004.
 
(c) Code of Ethics
 
Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the exhibit “Code of Ethics” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the Registrant’s 2004
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after January 31, 2004.



 
Item 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 
Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the caption “Executive Officers and Compensation” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the
Registrant’s 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after January 31, 2004.
 
Item 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
 
Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the captions “Equity Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers” and “Principal Shareholders” in the
Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the Registrant’s 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days
after January 31, 2004.
 
Information on Trans World Entertainment Common Stock authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is contained in our Proxy Statement for our 2004 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders under the caption “Stock Option Plans” and is incorporated herein by reference. See Note 9 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for a description of the Company’s employee stock option plans.
 
Item 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
 
Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the caption “Related Party Transactions” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the Registrant’s
2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after January 31, 2004.
 
Item 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
 
Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the caption “Other Matters” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the Registrant’s 2004
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after January 31, 2004.
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PART IV
 
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
 
15(a) (1) Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements and notes are listed in the Index to Financial Statements on page F-1 of this report.
 
15(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedules
None of the schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are required.
 
15(a) (3) Exhibits
Exhibits are as set forth in the “Index to Exhibits” which follows the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and immediately precedes the exhibits filed.
 
15(b) Reports on Form 8-K
 
A Form 8-K was filed on February 26, 2004, incorporating by reference Trans World Entertainment’s February 25, 2004 press release announcing the selection of
BuyServices.com to provide complete E-commerce services for its FYE, For Your Entertainment Web site, www.fye.com; and incorporating by reference Trans World
Entertainment’s February 26, 2004 press release announcing the Company’s financial results for the quarter and year ended January 31, 2004.
 
15(c) Exhibits
 
Exhibits are as set forth in the “Index to Exhibits” which follows the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and immediately precedes the exhibits filed.
 
15(d) Other Financial Statements
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 
TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION

   
   
Date:  April 15, 2004   By: /s/ ROBERT J. HIGGINS

Robert J. Higgins
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
 
Name Title Date
/s/ ROBERT J. HIGGINS Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and President April

15,
2004

(Robert J. Higgins) (Principal Executive Officer)
     
/s/ JOHN J. SULLIVAN Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial April

15,
2004

(John J. Sullivan) and Chief Accounting Officer) and Secretary



     
/s/ DEAN S. ADLER Director April

15,
2004

(Dean S. Adler)
     
/s/ MARK A. COHEN Director April

15,
2004

(Mark A. Cohen)
     
/s/ GEORGE W. DOUGAN Director April

15,
2004

(George W. Dougan)
     
/s/ MARTIN E. HANAKA Director April

15,
2004

(Martin E. Hanaka)
     
/s/ ISAAC KAUFMAN Director April

15,
2004

(Isaac Kaufman)
     
/s/ DR. JOSEPH G. MORONE Director April

15,
2004

(Dr. Joseph G. Morone)
     
/s/ MICHAEL B. SOLOW Director April

15,
2004

(Michael B. Solow)
     
EDMOND THOMAS Director April

15,
2004

(Edmond Thomas)
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Independent Auditors’ Report

 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Trans World Entertainment Corporation:
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries as of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended January 31, 2004.  These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Trans World Entertainment Corporation
and subsidiaries as of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended



January 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
As discussed in notes 1 and 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its methods of accounting for goodwill and vendor allowances, respectively,
effective February 3, 2002.
 
 
/s/ KPMG LLP
 
Albany, New York
March 19, 2004
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

 
January 31,

2004
February 1,

2003
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 191,219 $ 197,050
Accounts receivable 9,885 10,191
Merchandise inventory 424,783 378,005
Prepaid expenses and other 6,700 5,482
Deferred taxes 7,349 4,977

Total current assets 639,936 595,705
      
FIXED ASSETS, net 125,641 155,417
      
DEFERRED TAXES 39,964 40,667
OTHER ASSETS 12,217 11,607

TOTAL ASSETS $ 817,758 $ 803,396
      

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 306,298 $ 326,959
Income taxes payable 25,689 13,418
Accrued expenses and other 54,079 35,060
Current portion of capital lease obligations 395 1,640

Total current liabilities 386,461 377,077
      
CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less current portion 7,465 7,860
OTHER LIABILITIES 24,648 26,355

TOTAL LIABILITIES 418,574 411,292
      

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock ($0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued) — —
Common stock ($0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 54,245,838 shares and 54,046,595 shares issued in 2003

and 2002, respectively) 542 540
Additional paid-in capital 288,272 287,402
Unearned compensation – restricted stock (23 ) (116 )
Treasury stock at cost (18,147,291 and 15,105,432 shares in 2003 and 2002, respectively) (146,055 ) (129,103 )
Retained earnings 256,448 233,381

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 399,184 392,104
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 817,758 $ 803,396

 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 
Fiscal Year Ended

January 31,
2004

February 1,
2003

February 2,
2002

        
Sales $ 1,330,626 $ 1,281,869 $ 1,388,032
Cost of sales 842,726 815,071 935,256
Gross profit 487,900 466,798 452,776
Selling, general and administrative expenses 459,441 465,893 422,737
Goodwill impairment charge — 40,914 —

Income (loss) from operations
28,459 (40,009 ) 30,039

Interest expense 2,147 2,349 2,477
Other expense (income), net (718 ) (1,231 ) (2,120 )
Income (loss) before income taxes, extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and

cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 27,030 (41,127 ) 29,682
Income tax expense (benefit) 8,302 (9,341 ) 12,891



Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle 18,728 (31,786 ) 16,791

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, net of income taxes of  $2,437 4,339 — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes of $8,950 — (13,684 ) —
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 16,791
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative

effect of change in accounting principle $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.40
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.12 — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — $ (0.34) —
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40
        
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic 37,422 40,224 41,938
        
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative

effect of change in accounting principle $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.39
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.11 — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — $ (0.34) —
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39
        
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – diluted 38,209 40,224 42,553
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands)

 

Common
Shares

Stock
Amount

Additional
Paid in
Capital

Unearned
Compensation

Restricted
Stock

Treasury
Stock

Accum.
Other
Comp.
Loss

Retained
Earnings

Shareholders’
Equity

Balance as of February 3, 2001 53,677 $ 537 $ 285,292 $ (6) $ (97,579) $ (1,482) $ 262,060 $ 448,822
Comprehensive income:

Net Income — — — — — — 16,791
Unrealized loss on available for sale

securities — — — — — (518) —
Reclassification adjustment for realized

loss on available for sale securities
included in net income for the period — — — — — 2,000 —

Total comprehensive income 18,273
Issuance of treasury stock under
incentive stock programs — — 4 — 4 — — 8
Repurchase of shares of treasury stock — — — — (20,236) — — (20,236)
Issuance of restricted stock
under incentive stock programs 70 — 607 (607) — — — —
Forfeiture of unearned compensation -
restricted stock (25) — (205) 205 — — — —
Amortization of unearned
compensation – restricted stock — — — 128 — — — 128
Issuance of stock to Directors — — 150 — — — — 150
Exercise of stock options and related tax

benefit 207 2 919 — — — — 921
Balance as of February 2, 2002 53,929 $ 539 $ 286,767 $ (280) $ (117,811) — $ 278,851 $ 448,066

Net Loss — — — — — — (45,470) (45,470)
Issuance of treasury stock under
incentive stock programs — — 8 — 9 — — 17
Repurchase of shares of treasury stock — — — — (11,301) — — (11,301)
Amortization of unearned
compensation – restricted stock — — — 164 — — — 164
Issuance of stock to Directors — — 150 — — — — 150
Exercise of stock options and related tax

benefit 117 1 477 — — — — 478
Balance as of February 1, 2003 54,046 $ 540 $ 287,402 $ (116) $ (129,103) — $ 233,381 $ 392,104
Net Income — — — — — — 23,067 23,067
Repurchase of shares of treasury stock — — — — (16,952) — — (16,952)
Amortization of unearned compensation –

restricted stock — — — 93 — — — 93
Issuance of stock to Directors — — 50 — — — — 50
Exercise of stock options and related tax

benefit 200 2 820 — — — — 822
Balance as of January 31, 2004 54,246 $ 542 $ 288,272 $ (23) $ (146,055) — $ 256,448 $ 399,184
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 (in thousands)

 



Fiscal Year Ended
January 31,

2004
February 1,

2003
February 2,

2002
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 16,791
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 40,539 42,476 42,335
Amortization of lease valuations, net (893 ) (148 ) (543 )
Stock compensation programs 143 368 286
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 2,544 2,834 3,720
Loss on impairment of fixed assets 3,682 — —
Write-off of investments in unconsolidated affiliates — 9,311 —
Goodwill impairment charge — 40,914 —
Realized loss on available for sale securities — — 2,000
Deferred tax benefit (4,106 ) (9,877 ) (1,731 )
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — 13,684 —
Extraordinary gain on acquisition of businesses, net of income taxes (4,339 ) — —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable 306 (2,447 ) 482
Merchandise inventory 5,275 8,428 66,680
Prepaid expenses and other (1,218 ) 1,298 (1,009 )
Other assets (353 ) 771 (1,176 )
Accounts payable (20,661 ) (51,943 ) (51,283 )
Income taxes payable 12,479 (12,399 ) (1,770 )
Accrued expenses and other 12,849 784 (3,104 )
Other liabilities (3,134 ) 154 1,461

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 66,180 (1,262 ) 73,139
        
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of fixed assets (16,989 ) (40,331 ) (51,056 )
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets — 34 171

Acquisition of businesses
(37,044 ) — —

Purchase of investments in unconsolidated affiliates — (577 ) (7,481 )
Net cash used by investing activities (54,033 ) (40,874 ) (58,366 )
        
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Payments of capital lease obligations (1,640 ) (4,711 ) (5,258 )
Payments for purchases of treasury stock (16,952 ) (11,301 ) (20,236 )
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 614 255 580

Net cash used by financing activities (17,978 ) (15,757 ) (24,914 )
        
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,831 ) (57,893 ) (10,141 )
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 197,050 254,943 265,084
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 191,219 $ 197,050 $ 254,943
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:

Issuance of treasury stock under incentive stock programs — $ 17 $ 8
Issuance of restricted shares under restricted stock plan — — 402
Income tax benefit resulting from exercises of stock options $ 208 186 341

 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
Note 1.  Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Nature of Operations: Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries (“the Company”) is one of the largest specialty retailers of music, videos and related
products in the United States.  The Company operates a chain of retail entertainment stores and e-commerce sites, www.fye.com, and www.wherehouse.com in a single
industry segment.  As of January 31, 2004, the Company operated 881 stores totaling approximately 5.5 million square feet in 47 states, the District of Columbia, the
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands, with a majority of the stores concentrated in the eastern half of the United States.  The Company’s business is
seasonal in nature, with the peak selling period being the holiday season in the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter.
 
Basis of Presentation: The consolidated financial statements consist of Trans World Entertainment Corporation, its wholly-owned subsidiary, Record Town, Inc. (“Record
Town”), and Record Town’s subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned.  All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.  Certain amounts in
previously issued consolidated financial statements were reclassified to conform to fiscal 2003 presentation.  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
Items Affecting Comparability:  The Company’s fiscal year is a 52 or 53-week period ending on the Saturday nearest to January 31.  Fiscal 2003, 2002, and 2001 ended
January 31, 2004, February 1, 2003, and February 2, 2002, respectively, and each fiscal year consisted of 52 weeks.
 
In March 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB’s”) Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued guidance regarding accounting for vendor allowances,
EITF No. 02-16, Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor. EITF No. 02-16 requires that vendor allowances be
recognized as a reduction of cost of sales sold, unless the allowance represents a reimbursement of a specific, incremental and identifiable cost incurred to sell the vendor’s
products. In adopting the guidance of EITF No. 02-16, the Company changed its previous method of accounting for cooperative advertising and other vendor allowances. The
new practice changes the timing of recognizing allowances in net earnings and has the effect of reducing inventory and related cost of sales. See Notes 2 and 12 of Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for detailed discussion.
 
Revenue Recognition:  The Company’s revenue is primarily from retail sales of merchandise inventory.  Revenue is recognized at the point of sale.  There are no provisions



for uncollectible amounts since payment is received at the time of sale.  Reductions of revenue for returns by customers are generally provided at the point of return due to
infrequency and occurrence within short intervals of the sale and immateriality to the consolidated financial statements.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
 
Vendor Allowances: The Company receives vendor allowances for certain events offered to its vendors.  These events include items such as in-store display promotions, co-
op print advertising, and other promotional events.  Prior to fiscal 2002, all vendor allowances were recognized as an offset to selling, general and administrative expenses. In
fiscal 2002, the Company adopted the provisions of EITF No. 02-16, effective retroactively as of the beginning of fiscal 2002. Accordingly, vendor advertising allowances
which exceed specific, incremental and identifiable costs incurred in relation to the advertising and promotions offered by the Company to its vendors were required to be
classified as a reduction in the purchase price of merchandise inventory. See Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.
 
Concentration of Credit Risks: The Company maintains centralized cash management and investment programs whereby excess cash balances are invested in short-term
funds and money market instruments considered to be cash equivalents.  The Company’s investment portfolio is diversified and consists of short-term investment grade
securities consistent with its investment guidelines.  These guidelines include the provision that sufficient liquidity will be maintained to meet anticipated cash flow needs. 
The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with various financial institutions.  At times, such amounts may exceed the F.D.I.C. limits.  The Company limits the
amount of credit exposure with any one financial institution and believes that no significant concentration of credit risk exists with respect to cash investments.
 
Concentration of Business Risks: The Company purchases inventory for its stores from approximately 800 suppliers, with approximately 52% of purchases being made from
five major suppliers.  Historically, the Company has not experienced difficulty in obtaining satisfactory sources of supply, and management believes that it will retain access
to adequate sources of supply.  However, a loss of a major supplier could cause a loss of sales, which would have an adverse effect on operating results and also result in a
decrease in vendor support for the Company’s advertising programs.
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Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates: Investments in unconsolidated affiliates have been recorded on the cost basis, with any decline in the market value below cost that
is deemed other than temporary charged to earnings.  Write-off of investments in unconsolidated affiliates for other than temporary decline in market value amounted to $0,
$9.3 million, and $0 for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, which is reflected in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.  In
2002, the Company recorded charges of $5.5 million and $3.8 million for the write down of certain investments in Data Play Inc. and Sheridan Square, respectively, which
were deemed impaired.
 
Merchandise Inventory and Return Costs: Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market as determined by the average cost method. A provision for inventory shrink is
estimated as a percentage of sales for the period from the last inventory date to the end of the fiscal year. Such estimates are based on historical results and trends, and the
shrink results from the last physical inventory. Physical inventories are taken at least annually for all stores throughout the year, and inventory records are adjusted
accordingly. The Company records inventory markdowns and obsolescence based on current and anticipated demand, customer preferences, and market conditions.
 
The Company is entitled to return merchandise purchased from major vendors for credit against other purchases from these vendors.  These vendors often reduce the credit
with a merchandise return charge ranging from 0% to 20% of the original merchandise purchase price depending on the type of merchandise being returned.  The Company
records merchandise return charges in cost of sales.
 
Fixed Assets and Depreciation: Fixed assets are recorded at cost and depreciated or amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset using the straight-line method.  The
estimated useful lives are as follows:
 
Leasehold improvements Lesser of estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term
Fixtures and Equipment 3-7 years
Buildings 30 years
 
Major improvements and betterments to existing facilities and equipment are capitalized.  Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as costs are incurred. A
majority of the Company’s operating leases are ten years in term.  Amortization of capital lease assets is included in depreciation and amortization expense.
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: The Company accounts for fixed assets and other long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.  SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of assets to be held and used is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset over its remaining useful life.  If the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the
fair value of the assets.  Fair value is generally measured based on discounted estimated future cash flows.  SFAS No. 144 requires companies to separately report
discontinued operations and extends that reporting to a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale.  Assets to be disposed of are
reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.  The Company adopted SFAS No. 144 on February 3, 2002.  The adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not
affect the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 
Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 144, the Company accounted for long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of.
 
The Company plans to outsource its internet operations (www.fye.com) to BuyServices, Inc. beginning in August 2004.  As a result, the Company wrote off for impairment
certain long-lived assets of $3.7 million in fiscal 2003 related to its internet operations which is reflected in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of operations. Outsourcing will improve the efficiency with which the Company operates this medium, without changing the look and feel of the Company’s
existing site, yet expanding its on-line offering of products and services. The Company expects to achieve significant cost reductions as a result of outsourcing its internet
operations.
 
Goodwill: Goodwill represents the adjusted amount of the cost of acquisitions in excess of fair value of net assets acquired in purchase transactions. Effective February 3,
2002 the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized.  Rather, goodwill
is now subject to a periodic impairment test performed, at a minimum, on an annual basis.  If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss shall be
recognized.  The Company does not have any other intangible assets subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 142.
 
Amortization expenses related to goodwill were $0, $0 and $2.9 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
 
The Company tested goodwill pursuant to SFAS No. 142 as of the end of 2002 and determined that all of its recorded goodwill was impaired. Accordingly a non-cash
goodwill impairment charge of $40.9 million was recorded in loss from operations during the fourth quarter of 2002. This impairment charge resulted from operating profits
and cash flows being lower than expected during the second half of 2002.  Based on this trend, the earnings forecasts of the Company were revised. Given the retail music
industry conditions at that time, including CD piracy,

 
33



 
management lowered its near-term expectations for its business resulting in the impairment charge. The current fair values of the Company’s reporting units were based on the
present expectations for these businesses. A discounted cash flow model based upon the Company’s weighted average cost of capital, and other widely accepted valuation
techniques, including market multiple analyses, were used to determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting units for purposes of testing goodwill impairment.
 
Prior to February 3, 2002, goodwill was amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging from 10 to 20 years.  The amortization period was determined by
taking into consideration the following factors: the critical market position and establishment of brand names; the combined store mass; the amortization periods generally
used in the retail music business; the highly competitive nature of the business including emerging forms of competition; and the overall history of profitability of the acquired
businesses.  Goodwill, as well as the related amortization periods, were periodically evaluated to determine whether events or circumstances warranted adjustments to these
amounts or useful lives.  The Company assessed the recoverability of goodwill using a cash flow approach consistent with the Company’s analysis of impairment of long-lived
assets under SFAS No. 121.
 
A reconciliation of reported income (loss) before extraordinary gain and net income (loss) adjusted to reflect adoption of SFAS No. 142 is provided below:
 

Fiscal Year
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 (1)

 

2001
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle, as reported $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $ 16,791
Effect of goodwill amortization, net of income taxes — — 2,037
Adjusted income (loss) before extraordinary gain - unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative

effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $ 18,828
Net income (loss) as reported $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 16,791
Effect of goodwill amortization, net of income taxes — — 2,037
Adjusted net income (loss) $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 18,828
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, per share as reported $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.40
Effect of goodwill amortization, net of income taxes — — 0.05
Adjusted income (loss) per share before extraordinary gain- unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.45
Net income (loss) per share as reported $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40
Effect of goodwill amortization, net of income taxes — — 0.05
Adjusted net income (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.45
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, per share as reported $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.39
Effect of goodwill amortization, net of income taxes — — 0.05
Adjusted income (loss) per share before extraordinary gain- unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.44
Net income (loss) per share as reported $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39
Effect of goodwill amortization, net of income taxes — — 0.05
Adjusted net income (loss) per share $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.44
 

(1) 2002 net loss includes the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of $13.7 million, net of income taxes relating to accounting for vendor allowances. See
Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Advertising Costs:  In 2002, the Company adopted new guidance issued by the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force, EITF No. 02-16, Accounting by a Customer (Including
a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor, regarding vendor allowances. See Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  Accordingly,
advertising and sales promotion costs are charged to operations, offset by direct vendor reimbursements, as incurred. Total advertising expense, excluding vendor allowances,
was $21.2 million, $18.8 million, and $25.6 million in 2003, 2002, and 2001 respectively.
 
Store Closing Costs: Based on an overall analysis of store performance and expected trends, management periodically evaluates the closing of underperforming stores. For
exit activities related to store closings subsequent to December 31, 2002, reserves are established at the time a liability is incurred for the present value of any remaining lease
obligations, net of estimated sublease income, and other exit costs, as prescribed by SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.  For exit
activities prior to December 31, 2002, reserves were established for store closing costs at the date of the Company’s commitment to an exit plan in accordance with EITF
Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).
 
Gift Certificates: The Company offers gift certificates for sale in the form of gift cards.  A deferred income account, which is included in accrued expenses and other in the
consolidated balance sheet, is established for gift cards issued.  When gift cards are redeemed at the store level, revenue is recorded and the related liability is reduced. Other
accrued expenses include employee obligations, obligations to landlords and sales tax obligations.
 
Income Taxes: Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and tax operating loss
carryforwards.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on deferred tax
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assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date.  Deferred tax assets are subject to
valuation allowances based upon management’s estimates of realizability.
 
Comprehensive Income: The Company accounts for comprehensive income in accordance with SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income.  SFAS No. 130 requires
only additional disclosures in the consolidated financial statements; it does not affect the Company’s financial position or results of operations.  In 2003 and 2002, the
Company did not have other items of comprehensive income as defined by SFAS No. 130, and accordingly, comprehensive income (loss) is equal to net income (loss).
Comprehensive income for 2001 consists of net income and net unrealized losses on available for sale securities and is presented in the consolidated statements of
shareholders’ equity.
 
Stock-Based Compensation: The Company applies the intrinsic value-based method of accounting prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations including FASB Interpretation No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock
Compensation – An Interpretation of APB No. 25, in accounting for its fixed plan stock options.  Under this method, compensation expense would be recorded on the date of
grant only if the current market price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price.  Unearned compensation recognized for restricted stock awards is shown as a
separate component of shareholders’ equity and is amortized to expense over the vesting period of the stock award using the straight-line method.  SFAS No. 123, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure, established accounting and disclosure
requirements using a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation plans.  As allowed by SFAS No. 123, the Company has elected to
continue to apply the intrinsic value-based method of accounting described above, and has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No.148. The
following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to



stock-based employee compensation.
 

Fiscal Year
2003 2002 2001

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Net income (loss), as reported $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 16,791
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net

income (loss), net of related tax effects 93 84 72
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under

fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (3,347) (4,036) (4,131)
Proforma net income (loss) $ 19,813 $ (49,422) $ 12,732
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic – as reported $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40
Basic – proforma $ 0.53 $ (1.23) $ 0.30
Diluted – as reported $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39
Diluted – proforma $ 0.52 $ (1.23) $ 0.30

 
Investment Securities: Certain investments are categorized as available for sale securities in accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities, and are recorded at fair value based upon quoted market prices. Unrealized gains and losses are excluded from earnings and reflected in shareholders’ equity
until realized. Realized gains and losses for available for sale securities are included in earnings and are computed using the specific identification method for determining the
cost of securities sold. A decline in the market value of any available for sale security below cost that is deemed other than temporary is charged to earnings, resulting in the
establishment of a new cost basis for the security.
 
As of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, the Company did not have any available for sale securities.  As of February 2, 2002, the gross unrealized losses on available for
sale securities included as a component of shareholders’ equity was $1.5 million.  Gross realized losses recognized in operations during 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $0, $0 and
$2.0 million respectively.
 
Earnings (Loss) Per Share: Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average common shares outstanding for the period. 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted average shares outstanding and additional common shares that would have been
outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares had been issued for the Company’s common stock options from the Company’s Stock Option Plans (See Note 9 of Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
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The following is a reconciliation of the basic weighted average number of shares outstanding to the diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding:
 

Fiscal Year
2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)
Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic 37,422 40,224 41,938
Dilutive effect of employee stock options 787 — 615
Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted 38,209 40,224 42,553
        
Antidilutive stock options 5,322 6,901 4,355
 
Antidilutive stock options outstanding for 2003 and 2001 were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise price of the options was
greater than the average market price of the common shares during the period. For 2002, all stock options outstanding were excluded from the computation of dilutive loss per
share as the impact would be antidilutive.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments: The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable
and other current liabilities approximate fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying value of life insurance policies
included in other assets approximates fair value based on estimates received from insurance companies.
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements: In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132R, Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement
Benefits. SFAS No.132R amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 132 to require additional disclosures about assets, obligations, cash flow and net periodic benefit
cost. SFAS No. 132R is effective in 2003 and the related disclosures have been included in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies the
accounting and reporting for derivatives, amending the previously issued SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 149
clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an initial net investment meets the characteristics of a derivative, amends the definition of an underlying contract, and
clarifies when a derivative contains a financing component in order to increase the comparability of accounting practices under SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is effective for
contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The Company has determined that the adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have an impact on its financial position and
results of operations.
 
In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity. SFAS No. 150 establishes
standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 applies specifically to a
number of financial instruments that companies have historically presented within their financial statements, as equity or between the liabilities section and the equity section,
rather than as liabilities. SFAS 150 is generally effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of
the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company has determined that the adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have an impact on its financial position and
results of operations.
 
In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No.  46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an Interpretation of ARB No. 51, and, in October 2003, the
FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. FIN46-6, Effective Date of FASB Interpretation 46.  This staff position deferred the effective date for applying FIN 46 to an
interest held in a VIE or potential VIE that was created before February 1, 2003 until the end of the first interim or annual period ending after December 15, 2003,  except if
the company had already issued statements reflecting a VIE in accordance with FIN 46. In December 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46R (FIN 46R),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - An Interpretation of ARB No. 51.  FIN 46R replaces FIN 46 and addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable
interest entities that possess certain characteristics.  A variable interest entity (“VIE”) is defined as (a) an ownership, contractual or monetary interest in an entity where the
ability to influence financial decisions is not proportional to the investment interest, or (b) an entity lacking the invested capital sufficient to fund future activities without the
support of a third party. FIN 46R establishes standards for determining under what circumstances VIEs should be consolidated with their primary beneficiary, including those
to which the usual condition for consolidation does not apply.  Adoption of the required sections of FIN 46, as modified and interpreted, including the provisions of FIN 46R,
did not have any effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements in 2003.  The Company intends to adopt this guidance as required in 2004. The Company will
evaluate the impact of the adoption of FIN 46, as modified and interpreted, including the provisions of FIN 46R, and does not expect the adoption to have a significant impact
on the Company’s financial statements or disclosures.
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Note 2.  Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle
 
In accordance with final guidance issued by the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force in March 2003 regarding accounting for vendor allowances, EITF No. 02-16, Accounting
by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor, vendor allowances are to be recognized as a reduction of cost of sales, unless the
allowance represents a reimbursement of a specific, incremental and identifiable cost incurred to sell the vendor’s products.
 
In adopting the guidance of EITF No. 02-16, the Company changed its previous method of accounting for cooperative advertising and other vendor allowances. This new
practice changes the timing of recognizing allowances in net earnings and has the effect of reducing inventory and related cost of sales.
 
Prior to adoption of EITF No. 02-16, vendor allowances were recognized as an offset to selling, general and administrative expenses. These allowances exceeded the specific,
incremental costs of the advertising and promotional expenses incurred by the Company.  The portion of the allowances in excess of the specific, incremental costs was
recorded as an offset to other operating expenses within selling, general and administrative expenses.
 
In accordance with the provisions of EITF No. 02-16, vendor advertising allowances which exceed specific, incremental and identifiable costs incurred in relation to
advertising and promotional events conducted for vendors are required to be classified as a reduction of the purchase price of merchandise inventory and recognized as a
reduction of cost of sales as the merchandise inventory is sold.  The amount of vendor allowances to be recorded as a reduction of merchandise inventory was determined by
calculating the ratio of vendor allowances in excess of specific, incremental and identifiable advertising and promotional costs to merchandise inventory purchases.  This ratio
was then applied to the value of merchandise inventory to determine the amount of vendor reimbursements that were recorded as a reduction to merchandise inventory as
reflected in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company adopted the new guidance related to this method of accounting for cooperative advertising and certain other vendor
allowances effective from the beginning of fiscal 2002, resulting in a one-time, non-cash charge of $13.7 million, net of income taxes of $8.9 million.
 
The following table illustrates the effect on income (loss) before extraordinary gain, net income (loss) and related per share amounts as if the Company had applied the
provisions of EITF No. 02-16 retroactively:
 

Fiscal Year
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 (1)

 

2001
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle, as reported $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $ 16,791
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — — 1,607
Adjusted income (loss) before extraordinary gain - unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative

effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $ 18,398
Reported net income (loss) $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 16,791
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — — 1,607
Adjusted net income (loss) $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 18,398
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle, per share as reported $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.40
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — — 0.04
Adjusted income (loss) per share before extraordinary gain- unallocated negative goodwill and

cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.44
           
Basic earnings (loss) per share as reported $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — — 0.04
Adjusted basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.44
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle, per share as reported $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.39
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — — 0.04
Adjusted income (loss) per share before extraordinary gain- unallocated negative goodwill and

cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.43
        
Diluted earnings (loss) per share – reported $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — — 0.04
Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.43
 

(1)  2002 net loss includes the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of $13.7 million, net of income taxes relating to accounting for vendor allowances.
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Note 3.  Business Combinations
 
On October 2, 2003, the Company acquired substantially all of the net assets of Wherehouse Entertainment Inc. (“Wherehouse”). Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement,
the Company acquired 111 Wherehouse stores. Wherehouse, which was operating in Chapter 11 bankruptcy, was a specialty music retailer, and owned and operated 145
stores located primarily in the western United States. On completion of the sale, the Company retained 111 Wherehouse stores, and the remaining 34 stores were liquidated by
a joint venture comprised of Hilco Merchant Resources, LLC, Gordon Brothers Retail Partners, LLC and The Ozer Group LLC.  The Company was granted the right for up to
six months to close any of the acquired stores through the Wherehouse bankruptcy proceeding without obligation. The Company closed 10 stores consequent to this clause
without obligation.  The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
 
The purchase price for the acquired Wherehouse assets was $35.2 million including acquisition-related costs. The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their fair values as follows:

 
(in thousands)

Current assets $ 48,998
Current liabilities (6,352 )

Long term liabilities (3,343 )

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill (4,137 )



Total purchase price $ 35,166
 
The unaudited financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of operations of the Company and Wherehouse, on a pro forma basis as though the
companies had been combined as of the beginning of each period presented. This pro forma information is presented for informational purposes only and is not necessarily
indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved had the acquisition taken place at the beginning of each twelve month period presented. The pro forma
information also does not include one time items related to acquisition accounting, including the extraordinary gain arising from unallocated negative goodwill. The unaudited
pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations for the year ended January 31, 2004 combines the historical results of the Company for the year ended January 31,
2004 and the historical results of Wherehouse for the period preceding the acquisition of February 2, 2003 through October 1, 2003.  The unaudited pro forma condensed
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended February 1, 2003 combines the historical results of the Company and Wherehouse for the periods as indicated.
 
The following is the unaudited pro forma information, after giving effect to purchase accounting adjustments.
 

Fiscal Year
2003 2002

In thousands, except per share amounts
Pro forma sales $ 1,435,862 $ 1,462,877
Pro forma income (loss) before extraordinary gain - unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative

effect of change in accounting principle $ 16,814 $ (21,796 )
        
Extraordinary gain - unallocated negative goodwill, net of income taxes 1,689 —
      
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — (13,684 )
      
Pro forma income (loss) $ 18,503 $ (35,480 )
      
Pro forma income (loss) per basic share before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill

and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes $ 0.45 $ (0.54 )
      
Extraordinary gain - unallocated negative goodwill, net of income taxes $ 0.04 —
      
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — $ (0.34 )
       
Pro forma income (loss) per basic share $ 0.49 $ (0.88 )
        
Pro forma income (loss) per diluted share before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill

and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes $ 0.44 $ (0.54 )
Extraordinary gain - unallocated negative goodwill, net of income taxes $ 0.04 —
       
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — $ (0.34 )
       
Pro forma income (loss) per diluted share $ 0.48 $ (0.88 )
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On October 6, 2003, the Company acquired substantially all of the net assets of CD World Inc. (“CD World”). CD World includes 13 free standing specialty stores in New
Jersey and Missouri. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The cash consideration for CD World was $1.9 million, including
acquisition-related costs. The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their fair values as follows:

 
(in thousands)

Current assets $ 4,627
Current liabilities (81 )
Long term liabilities (29 )
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill (2,639 )
Total purchase price $ 1,878

 
The consolidated financial statements include the results of operations of Wherehouse from October 1, 2003 and CD World from October 6, 2003. Pro forma information
including CD World results of operations have not been presented because the pro forma effect of the CD World acquisition would not be material to the Company’s results of
operations.
 
In accordance with SFAS No.141, Business Combinations, an extraordinary gain from unallocated negative goodwill of $4.3 million (net of income taxes of $2.4 million),
representing the excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired over the purchase price was recognized in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended January
31, 2004 in connection with the Wherehouse and CD World acquisitions. The unallocated negative goodwill was arrived at after adjusting the value of the acquired non-
current assets to zero, in accordance with SFAS No.141. No intangible assets were acquired in connection with either acquisition.
 
The purchase price was allocated on a preliminary basis using information currently available. The allocation of the purchase price to the assets and liabilities acquired will be
finalized in fiscal 2004. The allocation of the purchase price will be adjusted after obtaining more information regarding asset valuations and liabilities assumed.
 
Note 4. Fixed Assets: Fixed assets at year-end consist of the following:
 

January 31,
2004

February 1,
2003

(in thousands)
Buildings $ 18,926 $ 18,926
Fixtures and equipment 189,609 193,943
Leasehold improvements 120,570 123,701

329,105 336,570
Allowances for depreciation and amortization (203,464 ) (181,153 )

$ 125,641 $ 155,417
 
Depreciation and amortization expense related to the Company’s distribution center facility and equipment of $2.4 million, $2.3 million and $1.6 million in 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively, is included in cost of sales.  All other depreciation and amortization of fixed assets is included in selling, general and administrative expenses.
 
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets is included in the consolidated statements of operations as follows:



 
Fiscal Year

2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

Cost of sales $ 2,405 $ 2,318 $ 1,637
Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 38,134 $ 40,158 $ 37,839
 
Note 5.  Debt
 
The Company has a three year, $100 million secured revolving credit facility with Congress Financial Corporation that expires in July 2006 and renews on a year-to-year
basis thereafter upon the consent of both parties, unless terminated by the bank or the Company pursuant to provisions in the agreement.  The revolving credit facility contains
certain restrictive provisions, including provisions governing cash dividends and acquisitions, is collateralized by merchandise inventory and has a minimum net worth
covenant.  Interest on the revolving credit facility is payable monthly in arrears at a variable rate of either the prime rate, or LIBOR plus 1.65%.  In addition, the company is
subject to a facility fee of 0.25% of the average daily balance of the unused portion of the credit facility, plus a monthly service fee.  As of January 31, 2004 and February 1,
2003, the Company did not have any borrowings outstanding under the facility, and $100 million was available.
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Interest paid during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was approximately $2.1 million, $2.3 million and $2.5 million, respectively, the majority of which related to capital leases.
 
Note 6.  Income Taxes
 
Income tax expense (benefit) is allocated between continuing operations and extraordinary gain — unallocated negative goodwill, as follows:

 
Fiscal Year

2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

Continuing operations $ 8,302 $ (9,341) $ 12,891
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill 2,437 — —

$ 10,739 $ (9,341) $ 12,891
 
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations consists of the following:
 

Fiscal Year
2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)
Federal – current $ 10,044 $ (1,034) $ 12,161
State – current 2,364 1,570 2,461
Deferred (4,106) (9,877) (1,731)

$ 8,302 $ (9,341) $ 12,891
 
A reconciliation of the Company’s effective income tax rate from continuing operations with the Federal statutory rate is as follows:
 

Fiscal Year
2003 2002 2001

Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal income tax effect 3.5% 2.7% 1.5%
Change in federal valuation allowance (0.4 )% (5.1)% 6.7%
Corporate-owned life insurance payment settlement, net (7.4 )% — —
Goodwill impairment charge (See Note 1 of Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements) — (9.8)% —
Other — (0.1)% 0.2%
Effective income tax rate 30.7% 22.7% 43.4%

 
On October 16, 2000, the United States District Court for the District of Delaware issued an opinion in favor of the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) in the case IRS vs. CM
Holdings Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, upholding the IRS’ disallowance of deductions of interest expense related to corporate-owned life insurance
policies.  The remaining accrued liabilities attributable to this matter are $8.1 million and $11.0 million which are included in other (long-term) liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets as of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, respectively.  During the second fiscal quarter of 2003, the Company and the IRS agreed on final payment terms
for an amount less than previously accrued, which resulted in an income tax benefit of $2.1 million.  Under the final payment terms, the Company has agreed to make annual
interest payments and a final principal payment of approximately $7.1 million in 2006.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows:
 

January 31,
2004

February 1,
2003

(in thousands)
CURRENT DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Accrued expenses $ 3,508 $ 962
Accounts receivable 797 513
Inventory 2,835 3,459
Other 209 43
Total current deferred tax assets 7,349 4,977
      

NON-CURRENT DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Fixed assets 14,756 15,498
Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards 12,397 13,733
Real estate leases 8,164 8,270
Losses on investments 5,267 5,373
Goodwill 7,799 8,552



Retirement and compensation related accruals 2,152 1,656
Other 385 440
Total non-current deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 50,920 53,522
Less: valuation allowance (10,956) (12,855)
Total non-current deferred tax assets $ 39,964 $ 40,667
      
NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET $ 47,313 $ 45,644

 
At January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, the Company had gross deferred tax assets of $58.3 million and $58.5 million, respectively, and gross deferred tax liabilities of $0
and $0, respectively.  The Company had a net operating loss carryforward of $8.1 million for Federal income tax purposes and $176.5 million for state income tax purposes as
of the end of 2003 that expire at various times through 2023 and are subject to certain limitations.  The state net operating loss carryforwards are subject to various business
apportionment factors and multiple jurisdictional requirements when utilized.
 
In assessing the propriety of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized.  The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income.  Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred
tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.  Based upon the level of projected future taxable income over the periods
in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, and tax planning strategies, the valuation allowance was decreased from $12.9 million to $11.0 million, a level where
management believes that it is more likely than not that the tax benefit will be realized.  Of this decrease in the valuation allowance, $1.2 million is reflected as state income
taxes, net of Federal income tax benefit. The valuation allowance was decreased to account for the utilization of state deferred tax assets attributable to net operating loss
carryforwards, for which a valuation allowance had been recorded.  The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be reduced if estimates of future taxable
income during the carryforward period are reduced.
 
The Company paid income taxes, net of refunds, of approximately $2.9 million, $12.9 million and $16.4 million during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
 
Note 7.  Commitments and Contingencies
 
On October 16, 2000, the United States District Court for the District of Delaware issued an opinion in favor of the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) in the case IRS vs. CM
Holdings Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, upholding the IRS’ disallowance of deductions of interest expense related to corporate-owned life insurance
policies.  The remaining accrued liabilities attributable to this matter are $8.1 million and $11.0 million which are included in other (long-term) liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets as of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, respectively.  During the second fiscal quarter of 2003, the Company and the IRS agreed on final payment terms
for an amount less than previously accrued, which resulted in an income tax benefit of $2.1 million.  Under the final payment terms, the Company has agreed to make annual
interest payments and a final principal payment of approximately $7.1 million in 2006.
 
On March 3, 2003, the Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court in the Northern District of New York against Fullplay Media Systems, Inc (“Fullplay”).
The action against Fullplay by the Company was for breach of contract and misappropriation of trade secrets in the design and development of its Listening and Viewing
Stations (“LVS”). Under a non-disclosure agreement with the Company, Fullplay was
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obligated to keep confidential the Company’s proprietary information relating to the LVS and not make use whatsoever at any time of such proprietary information except for
purposes related to Fullplay’s contractual obligations to develop the LVS for the Company. On March 7, 2003, Fullplay filed a complaint against the Company asserting
breaches of two other agreements between the parties. On March 19, 2003, Fullplay filed a voluntary petition for a Chapter 11 bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy
Court for the Western District of Washington. On June 24, 2003, Fullplay filed suit against the Company as part of its Chapter 11 bankruptcy filing claiming breach of
contract. The Company reached an agreement with Fullplay on July 18, 2003 to resolve the disputes, whereby both parties discontinued all legal actions without admitting or
denying the merits of the other’s claims.
 
The Company is subject to other legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business and have not been finally adjudicated.  Although there can
be no assurance as to the ultimate disposition of these matters, it is management’s opinion, based upon the information available at this time, that the expected outcome of
these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Company.
 
Note 8.  Leases
 
As more fully discussed in Note 11 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company leases its Albany, NY distribution center and administrative offices
under three capital lease arrangements with its Chief Executive Officer and largest shareholder.  The Company also has a capital lease for its Warehouse Management system.
 
Fixed asset amounts for capital leases, which are included in the fixed assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, are as follows:
 

January 31,
2004

February 3,
2003

(in thousands)
Buildings $ 9,342 $ 9,342
Fixtures and equipment 498 24,746

9,840 34,088
Allowances for depreciation and amortization (4,802) (23,504)

$ 5,038 $ 10,584
 
The Company leases all of its stores under operating leases, many of which contain renewal options, for periods ranging from five to twenty-five years, with the majority
being ten years. Most leases also provide for payment of operating expenses and real estate taxes.  Some also provide for additional rent based on a percentage of sales.
 
Net rental expense was as follows:
 

Fiscal Year
2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)
Minimum rentals $ 118,392 $ 118,256 $ 121,634
Contingent rentals 1,279 1,297 1,911

$ 119,671 $ 119,553 $ 123,545
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Future minimum rental payments required under all leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year at January 31, 2004 are as follows:



 
Operating

Leases
Capital
Leases

(in thousands)
2004 115,780 1,957
2005 96,347 1,957
2006 81,810 1,884
2007 70,883 1,839
2008 54,612 1,839

Thereafter 118,913 12,437
Total minimum payments required $ 538,345 $ 21,913

Less: amounts representing interest 14,053
Present value of minimum lease payments 7,860

Less: current portion 395
Long-term capital lease obligations $ 7,465

 
Interest rates on capital leases were between 7.0% to 23.9% per annum.
 
Note 9.  Benefit Plans
 
401(k) Savings Plan
 
The Company offers a 401(k) Savings Plan to eligible employees meeting certain age and service requirements. This plan permits participants to contribute up to 20% of their
salary, including bonuses, up to the maximum allowable by Internal Revenue Service regulations.  Participants are immediately vested in their voluntary contributions plus
actual earnings thereon.  Participant vesting of the Company’s matching and profit sharing contribution is based on the years of service completed by the participant. 
Participants are fully vested upon the completion of four years of service.  All participant forfeitures of non-vested benefits are used to reduce the Company’s contributions in
future years.  Total expense related to the Plan was $858,000, $900,000 and $921,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
 
Stock Option Plans
 
The Company has five employee stock option plans, the 1986 Stock Option Plan, the 1994 Stock Option Plan, the 1998 Stock Option Plan, the 1999 Stock Option Plan and
the 2002 Stock Option Plan (the “Plans”). The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors may grant options to acquire shares of common stock to employees of the
Company at the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant.  Under the Plans, options generally become exercisable commencing one year from the date of
grant in increments of 25% per year with a maximum term of ten years.  Options authorized for issuance under the Plans totaled 14.8 million.  As of January 31, 2004, of the
options authorized for issuance under the Plans, 8.4 million have been granted and are outstanding, 4.0 million of which were vested and exercisable.  Options available for
future grants at January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003 were 2.7 million and 4.7 million, respectively.
 
Under the terms of the Camelot merger agreement, all options issued under the Camelot 1998 Stock Option Plan (the “Camelot Plan”) were converted to Trans World options. 
The Camelot Plan provided for the granting of either incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock.  Vesting of
the options was originally over a four-year period with a maximum term of ten years.  Based on the terms of the Camelot Plan, vesting was accelerated based on the market
performance of the Company’s common stock whereby 50% of the options vested on March 13, 1998.  The remaining 50% vested on April 22, 1999 in connection with the
merger.  At January 31, 2004, 57,000 options were outstanding and exercisable.  The Company stopped issuing stock options under the Camelot Stock Option Plan as of April
22, 1999.
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The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding under the Plans and the Camelot Plan as of January 31, 2004:
 

Outstanding Exercisable
 

Exercise
Price Range Shares

Average
Remaining

Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
$ 0.00-$ 2.67 660,978 2.1 $ 1.52 655,978 $ 1.51

2.68-5.33 2,577,139 8.6 3.54 256,289 3.97
5.34-8.00 182,500 8.1 7.44 28,750 7.43
8.01-10.67 2,360,249 7.7 8.45 696,243 8.65

10.68-13.33 2,035,950 5.0 11.27 1,827,636 11.32
13.34-16.00 436,400 5.2 15.17 436,400 15.17
16.01-18.67 191,175 4.2 17.79 191,175 17.79
18.68-24.00 2,000 4.9 23.75 2,000 23.75

Total 8,446,391 6.7 $ 7.63 4,094,471 $ 9.53
 
The Company also has a stock option plan for non-employee directors (the “1990 Plan”).  Options under this plan are granted at an exercise price determined by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Under the 1990 Plan, options generally become exercisable commencing one year from the date of grant in increments of
25% per year with a maximum term of ten years.  As of January 31, 2004, there were 750,000 options authorized for issuance and 367,250 options have been granted and are
outstanding, 220,000 of which were vested and exercisable. There are 224,651 shares of common stock reserved for possible future option grants under the 1990 Plan.
 
In connection with the Company’s merger with Camelot Music Holdings, Inc. in April 1999, all options issued under the Camelot Outside Director Stock Option Plan (the
“Camelot Director Plan”) were converted to Trans World options.  As of January 31, 2004, there were 4,750 options outstanding and exercisable under the Camelot Director
Plan.  The Company no longer issues options under the Camelot Director Plan.
 
The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding under the two Director Plans at January 31, 2004:
 

 

Outstanding Exercisable

Exercise
Price Range Shares

Average
Remaining

Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
$ 0.00-$2.67 108,000 8.0 $ 0.21 18,000 $ 1.27

2.68-5.33 108,000 2.6 3.31 108,000 3.31

5.34-8.00
30,000 9.8 6.44 0 0

8.01-10.67 84,000 6.5 9.32 63,000 9.60
10.68-13.33 28,250 5.3 11.93 26,750 11.98



13.34-16.00 9,000 4.2 15.12 9,000 15.12
Total 367,250 5.9 $ 4.98 224,750 $ 6.42
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The following tables summarize activity under the Stock Option Plans:
 

Employee Stock Option Plans Director Stock Option Plans
Number of

Shares Subject
To Option

Option
Price Range
Per Share

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Number of
Shares Subject

To Option

Option
Price Range
Per Share

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Balance February 3, 2001 5,011,204 $1.21-$23.75 $ 9.48 289,625 $1.18-$15.12 $ 4.95
Granted 1,175,700 8.18-8.95 8.93 31,764 0.00-8.95 4.23
Exercised (160,453 ) 1.21-5.25 2.97 (47,139 ) 0.00-6.27 2.37
Canceled (569,463 ) 3.96-18.25 10.93 (1,500 ) 12.96-15.12 14.58
Balance February 2, 2002 5,456,988 $1.21-$23.75 $ 9.40 272,750 $1.18-$15.12 $ 6.09
Granted 1,518,350 2.80-8.02 7.92 33,708 0.00-8.02 3.57
Exercised (89,539 ) 1.21-5.00 2.23 (27,708 ) 0.00-6.27 2.04
Canceled (263,875 ) 4.33-18.33 10.72 0 0.00-0.00 0.00
Balance February 1, 2003 6,621,924 $1.21-$23.75 $ 9.11 278,750 $1.18-$15.12 $ 6.19
Granted 2,350,100 2.57-5.99 3.50 134,286 0.00-6.44 1.44
Exercised (162,457 ) 1.21-4.58 3.62 (36,786 ) 0.00-2.09 1.28
Canceled (363,176 ) 2.57-18.00 9.24 (9,000 ) 4.61-4.61 4.61
Balance January 31, 2004 8,446,391 $1.21-$23.75 $ 7.63 367,250 $0.00-$15.12 $ 4.98
 
The per share weighted-average fair value of the stock options granted during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $1.16, $2.32 and $2.68, respectively, using the Black Scholes option
pricing model, with the following weighted-average assumptions:
2003 - expected dividend yield 0.0%, risk-free interest rate of 3.16%, expected life of five years and stock volatility of 59%;
2002 - expected dividend yield 0.0%, risk-free interest rate of 3.01%, expected life of five years and stock volatility of 60%;
2001 - expected dividend yield 0.0%, risk-free interest rate of 4.40%, expected life of five years and stock volatility of 57%.
 
During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company recognized expenses of $50,000, $150,000 and $150,000, respectively, for stock options issued to non-employee directors at an
exercise price below the closing stock price on the date of grant.
 
Restricted Stock Plan
 
Under the 1990 Restricted Stock Plan, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors is authorized to grant awards for up to 900,000 restricted shares of Common
Stock to executive officers and other key employees of the Company.  The shares are issued as restricted stock and are held in the custody of the Company until all vesting
restrictions are satisfied.  If conditions or terms under which an award is granted are not satisfied, the shares are forfeited.  Shares begin to vest under these grants after either
two or three years and are fully vested after three or five years respectively, with vesting criteria that includes continuous employment until applicable vesting dates have
expired.  As of January 31, 2004, a total of 325,000 shares have been granted, of which 216,000 shares had vested and 85,000 shares with an unamortized unearned
compensation balance of $593,000, had been forfeited.  Unearned compensation is recorded at the date of award, based on the market value of the shares, and is included as a
separate component of shareholders’ equity and is amortized over the applicable vesting period.  The amount amortized to expense in 2003, 2002 and 2001, net of the impact
of forfeitures, was approximately $93,000, $164,000 and $128,000, respectively.  As of January 31, 2004, outstanding awards and shares available for grant totaled 24,000
and 660,000 respectively.
 
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
 
The Company maintains a non-qualified Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) for certain executive officers of the Company.  The SERP, which is unfunded,
provides eligible executives defined pension benefits that supplement benefits under other retirement arrangements.  The annual benefit amount is based on salary at the time
of retirement and number of years of service.  The Company accounts for the SERP in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions. 
For 2003, 2002 and 2001, net periodic pension costs recognized under the plan totaled approximately $1,208,000, $1,084,000 and $488,000, respectively.  The accumulated
benefit obligation for the SERP, which is included in accrued expenses and other in the consolidated balance sheets, was approximately $7.6 million and $6.4 million at
January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, respectively.  In addition, an intangible asset, which is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets, to reflect the excess
of the accumulated benefit obligation over the fair value of plan assets, net of accrued pension costs, of approximately $3.2 million was recorded at January 31, 2004 and
February 1, 2003.
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The following is a summary of the Company’s defined benefit plan funded status as of the most recent actuarial calculations:
 
Obligation and Funded Status:
 

January 31,
2004

February 1,
2003

Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 9,398 $ 8,384
Service cost 215 115
Interest cost 610 587
Plan amendment (501) —
Actuarial loss 508 338
Benefits paid (44) (35)
      

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 10,186 $ 9,389
      

Fair value of plan assets at end of year — —
Reconciliation of Funded Status:
Funded status (10,186) (9,389)
Unrecognized prior service cost 4,426 5,310



Unrecognized net actuarial loss 1,420 912
Net amount recognized $ (4,340) $ (3,167)

 
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:
 

January 31,
2004

February 1,
2003

Accrued pension liability, including additional minimum liability $ (7,586) $ (6,381)
Intangible assets 3,246 3,214

Net amount recognized $ (4,340) $ (3,167)
 
The accumulated benefit obligation for the SERP was $7,595 and $6,389 at January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, respectively, which exceeds plan assets ($0).
 
Components of Net Periodic Pension Cost:
 

Fiscal Year
2003 2002 2001

Service cost $ 216 $ 115 $ 15
Interest cost 610 587 306
Amortization of prior service cost 382 382 167

Net periodic pension cost $ 1,208 $ 1,084 $ 488
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Assumptions:
 

Fiscal Year
2003 2002 2001

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation:
Discount rate 6.00 % 6.50 % 7.00 %
Salary increase rate 4.00 % 4.00 % 4.00 %
Measurement date Nov 1, 2003 Nov 1, 2002 Nov.1, 2001

 
Fiscal Year

2003 2002 2001
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost:

Discount rate 6.50 % 7.00 % 7.75 %
Salary increase rate 4.00 % 4.00 % 4.00 %

 
The Company expects to make $35,000 in benefit payments during fiscal year 2004.
 
Note 10.  Shareholders’ Equity
 
During 2003, the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase plan authorizing the purchase of up to 10 million shares of the Company’s common stock. As of January 31,
2004, the Company had purchased 3.0 million shares under this plan, at a total cost of $17.0 million.  In fiscal 2000, the Board of Directors had approved a stock repurchase
plan authorizing the purchase of up to 15.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock.  The Company completed the purchase of the 15.0 million shares in fiscal 2002 at
a total cost of $128.7 million.  As of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003 the Company held 18,147,291 and 15,105,432 shares, respectively, in treasury stock.
 
Note 11.  Related Party Transactions
 
The Company leases its 168,400 square foot distribution center/office facility in Albany, New York from Robert J. Higgins, its Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and largest
shareholder, under three capital leases that expire in the year 2015.  The original distribution center/office facility was constructed in 1985.
 
Under the three capital leases, dated April 1, 1985, November 1, 1989 and September 1, 1998 (the “Leases”), the Company paid Mr. Higgins an annual rent of $1.8 million in
2003, $1.8 million in  2002 and $1.7 million in 2001.  Pursuant to the terms of the lease agreement, every two years rental payments will increase in accordance with the
biennial increase in the Consumer Price Index.  Under the terms of the lease agreements, the Company is responsible for property taxes, insurance and other operating costs
with respect to the premises.  Mr. Higgins’ obligation for principal and interest on his underlying indebtedness relating to the real property is approximately $1.1 million per
year. None of the leases contains any real property purchase option at the expiration of its term.
 
The Company leases one of its retail stores from Mr. Higgins under a long-term operating lease.  Annual rental payments under this lease were $40,000 in 2003, 2002 and
2001.  Under the terms of the lease, the Company pays property taxes, maintenance and a contingent rental if a specified sales level is achieved. During 2002, Mr. Higgins
sold a store location which had been previously leased by the Company. Prior to the sale, the Company made rental payments of $20,000 and $35,000 in 2002 and 2001
respectively. Total additional charges for both store locations, including contingent rent, were approximately $4,600, $8,000 and $11,100 in 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively.
 
The Company regularly utilizes privately chartered aircraft owned or partially owned by Mr. Higgins.  Under an unwritten agreement with Quail Aero Services of Syracuse,
Inc., a corporation in which Mr. Higgins holds a 47.5% share, the Company paid $60,000, $70,000, and $70,000 for chartered aircraft services in 2003, 2002, and 2001,
respectively.  The Company also charters an aircraft from Crystal Jet, a corporation wholly-owned by Mr. Higgins.  Payments to Crystal Jet aggregated $13,000, $20,000 and
$91,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  The Company also charters an aircraft from Richmor Aviation, an unaffiliated corporation that leases an aircraft owned by Mr.
Higgins.  Payments to Richmor Aviation in 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $235,000, $209,000 and $289,000, respectively.  The Company believes that the charter rates and
terms are as favorable to the Company as those generally available to it from other commercial charters.
 
During 2000, the Company made loans aggregating $443,000 and $258,000 to John J. Sullivan, the Company’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and
Bruce J. Eisenberg, the Company’s Executive Vice President – Real Estate, respectively. Interest rate on these
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demand loans is the Federal short term rate in effect under section 1274(d) of the Internal Revenue Code, for the period for which the amount of interest is being determined,
compounded semi-annually. The loans were in made connection with income taxes due on the vesting of restricted stock.  The full principal amount of the loans was
outstanding as of January 31, 2004.  During the first half of 2002, the Company made interest free loans totaling $100,000 to Fred L. Fox, the Company’s Executive Vice
President - Merchandising and Marketing. The loan was made in connection with relocation.  $75,000 of the loan was outstanding as of January 31, 2004 and will be repaid in
May 2004.
 



Michael Solow, a member of the Company’s Board of Directors, is a partner of the law firm Kaye Scholer LLP, which rendered legal services to the Company in 2003, 2002
and 2001 for which the Company incurred fees of $202,000, $161,000 and $552,000 respectively.
 
Note 12.  Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
 

Fiscal 2003 Quarter Ended
2003 1/31/04 11/1/03 8/2/03 5/3/03

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Sales $ 1,330,626 $ 541,972 $ 268,506 $ 246,746 $ 273,402
Gross profit 487,900 197,485 96,307 96,537 97,571
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain 18,728 34,829 (8,103) (2,913) (5,085)
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, net of

income taxes 4,339 2,148 2,191 — —
Net income (loss) $ 23,067 $ 36,977 $ (5,912) $ (2,913) $ (5,085)
Basic earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain $ 0.50 $ 0.96 $ (0.22) $ (0.08) $ (0.13)
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, net of

income taxes $ 0.12 $ 0.06 $ 0.06 — —
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ 1.02 $ (0.16) $ (0.08) $ (0.13)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain $ 0.49 $ 0.93 $ (0.22) $ (0.08) $ (0.13)
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, net of

income taxes $ 0.11 $ 0.06 $ 0.06 — —
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.60 $ 0.99 $ (0.16) $ (0.08) $ (0.13)
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The Company adopted a new method of accounting for cooperative advertising and certain other vendor allowances effective from the beginning of fiscal 2002 in accordance
with EITF No. 02-16, resulting in a one-time, non-cash charge of $13.7 million, net of income taxes of $8.9 million, which was classified as a cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle. For additional discussion regarding the charge, refer to Note 2 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company restated its results for
the first three quarters of the year ended February 1, 2003 in accordance with the new guidance.
 

Fiscal 2002 Quarter Ended
2002 2/1/03 11/2/02 8/3/02 5/4/02

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Sales $ 1,281,869 $ 483,689 $ 251,171 $ 267,530 $ 279,479
Gross profit as restated 466,798 173,473 91,097 98,414 103,814
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle as reported — — (14,059) (6,445) (6,332)
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of income

taxes — — (701) (558) 1,142
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle as restated $ (31,786) $ (4,833) $ (14,760) $ (7,003) $ (5,190)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of

income taxes (13,684 ) — — — (13,684)
Net loss as restated $ (45,470) $ (4,833) $ (14,760) $ (7,003) $ (18,874)
               
Basic loss per share, as reported — — $ (0.35) $ (0.16) $ (0.16)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of

income taxes — — — — $ (0.34)
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of income

taxes — — $ (0.02) $ (0.01) $ 0.03
Basic loss per share, as restated $ (1.13) $ (0.12) $ (0.37) $ (0.17) $ (0.47)
               
Diluted loss per share, as reported — — $ (0.35) $ (0.16) $ (0.16)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of

income taxes — — — — $ (0.34)
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of taxes — — $ (0.02) $ (0.01) $ 0.03
Diluted loss per share, as restated $ (1.13) $ (0.12) $ (0.37) $ (0.17) $ (0.47)
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Exhibit 4.4
 

[Execution Version]
 

As of December 19, 2003
 
Trans World Entertainment

Corporation
Record Town, Inc.
Record Town Michigan, Inc.
Record Town Minnesota, LLC
38 Corporate Circle
Albany, New York 12203

 
Re:          Amendment No. 7 to Loan and Security Agreement

 
Ladies and Gentlemen:

 
Reference is made to the Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 9, 1997, by and among Congress Financial Corporation (“Lender”), Trans World

Entertainment Corporation (“TWE”), Record Town, Inc. (“RTI”), Record Town Minnesota, LLC (“RT Minnesota”), and Record Town Michigan, Inc. (“RT Michigan”; and
together with TWE, RTI and RT Minnesota, individually and collectively, jointly and severally, “Borrowers”), as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Loan and Security
Agreement, dated as of February 17, 1998, Amendment No. 2 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 29, 1998, Amendment No. 3 to Loan and Security Agreement,
dated as of December 31, 1998, Amendment No. 4 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 31, 1999, Amendment No. 5 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as
of June 30, 2000, Amendment No. 6 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2003 (“Amendment No. 6 to Loan Agreement”), and as further amended by this
Amendment No. 7 to Loan and Security Agreement (this “Amendment”), dated as of the date hereof (as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified,
supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced, collectively, the “Loan Agreement”), together with all other agreements, documents, supplements and instruments
now or at any time hereafter executed or delivered by Borrowers and Media Logic USA, LLC (“Media Logic”), Movies Plus, Inc. (“Movies Plus”), Records N’ Such, Inc.
(“R&S”), Saturday Matinee, Inc. (“SMI”), Trans World Management Company, Inc. (“TW Management”), Trans World New York, LLC (“TW New York LLC”), Camelot
Music Holdings, Inc. (“CMHI”) and Spec’s Music, Inc. (“Specs”; together with Media Logic, Movies Plus, R&S, SMI, TW Management TW New York LLC, and CMHI,
each, individually, a “Guarantor” and, collectively, “Guarantors”), or any other person, with, to or in favor of Lender in connection therewith (all of the foregoing, together
with the Loan Agreement
 

 
and the agreements and instruments delivered hereunder, as the same now exist or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or
replaced, collectively, the “Financing Agreements”).

 
Borrowers and Guarantors have requested that Lender waive the requirement that Lender have a first priority security interest in connection with certain investments

in Cash Equivalents by Borrower arranged by ABN AMRO Financial Services, Inc. (“ABN AMRO”) on behalf of Borrowers with respect to which the investment account or
other similar account is maintained by Borrowers with a securities intermediary or commodity intermediary other than ABN AMRO.  Lender is willing to waive such
requirement, subject to the terms and conditions contained herein. Unless otherwise defined herein, all terms used herein, including, but not limited to, those terms used
above, shall have the respective meanings given to them in the Loan Agreement.

 
In consideration of the premises and covenants set forth herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby

acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 
1.  Loans, Investments and Guarantees.  Section 9.10(b) of the Loan Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced with the following:

 
“(b) investments in Cash Equivalents and investments in stock or obligations issued in settlement of claims against any non-affiliated person by reason of

any bankruptcy case or composition or readjustment of debt or reorganization of any such non-affiliated person that is a debtor of any Borrower; provided, that,
unless waived in writing by Lender, Borrowers shall take such actions as are deemed necessary by Lender to perfect its security interest in such Cash Equivalents,
other than investments in Cash Equivalents arranged by ABN AMRO so long as each of the following conditions is satisfied as determined by Lender at all times
during which such Cash Equivalents are invested with or by ABN AMRO behalf of any Borrower:

 
(i) the aggregate amount of such investments shall not exceed $100,000,000 in the aggregate,
 
(ii) no Loans or Letter of Credit Accommodations shall be outstanding or if any Letter of Credit Accommodations are outstanding, then the amount of

any credit balance of Borrowers with Lender shall equal or exceed the amount of any such outstanding Letter or Credit Accommodations;
 
(iii) Borrowers shall at all times maintain Excess Availability of not less than $50,000,000;
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(iv) if any such investments are offered by ABN AMRO pursuant to which such investments are maintained through an investment account, securities

account, commodities account or any other similar account with a securities intermediary or commodity intermediary other than ABN AMRO, then Borrowers
shall use their best efforts to comply with the terms and conditions of Section 5.2(e)(ii)(C) of Amendment No. 6 to Loan Agreement; provided, that, if any such
investments are offered by ABN AMRO pursuant to which such investments are maintained through an investment account, securities account, commodity
account or any other similar account with ABN AMRO, then Borrowers shall comply with the terms and conditions of Section 5.2(e)(ii) of Amendment No. 6 to
Loan Agreement; and

 
(v) no Event of Default or event which with notice or passage of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and be

continuing.”
 
2.  Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  Borrowers and Guarantors represent, warrant and covenant with and to Lender as follows, which representations,

warranties and covenants are continuing and shall survive the execution and delivery hereof, the truth and accuracy of, or compliance with each, together with the
representations, warranties and covenants in the other Financing Agreements, being a condition of the effectiveness of this Amendment and a continuing condition of the
making or providing of any Loans or Letter of Credit Accommodations by Lender to Borrowers:

 
(a)  This Amendment and each other agreement or instrument to be executed and delivered by Borrowers and Guarantors hereunder have been duly authorized,

executed and delivered by all necessary action on the part of each of Borrowers and Guarantors which is a party hereto and thereto and, if necessary, their respective
stockholders (with respect to any corporation) or members (with respect to any limited liability company), and is in full force and effect as of the date hereof, as the case may
be, and the agreements and obligations of each of Borrowers and Guarantors, as the case may be, contained herein and therein constitute legal, valid and binding obligations



of each of Borrowers and Guarantors, as the case may be, enforceable against them in accordance with their terms.
 

(b)  Without limiting any other reporting requirements under the Loan Agreement or any of the other Financing Agreements, upon the request of Lender,
Borrowers shall furnish to Lender copies of any investment account statements or other information of ABN AMRO or such other securities intermediary or commodity
intermediary with respect to the investments in Cash Equivalents.

 
(c)  All of the representations and warranties set forth in the Loan Agreement as amended hereby, and the other Financing Agreements, are true and correct in all

material respects after giving effect to the provisions of this Amendment, except to the extent any such representation or warranty is
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made as of a specified date, in which case such representation or warranty shall have been true and correct as of such date.

 
3.  Conditions Precedent.  The effectiveness of this Amendment and the agreement of Lender to the consents, modifications and amendments set forth in this

Amendment are subject to the fulfillment of the following conditions precedent:
 

(a)  Borrowers and Guarantors shall have delivered, or shall have caused to be delivered, to Lender, a photocopy of an executed original or executed original
counterparts of this Amendment by facsimile (with the originals to be delivered within five (5) Business Days after the date hereof), as the case may be, duly authorized,
executed and delivered by Borrowers and Guarantors;

 
(b)  all requisite corporate action and proceedings in connection with this Amendment and the documents and instruments to be delivered hereunder shall be in

form and substance satisfactory to Lender, and Lender shall have received, to the extent applicable, all information and copies of all documents, including, without limitation,
records of requisite corporate action and proceedings which Lender may have reasonably requested in connection therewith, such documents where requested by Lender or its
counsel to be certified by appropriate corporate officers or governmental authorities; and

 
(c)  no Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and no event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or passage of time or both would

constitute an Event of Default.
 
4.  Effect of this Amendment.  This Amendment and the instruments and agreements delivered pursuant hereto constitute the entire agreement of the parties with

respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, and supersede all prior oral or written communications, memoranda, proposals, negotiations, discussions, term sheets and
commitments with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof.  Except as expressly amended pursuant hereto, and except for the consents expressly set forth in the
Consent No. 1 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 2 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 3 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 4 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 5
under Loan Agreement and Consent No. 6 under the Loan Agreement, no other changes or modifications to the Financing Agreements or consents under any provisions
thereof are intended or implied, and in all other respects the Financing Agreements are hereby specifically ratified, restated and confirmed by all parties hereto as of the
effective date hereof.  To the extent of conflict between the terms of this Amendment and the other Financing Agreements, the terms of this Amendment shall control.

 
5.  Further Assurances.  Borrowers shall execute and deliver such additional documents and take such additional action as may be reasonably requested by Lender to

effectuate the provisions and purposes of this Amendment.
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6.  Governing Law.  The rights and obligations hereunder of each of the parties hereto shall be governed by and interpreted and determined in accordance with the

internal laws of the State of New York (without giving effect to principles of conflict of laws).
 
7.  Binding Effect.  This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.
 
8.  Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, but all of such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same

agreement.  In making proof of this Amendment, it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one counterpart thereof signed by each of the parties hereto.
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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Please sign in the space provided below and return a counterpart of this Amendment, whereupon this Amendment, as so agreed to and accepted, shall become a

binding agreement among Borrowers and Lender.
 

Very truly yours,
  

CONGRESS FINANCIAL CORPORATION
  

By:
   

Title:
  
  
AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED:
  
TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION
  
By:
   
Title:
  
  
RECORD TOWN, INC.
  
By:
    
Title:



  
  
RECORD TOWN MICHIGAN, INC.
  
By:
    
Title:
  
  
RECORD TOWN MINNESOTA, LLC
  
By: RECORD TOWN, INC.,

its sole member
    

By:
    

Title:
 

 
[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON NEXT PAGE]

 

 
[SIGNATURES CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS PAGE]

 
CONSENTED AND AGREED TO:
   
MEDIA LOGIC USA, LLC
   
By: RECORD TOWN, INC.,

its sole member
    

By:
    

Title:
   
   
MOVIES PLUS, INC.
   
By:
   
Title:
   
   
SATURDAY MATINEE, INC.
   
By:
   
Title:
   
   
RECORDS N’ SUCH, INC.
   
By:
   
Title:
 

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON NEXT PAGE]
 

 
[SIGNATURES CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS PAGE]

 
TRANS WORLD NEW YORK, LLC
 
By: RECORD TOWN MICHIGAN, INC.,

its sole member
   

By:
   

Title:
 
 
TRANS WORLD MANAGEMENT COMPANY, INC.
 
By:
  
Title:
 
 



CAMELOT MUSIC HOLDINGS, INC.
 
By:
  
Title:
 
SPEC’S MUSIC, INC.
 
By:
  
Title:
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[Execution Version]
 
 

As of March 5, 2004
 
Trans World Entertainment Corporation
38 Corporate Circle
Albany, New York 12203
 
Record Town, Inc.
38 Corporate Circle
Albany, New York 12203
 

Re:                               Amendment No. 8 to Loan and Security Agreement
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

Reference is made to the Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 9, 1997, by and among Congress Financial Corporation (“Lender”), Trans World Entertainment
Corporation (“TWE”), Record Town, Inc. (“RTI”), Record Town Minnesota, LLC (“RT Minnesota”), and Record Town Michigan, Inc. (“RT Michigan”; and together with
TWE, RTI and RT Minnesota, each, individually, an “Existing Borrower” and, collectively, “Existing Borrowers”), as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Loan and Security
Agreement, dated as of February 17, 1998, Amendment No. 2 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 29, 1998, Amendment No. 3 to Loan and Security Agreement,
dated as of December 31, 1998, Amendment No. 4 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 31, 1999, Amendment No. 5 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as
of June 30, 2000, Amendment No. 6 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2003, Amendment No. 7 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of
December 19, 2003, and as further amended by this Amendment No. 8 to Loan and Security Agreement (this “Amendment”), dated as of the date hereof (as the same now
exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced, collectively, the “Loan Agreement”), together with all other
agreements, documents, supplements and instruments now or at any time hereafter executed or delivered by Borrowers and Media Logic USA, LLC (“Media Logic”), Movies
Plus, Inc. (“Movies Plus”), Records N’ Such, Inc. (“R&S”), Saturday Matinee, Inc. (“SMI”), Trans World Management Company, Inc. (“TW Management”), Trans World
New York, LLC (“TW New York LLC”), Camelot Music Holdings, Inc. (“CMHI”) and Spec’s Music, Inc. (“Specs”; together with Media Logic, Movies Plus, R&S, SMI,
TW Management TW New York LLC, and CMHI, each, individually, an “Existing Guarantor” and, collectively, “Existing Guarantors”), or any other person, with, to or in
favor of Lender in connection therewith (all of the foregoing, together with the Loan Agreement and the agreements and instruments delivered hereunder, as the same now
exist or may hereafter be amended,

 

 
modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced, collectively, the “Financing Agreements”).

 
Existing Borrowers and Existing Guarantors have requested that Lender consent to, and enter into certain amendments to the Loan Agreement and agreements with

respect to, certain transactions as described herein in connection with the business restructuring of certain assets and operations of Existing Borrowers and Existing
Guarantors (the “TWE 2004 Business Restructure” as hereinafter further defined).  In connection with the TWE 2004 Business Restructure, Existing Borrowers and Existing
Guarantors have also requested that (a) each of Record Town USA, LLC (“RT USA”; as hereinafter further defined) and TW New York LLC, presently an Existing
Guarantor, become a Borrower, in addition to the Existing Borrowers, and (b) Trans World Florida, LLC (“TW Florida” as hereinafter further defined) become a Guarantor,
in addition to the Existing Guarantors pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement, as amended hereby.  Each Existing Borrower, together with RT USA and
TW New York LLC, shall hereinafter be referred to, individually, as a “Borrower” and, collectively, as “Borrowers”.  Each Existing Guarantor, together with TW Florida,
shall hereinafter be referred to, individually, as a “Guarantor” and, collectively, as “Guarantors”.

 
The parties hereto wish to enter into this Amendment to evidence and effectuate such consents and amendments and certain other agreements relating thereto, in each

case subject to the terms and conditions and to the extent set forth herein.
 
In consideration of the premises and covenants set forth herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby

acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 
1.                                       Definitions.

 
1.1                                 Additional Definitions.  As used herein or in any of the other Financing Agreements, the following terms shall have the meanings given to them below, and

the Loan Agreement shall be deemed and is hereby amended to include, in addition and not in limitation, the following definitions:
 

(a)                      “Future Capital Contributions Agreement” shall mean the Agreement to Make Future Contributions of Capital, dated as of February 1, 2004, among
RTI, TW New York LLC and RT USA, as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.

 
(b)                     “Gift Certificates” shall mean gift cards and gift certificates and other gift items generally purchased by consumers as gifts that are redeemed by

consumers on a purchase of one or more music and video specialty products, electronics, video games and related products.
 

(c)                      “Joint Plan of Reorganization” shall mean the Joint Plan of Reorganization, adopted by Borrowers and Existing Guarantors as of January 1, 2004,
and by TW Florida as of February 7, 2004 with respect to TWE 2004 Business Restructuring, as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented,
extended, renewed, restated or replaced.
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(d)                     “Purchasing and Marketing Function Assets” shall have the meaning given in Section 2.1(b) hereof.

 
(e)                      “RT Michigan/RTI Merger” shall mean the merger of Record Town Michigan, Inc. with and into Record Town, Inc, with Record Town, Inc. as the

surviving corporation of the merger.
 

(f)                        “RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger” shall mean the merger of Record Town Minnesota, LLC with and into Record Town USA, LLC, with Record
Town USA, LLC as the surviving limited liability company of the merger.

 
(g)                     “RT USA” shall mean Record Town USA, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and its successors and assigns.

 
(h)                     “RTI Capital Contribution Agreement” shall mean the Contribution of Capital Agreement, dated as of January 4, 2004, among RTI, RT Michigan,

TW New York LLC and RT USA, as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.



 
(i)                         “TW Florida” shall mean Trans World  Florida, LLC, a Florida limited liability company and its successors and assigns.

 
(j)                         “TW Florida Gift Certificate Agreements” shall mean, collectively, each of the Gift Certificate Issuance and Redemption Agreements set forth on

Schedule 1.1(j) hereto entered into between TW Florida and each of the Borrowers and Guarantors identified on Schedule 1.1(j) hereto, as each of the same now exists or may
hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.

 
(k)                      “TW Florida Conversion” shall mean the merger of Trans World Florida, Inc., a Florida corporation, into Trans World Florida, LLC, a Florida

limited liability company, in accordance with the terms of the TW Florida Merger Agreements.
 

(l)                         “TW Florida  Merger Agreements” shall mean, collectively, (i) the Articles of Merger of Trans World Florida, Inc. into Trans World Florida, LLC,
filed with the Florida Secretary of State, (ii) the Plan of Merger of Trans World Florida, Inc. into Trans World Florida, LLC, dated February 9, 2004, and (iii) all related
agreements, documents and instruments executed or delivered in connection therewith, as the same now exist or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented,
extended, renewed, restated or replaced.

 
(m)                   “TW Management/RTI Merger” shall mean the merger of Trans World Management Company, Inc. with and into Record Town, Inc, with  Record

Town, Inc. as the surviving corporation of the merger.
 

(n)                     “TWE 2004 Business Restructure” shall mean the business restructure and transactions effected under the TWE 2004 Business Restructure
Agreements.
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(o)                     “TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements” shall mean, collectively, (i) the Joint Plan of Reorganization, (ii) the agreements, documents, and

instruments listed on Schedule 1.1(o) hereto, including, without limitation, the agreements, documents and instruments executed and delivered in connection with the RT
Michigan/RTI Merger, the RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger and the TW Management/RTI Merger, (iii) the TWE 2004 Cash Management Agreement, (iv) the TW Florida
Merger Agreements, (v) the Future Capital Contribution Agreement, (vi) the RTI Capital Contribution Agreement, (vii) the TWE Capital Contribution Agreement, (viii) the
TW Florida Gift Certificate Agreements, and (ix) all related agreements, documents and instruments executed, delivered or filed in connection with, or otherwise evidencing,
each of the transactions consented to in Section 2 hereof, described on Schedule 1.1(o) hereto, as the same now exist or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented,
extended, renewed, restated or replaced.

 
(p)                     “TWE 2004 Cash Management Agreement” shall mean the Cash Management Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2004, among TWE, RTI, TW

New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and Trans World Florida, Inc., as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or
replaced.

 
(q)                     “TWE Capital Contribution Agreement” shall mean the Contribution of Capital Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2004, among TWE, RTI and TW

New York LLC, as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.
 

(r)                        “Unitary Store Assets” shall have the meaning given in Section 2.1(d) hereof.
 

(s)                       “Unitary Stores” shall mean the retail stores leased as of the date hereof by RTI listed on Schedule 1.1(s) hereto.
 

(t)                        “Warehouse and Distribution Centers” shall mean the warehouse and distribution centers owned or leased by RTI located in Albany, New York,
North Canton, Ohio and Carson, California.

 
(u)                     “Wherehouse Music Stores” shall mean the retail store nos. 1422, 1472, 1483 and 1484 located in the State of Oregon and retain store no. 1497

located in the State of Utah operated under the name “Wherehouse Music”.
 

(v)                     “Wherehouse Music Store Assets” shall have the meaning given in Section 2.1(c) hereof.
 
1.2                                 Amendments to Definitions.  As used herein or in any of the other Financing Agreements, the following terms shall have the meanings given to them

below, and the Loan Agreement shall be deemed and is hereby amended to include, in addition and not in limitation, the following definitions:
 

(a)                      Borrowers.  All references to the term “Borrowers” in the Loan Agreement or any of the other Financing Agreements shall be deemed and each such
reference is hereby
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amended to mean each of the Existing Borrowers, RT USA and TW New York LLC, individually and collectively, jointly and severally.

 
(b)                     Guarantors.  All references to the term “Guarantors” in the Loan Agreement or any of the other Financing Agreements shall be deemed and each

such reference is hereby amended to mean, individually and collectively, each Person that at any time guarantees payment or performance of all or any portion of the
Obligations, including, without limitation, Media Logic, USA, LLC, a New York limited liability company, Movies Plus, Inc., a New York corporation, Records N’ Such,
Inc., a New York corporation, Saturday Matinee, Inc., a New York corporation, Camelot Music Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Spec’s Music, Inc., a Florida
corporation, and Trans World  Florida, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and their respective successors and assigns.

 
(c)                      Collateral.  All references to the term “Collateral” in the Loan Agreement or the other Financing Agreements shall be deemed and each such

reference is hereby amended to include when referring to Collateral of Borrowers, the Collateral granted by RT USA and the acknowledgment and confirmatory grant by TW
New York LLC as set forth in Section 6 hereof.

 
1.3                                 Interpretation.  All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Loan Agreement.

 
2.                                       Consents to TWE 2004 Business Restructure.

 
2.1                                 Formation of RT USA, Mergers, Conversions, etc.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Sections 9.1, 9.7(a), 9.7(b), 9.7(c), 9.10, or 9.12

of the Loan Agreement, Lender consents to the following transactions, effective as of the earlier of the date hereof or the effective date that such transaction occurred in
accordance with the TWE 2004 Business Restructure to the extent such consent is or may be required under the Loan Agreement:

 
(a)                      the formation of RT USA by TW New York LLC in accordance with the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the

date hereof;
 



(b)                     the contribution by TWE to TW New York LLC of all of TWE’s right, title and interest in and to all of the Inventory and Equipment located at the
Warehouse and Distribution Centers and the rights, contract rights, interests, claims, demands, causes of action, utility and similar deposits, property and other assets acquired
or used in connection with the purchasing and marketing functions of TWE (the “Purchasing and Marketing Function Assets”), subject to the security interests and liens of
Lender therein, all in accordance with the TWE Capital Contribution Agreement and the other applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as each is in effect on
the date hereof;

 
(c)                      the contribution by RTI to RT USA of all of RTI’s right, title and interest in and to:  (i) the leases and leasehold interests with respect to the

Wherehouse Music Stores, (ii) the Inventory and Equipment located at the Wherehouse Music Stores and (iii) the rights, contract rights, interests, claims, demands, causes of
action, utility and similar deposits, property and other
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assets acquired or used in connection with the operation of the Wherehouse Music Stores (collectively, the “Wherehouse Music Store Assets”), subject to the security interests
and liens of Lender in the Wherehouse Music Store Assets, all in accordance with the RTI Capital Contribution Agreement and the other applicable TWE 2004 Business
Restructure Agreements as each is in effect on the date hereof;

 
(d)                     the contribution from time to time by RTI to RT USA as the leases with respect to the Unitary Stores expire of all of RTI’s right, title and interest in

and to:  (i) the Inventory and Equipment located at the Unitary Stores and (ii)  the rights, contract rights, interests, claims, demands, causes of action, utility and similar
deposits, property and other assets acquired or used in connection with the operation of the Unitary Stores (collectively the “Unitary Store Assets”) in accordance with the
Future Capital Contribution Agreement and the other applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as each is in effect on the date hereof; provided, that, as to any
such capital contribution, (A) as of the date of and after giving effect to such contribution of the Unitary Store Assets, no Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and no
event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default,  (B) such Unitary Store Assets contributed
by RTI to RT USA shall at all times remain subject to the security interests and liens of Lender in such Unitary Stores Assets, and (C) Borrowers shall notify Lender in writing
promptly after the contribution of such Unitary Store Assets, setting forth the list of Unitary Stores that have along with the Unitary Store Assets been contributed to  RT
USA;

 
(e)                      the assignment by TW New York LLC to RT Michigan of all of TW New York LLC’s right, title and interests in and to an intercompany receivable

due to TW New York LLC from TWE in the amount of $150,000,000, subject to the security interests and liens of Lender therein, all in accordance with the TWE 2004
Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof;

 
(f)                        the termination of the TWE 1998 Business Restructure Agreements listed on Schedule 2.1(f) hereto in accordance with the TWE 2004 Business

Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof; provided, that, any transfers of assets or payments required under such TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements
shall be subject to the security interests and liens of Lender;

 
(g)                     the merger of Trans World Management Company, Inc. with and into Record Town, Inc. pursuant to the TW Management /RTI Merger, with Record

Town, Inc. as the surviving corporation, in accordance with the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof;
 

(h)                     the merger of Record Town Michigan, Inc. with and into Record Town, Inc. pursuant to the RT Michigan /RTI Merger, with Record Town, Inc. as
the surviving corporation, in accordance with the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof; and

 
(i)                         the merger of Record Town Minnesota, LLC with and into Record Town USA LLC pursuant to the RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger, with Record

Town USA, LLC as the
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surviving limited liability company, in accordance with the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof.

 
2.2                                 Dissolution of CMHI.

 
(a)                      Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 5.1 of the General Security Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2003, by CMHI in favor

of Lender, or 9.7(a) of the Loan Agreement, Lender hereby consents to the dissolution of CMHI.
 

(b)                     Each of Borrowers and Guarantors hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that, upon the effectiveness of the dissolution of CMHI:
 
(i)                                     The dissolution of CMHI consented to under Section 2(a) hereof shall not in any way limit, impair or adversely affect the Obligations

now or hereafter owed to Lender by any continuing Borrower or Guarantor, including, without limitation, any such Obligations they have as shareholders of such dissolved
Guarantors pursuant to applicable law;

 
(ii)                                  Lender shall continue to have valid and perfected security interests, liens and rights in and to all assets and properties of CMHI and such

assets and properties of CMHI shall continue to be deemed included in the Collateral of those entities, and such security interests, liens and rights and their perfection and
priorities shall continue in all respects in full force and effect; and

 
(iii)                               Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, true and complete copies of all of the dissolution agreements,

documents and instruments with respect to the dissolution of CMHI, including, without limitation, the certificate of dissolution with respect to CMHI has been issued by the
Delaware Secretary of State.

 
2.3                                 New Tradename of TW New York LLC.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 5.1 of the General Security Agreement, dated as of

December 31, 1998, by TW New York LLC in favor of Lender or Section 9.1 of the Loan Agreement, Lender hereby consents to the qualification by TW New York LLC to
do business under the name “Trans World Entertainment” in accordance with the applicable TWE 2004  Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof so
long as:

 
(a)                      the corporate legal name of TW New York LLC remains “Trans World New York LLC” and the jurisdiction of formation remains the State of New

York; and
 

(b)                     as soon as available, but in any event, no later than thirty (30) days after the date hereof, Lender shall have received, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to Lender, a copy of the Certificate of Assumed Name filed by TW New York LLC to do business as Trans World Entertainment with the Secretary of
State of New York.

 
2.4                                 Consents regarding Conversion of TW Florida to LLC by Merger.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Sections 9.1 or 9.7 of the Loan

Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions contained herein:
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(a)                      Lender hereby consents to the formation of Trans World Florida, Inc., a Florida corporation, on December 16, 1999.

 
(b)                     Lender hereby consents to the formation of Trans World Florida, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, on February 6, 2004.
 
(c)                      Lender hereby consents to the TW Florida Conversion pursuant to which Trans World Florida, Inc., a Florida corporation, shall have converted into

Trans World Florida, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, by reason of the merger of Trans World Florida, Inc. with and into Trans World Florida, LLC with Trans
World Florida, LLC as the surviving entity, in accordance with the TW Florida Merger Agreements as in effect on the date hereof.

 
2.5                                 Proposed Merger of Specs into RTI.  Specs may merge with and into RTI; provided, that, each of the following conditions is satisfied as determined by

Lender:
 

(a)                      Lender shall have received not less than twenty (20) Business Days’ prior written notice of the intention of Specs and RTI to so merge, which notice
shall set forth in reasonable detail the terms and conditions of such merger, and the material agreements and documents relating to such merger;

 
(b)                     RTI shall be the surviving corporation of such merger;

 
(c)                      Lender shall have received such other information with respect to such merger as Lender may reasonably request within a reasonable time of such

request,
 

(d)                     as of the effective date of the merger and after giving effect thereto, no Event of Default or act, event or condition which with notice or passage of
time or both would constitute an Event of Default shall exist or have occurred;

 
(e)                      Lender shall have received, true, correct and complete copies of all agreements, documents and instruments relating to such merger, including, but

not limited to, the certificate or certificates of merger to be filed with each appropriate Secretary of State (with a copy as filed promptly after such filing);
 

(f)                        RTI as the surviving corporation shall expressly confirm, ratify and assume the Obligations and the Financing Agreements to which it is a party in
writing, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender and execute and deliver such other agreements, documents and instruments as Lender may reasonably request in
connection therewith;

 
(g)                     RTI as the surviving corporation shall not become obligated with respect to any Indebtedness, nor any of its property subject to any lien, unless RTI

or Specs could incur such Indebtedness or create such lien hereunder; and
 

(h)                     each Guarantor shall ratify and confirm that its guarantee(s) of the Obligations shall apply to the Obligations as assumed by RTI as the surviving
entity.
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3.                                       Assumption of Obligations; Acknowledgments with respect to TWE 2004 Business Restructure.  Effective as of the earlier of the date hereof or the effective date of
the TWE 2004 Business Restructure as to the respective parties thereto:

 
3.1                                 Assumption of Obligations.

 
(a)                      Each of RT USA and TW New York LLC hereby expressly (i) assumes and agrees to be directly liable to Lender, jointly and severally with the other

Borrowers, for all Obligations under, contained in, or arising out of the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements applicable to all Borrowers and as applied to
each of RT USA and TW New York LLC as a Borrower, (ii) agrees to perform, comply with and be bound by all terms, conditions and covenants of the Loan Agreement and
the other Financing Agreements applicable to all Borrowers and as applied to each of RT USA and TW New York LLC as a Borrower, with the same force and effect as if
each of RT USA and TW New York LLC had originally executed and been an original Borrower party signatory to the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements,
and (iii) agrees that Lender shall have all rights, remedies and interests, including security interests in and to the Collateral granted pursuant to Section 6 hereof, the Loan
Agreement and the other Financing Agreements, with respect to each of RT USA and TW New York LLC and their respective properties and assets with the same force and
effect as Lender has with respect to the other Borrowers and their respective assets and properties as if each of RT USA and TW New York LLC had originally executed and
had been an original Borrower party signatory to the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements.

 
(b)                     Each Borrower, including, without limitation, RT USA and TW New York LLC, and each Guarantor, including, without limitation, TW Florida,

hereby agrees that (i) all references to Borrower or Borrowers or other terms intended to refer to a Borrower or Borrowers, such as Debtor or Debtors, contained in any of the
Financing Agreements are hereby amended to include each of RT USA and TW New York LLC and each other person or entity at any time hereafter made a “Borrower”
under the Loan Agreement, as an additional Borrower or Debtor, or other appropriate term of similar import, as the case may be and (ii) all references to Guarantor or
Guarantors or other terms intended to refer to a  Guarantor or Guarantors, such as Obligor or Obligors and Debtor or Debtors, contained in any of the Financing Agreements
are hereby amended to include each of  TW Florida and each other person or entity at any time hereafter made a “Guarantor” with respect to the Obligations of Borrowers, as
an additional Obligor, Guarantor or Debtor, or other appropriate term of similar import, as the case may be.

 
3.2                                 Acknowledgement with respect to Security Interests.  Each Borrower and Guarantor hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that, by operation of law

and as provided in the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, as the case may be, and this Amendment:
 

(a)                      Lender shall continue to have valid and perfected security interests, liens and rights in and to all of the Inventory, and all other assets and properties
at any time owned and acquired by each Borrower or Guarantor that is the purchaser, assignee or transferee of any such assets and properties pursuant to the TWE 2004
Business Restructure Agreements or otherwise, and all such assets and properties shall be deemed included in the Collateral or the Collateral of
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Guarantors, as the case may be, and such security interests, liens and rights and their perfection and priorities have continued and shall continue in all respects in full force and
effect;

 
(b)                     Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) none of the transactions contemplated by the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements shall

in any way limit, impair or adversely affect the Obligations now or hereafter owed to Lender by any Borrower or Guarantor or any security interests or liens in any assets or
properties securing the same, and (ii) the security interests, liens and rights of Lender in and to the assets and properties of any Borrower or Guarantor that is the recipient,
assignee or transferee of any such assets and properties contributed, assigned or transferred pursuant to the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements have continued and,
upon and after the consummation of such contribution, assignment or transfer, as the case may be, shall continue to secure all Obligations to Lender of Borrowers or



Guarantors or the predecessor owner of such assets and properties, as the case may be, in addition to all other existing and future Obligations of such Borrower or Guarantor,
as the case may be, to Lender.

 
3.3                                 Acknowledgement with respect to Mergers.  As of the effective date of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure as to the respective parties thereto, each

Borrower and each Guarantor hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that, by operation of law and as provided in the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, as the
case may be, and this Amendment:

 
(a)                      RTI, as the surviving corporation pursuant to each of the RT Michigan/RTI Merger and the TW Management/RTI Merger, shall continue to be

directly and primarily liable in all respects for the Obligations of each of RT Michigan and TW Management arising prior to the effective time of the applicable RT
Michigan/RTI Merger and the TW Management/RTI Merger.

 
(b)                     Lender has and shall continue to have valid and perfected security interests, liens and rights in and to all of the assets and properties owned and

acquired by RTI, as the surviving corporation pursuant to each of the RT Michigan/RTI Merger and the TW Management/RTI Merger under the applicable TWE 2004
Business Restructure Agreements or otherwise, and all such assets and properties shall be deemed included in the Collateral and such security interests, liens and rights and
their perfection and priorities have continued and shall continue in all respects in full force and effect, and shall continue to secure all Obligations to Lender of RTI.

 
(c)                      RT USA, as the surviving limited liability company pursuant to the RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger, shall continue to be directly and primarily liable

in all respects for the Obligations of RT Minnesota arising prior to the effective time of the RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger.
 

(d)                     Lender has and shall continue to have valid and perfected security interests, liens and rights in and to all of the assets and properties owned and
acquired by RT USA, as the surviving limited liability company pursuant to the RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger under the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure
Agreements or otherwise, and all such assets and properties shall be deemed included in the Collateral and such security interests, liens and rights and their perfection and
priorities have continued and shall continue in all respects in full force and effect, and shall continue to secure all Obligations to Lender of RT USA.
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4.                                       Allocation of Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations.  Each of Borrowers and Guarantors confirms, acknowledges and agrees that:

 
4.1                                 As of and after the effective date of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure as to RT Michigan, the portion of the Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit

Accommodations to or for the account of RT Michigan determined by Lender to be allocable to the Inventory and other Collateral of RT Michigan before the consummation
of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure shall be deemed to be Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations of RTI.

 
4.2                                 As of and after the effective date of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure as to RT Minnesota, the portion of the Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit

Accommodations to or for the account of RT Minnesota determined by Lender to be allocable to the Inventory and other Collateral of RT Minnesota before the consummation
of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure shall be deemed to be Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations of  RT USA.
 
5.                                       Continued Interrelated Business. After giving effect to the TWE 2004 Business Restructure and the transactions contemplated by the TWE 2004 Business Restructure
Agreements, (a) Borrowers and Guarantors shall continue to make up an interrelated organization of various entities constituting a single economic and business enterprise in
which each of Borrowers and Guarantors shares an identity of interests such that any benefit received by any one of the Borrowers and Guarantors benefits the other
Borrowers and Guarantors, (b) each of Borrowers and Guarantors purchases or sells and supplies goods and renders or receives services to or from, or for the benefit of, the
other such Persons and provides or receives other financial accommodations to or for the benefit of the other such Persons and administrative, marketing, payroll and
management services to or from or for the benefit of, the other Borrowers and Guarantors, and (c) Borrowers and Guarantors have (i) substantially consolidated accounting,
administrative, financial, computer, credit, legal and other services, and (ii) substantially common officers and directors and are identified to creditors as a common entity.
 
6.                                       Collateral. Without limiting the provisions of Section 2 or 3 hereof, the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements, to secure payment and performance of
all Obligations, RT USA hereby grants to Lender a continuing security interest in, a lien upon, and a right of set off against, and hereby assigns to Lender as security, the
following property and interests in property of RT USA, and TW New York LLC hereby grants, and confirms its prior grant, to Lender a continuing security interest in, a lien
upon, and a right of set off against, and hereby assigns, and confirms its prior assignment, to Lender as security, the following property and interests in property of TW New
York LLC, in either case, whether now owned or hereafter acquired or existing, and wherever located (collectively, the “Collateral”):

 
6.1                                 all Accounts;
 
6.2                                 all general intangibles, including, without limitation, all Intellectual Property;
 
6.3                                 all goods, including, without limitation, Inventory and Equipment;
 
6.4                                 all Real Property and fixtures;
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6.5                                 all chattel paper, including, without limitation, all tangible and electronic chattel paper;
 
6.6                                 all instruments, including, without limitation, all promissory notes;
 
6.7                                 all documents;
 
6.8                                 all deposit accounts;
 
6.9                                 all letters of credit, banker’s acceptances and similar instruments and including all letter-of-credit rights;
 
6.10                            all supporting obligations and all present and future liens, security interests, rights, remedies, title and interest in, to and in respect of Receivables and other

Collateral, including (a) rights and remedies under or relating to guaranties, contracts of suretyship, letters of credit and credit and other insurance related to the Collateral, (b)
rights of stoppage in transit, replevin, repossession, reclamation and other rights and remedies of an unpaid vendor, lienor or secured party, (c) goods described in invoices,
documents, contracts or instruments with respect to, or otherwise representing or evidencing, Receivables or other Collateral, including returned, repossessed and reclaimed
goods, and (d) deposits by and property of account debtors or other persons securing the obligations of account debtors;

 
6.11                            all (a) investment property (including securities, whether certificated or uncertificated, securities accounts, security entitlements, commodity contracts or

commodity accounts) and (b) monies, credit balances, deposits and other property of any Borrower or Guarantor now or hereafter held or received by or in transit to Lender or
its Affiliates or at any other depository or other institution from or for the account of any Borrower or Guarantor, whether for safekeeping, pledge, custody, transmission,
collection or otherwise;

 



6.12                            all commercial tort claims, including, without limitation, those identified of Schedule 6.11 hereto and, as to RT USA, in the Information Certificate of RT
USA ;

 
6.13                            to the extent not otherwise described above, all Receivables;
 
6.14                            all Records; and
 
6.15                            all products and proceeds of the foregoing, in any form, including insurance proceeds and all claims against third parties for loss or damage to or destruction

of or other involuntary conversion of any kind or nature of any or all of the other Collateral.
 
7.                                       Indebtedness.

 
7.1                                 Sections 9.9(g) and 9.9(h) of the Loan Agreement are hereby deleted and replaced with the following:

 
“(g) indebtedness of TWE to RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida if and when incurred in accordance with the TWE 2004 Cash

Management
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Agreement (as in effect as of February 1, 2004); provided, that, (i) all such indebtedness of TWE to RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida shall be
subject to, and subordinated in right of payment to, the right of Lender to receive the prior indefeasible payment in full of all of the Obligations in accordance with the
terms and conditions of a written subordination agreement among Lender RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida, (ii) no Event of Default, or event
which with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and be continuing, and (iii) if TWE is required under
the terms such written subordination agreement to evidence any such indebtedness of TWE to RTI, TW New York LLC, Specs or TW Florida by a promissory note,
then RTI, TW New York LLC, Specs or TW Florida shall, upon the issuance of such note, deliver such note into the possession of Lender, duly indorsed to the order of
Lender;

 
(h) indebtedness of RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida to TWE if and when incurred in accordance with the TWE 2004 Cash Management

Agreement (as in effect on the execution and delivery date thereof); provided, that, (i) all such indebtedness of RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW
Florida to TWE shall be subject to, and subordinated in right of payment to, the right of Lender to receive the prior indefeasible payment in full of all of the
Obligations in accordance with the terms and conditions of a written subordination agreement between TWE and Lender, (ii) no Event of Default, or event which with
notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and be continuing, and (iii) if any RTI, TW New York LLC, Specs
or TW Florida of  is required under the terms such written subordination agreement to evidence any such indebtedness of RTI, TW New York LLC, Specs or TW
Florida to TWE by a promissory note, then TWE shall, upon the issuance of such note, deliver such note into the possession of Lender, duly indorsed to the order of
Lender; and

 
(i)  indebtedness consisting of the contingent obligation of RTI, RT USA and Specs to their customers in connection with the issuance of Gift Certificates in the

ordinary course pursuant to the terms and conditions of the TW Florida Gift Certificate Agreements (as in effect on the execution and delivery date thereof).”
 
8.                                       Transactions with Affiliates.

 
8.1                                 Section 9.12 of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended by adding in Section 9.12(a), immediately preceding the word “except” appearing in the fifth line

thereof, the phrase “except for such transactions engaged in pursuant to and in accordance with the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements (as in effect on the execution
and delivery date thereof) that are not prohibited by any other term or provision of the Financing Agreements, and “

 
8.2                                 Section 9.12 of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended by adding immediately after the word “business” appearing at the end of Section 9.12(b), the

following:
 
“and payments of reasonable fees, charges and expenses by Borrowers to other Borrowers and Guarantors pursuant to the TWE 2004 Business Restructure
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Agreements (as in effect on the execution and delivery date thereof) previously disclosed to Lender in writing; provided, that, (i) Borrowers and Guarantors
may amend or modify the “Estimated Purchase Price” as defined in and set forth on Exhibit A to the Inventory Supply Agreements in accordance with the
terms and conditions set forth in the Inventory Supply Agreements so long as such modification to the “Estimated Purchase Price” is based upon the good
faith determination of such Borrowers and Guarantors that such modification is necessary to reflect an arm’s length transactions between such Borrowers and
Guarantors and (ii) the portion of the Purchase Price and the Estimated Purchase Price of Inventory other than the actual cost of Inventory purchased from
third party vendors to TW New York LLC shall not be included in the definition of Cost.”
 

8.3                                 Section 5.12 of each of the General Security Agreements executed and delivered by Guarantors is hereby amended by adding immediately after the word
“business” appearing at the end of Section 5.12(b), the following:

 
“and payments of reasonable fees, charges and expenses by Guarantors to other Borrowers and Guarantors pursuant to the TWE 2004 Business Restructure
Agreements (as in effect on the execution and delivery date thereof) previously disclosed to Lender in writing; provided, that, (i) Borrowers and Guarantors
may amend or modify the “Estimated Purchase Price” as defined in and set forth on Exhibit A to the Inventory Supply Agreements in accordance with the
terms and conditions set forth in the Inventory Supply Agreements so long as such modification to the “Estimated Purchase Price” is based upon the good
faith determination of such Borrowers and Guarantors that such modification is necessary to reflect an arm’s length transactions between such Borrowers and
Guarantors and (ii) the portion of the Purchase Price and the Estimated Purchase Price of Inventory other than the actual cost of Inventory purchased from
third party vendors to TW New York LLC shall not be included in the definition of Cost.”
 

9.                                       Gift Certificates.
 
9.1                                 Availability Reserves. 

 
(a)                      Effective on the date hereof, in addition to any existing or future Availability Reserves that may be in effect on the date hereof or established from

time to time, Lender may, subject to the terms of Section 9.1(b) hereof, establish and maintain an Availability Reserve against the amount of Revolving Loans and Letter of
Credit Accommodations otherwise determined by Lender to be available to Revolving Loan Borrowers under the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements in the
amount equal to the outstanding amount of gift certificates issued by any Borrower or Guarantor (the “Gift Certificate Availability Reserve”).

 
(b)                     Lender agrees not to exercise its right to establish the Gift Certificate Availability Reserve in such amounts as it may determine unless either (i) an

Event of Default or
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an event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default shall exist or have occurred or (ii)  Excess
Availability is less than $50,000,000.

 
(c)                      The Gift Certificate Availability Reserve established in accordance with this Section 9.1 is in addition to, and not in limitation of, all other existing

availability reserves and the rights of Lender from time to time to establish other and further reserves against the availability of Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit
Accommodations under the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements.

 
9.2                                 Reporting.  In addition to and not in limitation of any covenant by Borrowers or Guarantors to provide reports, documents or other information regarding

the Collateral, financial  condition or otherwise in the Loan Agreement or the other Financing Agreements, Borrowers shall furnish to Lender on a monthly basis or, if Excess
Availability falls below $10,000,000 or an Event of Default exists or has occurred and is continuing, or an event has occurred or state of facts exists that would, with notice or
passage of time, or both, constitute an Event of Default, more frequently as Lender may request, a schedule of the amount of Gift Certificates outstanding on an aggregate
basis for RTI, RT USA and Specs to their customers.
 
10.                                 Appointment of TWE and RTI as Agent.  In addition to, and not in limitation of, any provisions of Section 12.2 of the Loan Agreement:

 
10.1                            Each of RT USA and TW New York LLC (together with RTI) hereby irrevocably appoints TWE as agent for such Borrower under the Loan Agreement

and the other Financing Agreements, to act in such capacity as agent for such Borrower hereunder and TWE hereby accepts such appointment.  Each of RT USA and TW New
York LLC (together with RTI) further irrevocably authorizes TWE as agent for such purposes to take such action on such Borrower’s behalf and to exercise such rights and
powers under the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements as are delegated to TWE in such capacity by the terms hereof and thereof, together with such rights
and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto.

 
10.2                            TWE as agent for each of RT USA and TW New York LLC (together with RTI) is hereby expressly and irrevocably authorized by each Borrower, without

hereby limiting any implied or express authority, (a) to give and receive on behalf of such Borrower all notices and other materials delivered or provided to be delivered by
Lender to such Borrower or by such Borrower to Lender pursuant to the Financing Agreements, (b) to request Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations on behalf of such
Borrower, (c) to receive disbursements of Loans and other financing accommodations on behalf of such Borrower, and (d) to pay, on behalf of such Borrower, all Obligations
of such Borrower at any time due Lender pursuant to the terms of the Financing Agreements.

 
10.3                            Each of RT USA and TW New York LLC hereby irrevocably appoints RTI to act as agent for each of them to receive and deposit on behalf of each of

them, proceeds of all Collateral and any other items, and to cause the same to be remitted to the Blocked Accounts in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.3 of the
Loan Agreement, and RTI hereby accepts such appointment.
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11.                                 Information Certificates and Schedules.

 
11.1                            Exhibit A to the Loan Agreement and Section 1.29 of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended to include the Information Certificates of RT USA attached

hereto as Exhibit A.
 
11.2                            Schedule II of the Information Certificate of RTI is hereby amended and restated to include only those locations as set forth on Exhibit B hereto.

 
12.                                 Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  Borrowers and Guarantors represent, warrant and covenant with and to Lender as follows, which representations,
warranties and covenants are continuing and shall survive the execution and delivery hereof, the truth and accuracy of, or compliance with each, together with the
representations, warranties and covenants in the other Financing Agreements, being a condition of the effectiveness of this Amendment and a continuing condition of the
making or providing of any Revolving Loans or Letter of Credit Accommodations by Lender to Borrowers:

 
12.1                            This Amendment and each other agreement or instrument to be executed and delivered by each of RT USA and TW New York LLC, or the other

Borrowers and TW Florida and the other Guarantors hereunder have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by all necessary action on the part of each of RT USA and
TW New York LLC, or the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the Guarantors  which is a party hereto and thereto and, if necessary, their respective stockholders (with
respect to any corporation) or members (with respect to any limited liability company), and is in full force and effect as of the date hereof, as the case may be, and the
agreements and obligations of each of RT USA and TW New York LLC, and the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the other Guarantors, as the case may be, contained
herein and therein constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of each of RT USA and TW New York LLC, and the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the other
Guarantors, as the case may be, enforceable against them in accordance with their terms.

 
12.2                            Neither the execution and delivery of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the TWE

2004 Business Restructure Agreements, nor compliance with the provisions of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, shall result in the creation or imposition of
any lien, claim, charge or encumbrance upon any of the Collateral, except in favor of Lender pursuant to the Loan Agreement and the Financing Agreements as amended
hereby.

 
12.3                            Neither the execution and delivery of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, nor the consummation of the transactions therein contemplated, nor

compliance with the provisions thereof, (a) has violated or shall violate any applicable Federal or State securities laws or any other law or regulation in any material respect,
including, without limitation, any Bulk Sales Act or Article 6 of the Uniform Commercial Code, or any order or decree of any court or governmental instrumentality in any
respect or (b) does, or shall conflict with or result in the breach of, or constitute a default in any respect under any material mortgage, deed of trust, security agreement,
agreement or instrument to which any of RT USA or TW New York LLC, or any other Borrower or TW Florida or any other Guarantor is a party or may be bound, or (c)
shall violate any provision of the Certificates of Incorporation or By-Laws of
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Borrower or TW Florida or any other Guarantor that is a corporation, or (d) shall violate any provision of the Certificates of Formation or Operating Agreements of TW New
York LLC or RT USA, TW Florida or any other Borrower or Guarantor that is a limited liability company.

 
12.4                            None of the membership interests in either of TW New York LLC, RT USA or TW Florida has been evidenced by a membership certificate or other

certificate, document, instrument or security.  All of the membership interests in each of TW New York LLC, RT USA and TW Florida (a) are noted in the respective books
and records of each such company, (b) have been duly authorized, validly issued and (c) are fully paid and non-assessable, free and clear of all claims, liens, pledges and
encumbrances of any kind, except in favor of Lender.

 
12.5                            No court of competent jurisdiction has issued any injunction, restraining order or other order which has prohibited or prohibits consummation of the TWE



2004 Business Restructure or any part thereof, and no governmental action or proceeding has been threatened or commenced seeking any injunction, restraining order or other
order which seeks to void or otherwise modify the transactions described in the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements.

 
12.6                            Each of TW New York LLC, RT USA and TW Florida is a limited liability company, duly formed and validly existing in good standing under the laws of

the State of its formation.  Each of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida (a) is duly licensed or qualified to do business as a foreign limited liability company or
foreign corporation, as the case may be, and is in good standing in each of the jurisdictions set forth in Exhibit C annexed hereto, except as set forth on Exhibit C hereto,
which are the only jurisdictions wherein the character of the properties owned or licensed or the nature of the business of any of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW
Florida makes such licensing or qualification to do business necessary, except for those jurisdictions in which the failure to so qualify would not have a material adverse effect
on such entity’s financial conditions, results of operation or business or the rights of Lender in or to any of the Collateral; and (b) has all requisite power and authority to own,
lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted and will be conducted in the future.

 
12.7                            The assets and properties of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida are owned by them, free and clear of all security interests, liens and

encumbrances of any kind, nature or description, as of the date hereof, except those security interests existing in favor of Lender and those granted pursuant hereto in favor of
Lender, and except for liens (if any) permitted under Section 8.4 of the Loan Agreement or the other Financing Agreements.

 
12.8                            No action of, or filing with, or consent of any governmental or public body or authority, including, without limitation, any filing with the U.S. Patent and

Trademark Office, other than the filing of UCC financing statements with the appropriate governmental authority, and no approval or consent of any other party, is required to
authorize, or is otherwise required in connection with, the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment.

 
12.9                            No Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and no event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or passage of time or both would

constitute an Event of Default.
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12.10                     All of the representations and warranties set forth in the Loan Agreement as amended hereby, and the other Financing Agreements, are true and correct in

all material respects after giving effect to the provisions of this Amendment, except to the extent any such representation or warranty is made as of a specified date, in which
case such representation or warranty shall have been true and correct as of such date.

 
12.11                     If the amount equal to (a) the Value of Eligible Inventory less the amount of Availability Reserves multiplied by (b) the then applicable advance rate with

respect to the Value of Eligible Inventory is at any time equal to or less than $100,000,000, then within thirty (30) days after the date of the occurrence thereof, Borrowers and
Guarantors shall deliver, or cause to be delivered to, Lender , in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, an Evidence of Property Insurance certificate together, with a
Lender’s Loss Payable Endorsement, issued in favor of Lender with respect to property insurance of Borrowers and Guarantors.

 
12.12                     If Excess Availability at any time is less than $30,000,000, Borrowers and Guarantors shall deliver within thirty (30) days after such date to Lender, in form

and substance satisfactory to Lender:  (a)  an amended and restated blocked account agreement among Lender, LaSalle Bank National Association, and those Borrowers and
Guarantors that maintain deposit accounts with LaSalle Bank National Association and (b) a deposit account control agreement for each of the deposit account banks at which
Borrowers or Guarantors maintain deposit accounts that are determined by Lender in its good faith judgment to be material to the business and operations of the Borrowers
and Guarantors or to the exercise of Lender’s rights and remedies under the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements.  During such thirty (30) day period and in
any event until such time as the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 12.12 have been satisfied as determined by Lender, the amount of Loans available to Borrowers
based upon the lending formulas as determined by Lender in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement shall at all times be not less than $10,000,000.
 
13.                                 Conditions Precedent.  The effectiveness of this Amendment and the agreement of Lender to the consents, modifications and amendments set forth in this
Amendment are subject to the fulfillment of the following conditions precedent:

 
13.1                            Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, evidence that (a) the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements have been duly

executed and delivered by and to the appropriate parties thereto and (b) the transactions that are contemplated by the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements to be
consummated prior to or as of the date hereof have been consummated prior to, or contemporaneously with, the execution of this Amendment;

 
13.2                            Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, each of the following agreements to which it is a party, duly authorized, executed

and delivered:
 

(a)                      Guarantee by RT USA with respect to the Obligations of Borrowers (other than RT USA) to Lender;
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(b)                     Guarantee by TW New York LLC with respect to the Obligations of Borrowers (other than TW New York LLC) to Lender;

 
(c)                      Guarantee by Borrowers with respect to the Obligations of RT USA and TW New York LLC to Lender;
 
(d)                     Guarantee by Existing Guarantors with respect to the Obligations of RT USA and TW New York LLC;
 
(e)                      Guarantee by TW Florida with respect to the Obligations of Borrowers;
 
(f)                        General Security Agreement by TW Florida in favor of Lender;
 
(g)                     Intercompany Parent Subordination Agreement between Lender and TWE, as acknowledged by RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW

Florida; and
 
(h)                     Intercompany Subsidiary Subordination Agreement among Lender, RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida, as acknowledged by

TWE;
 
13.3                            UCC financing statements and amendments to existing UCC financing statements with respect to RT USA, TW New York LLC, and all other Borrowers

and TW Florida and all other Guarantors and other documents and instruments which Lender in its sole discretion has determined are necessary to perfect or continue
perfected the security interests of Lender in all Collateral now or hereafter owned by RT USA and TW New York LLC and the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the other
Guarantors shall have been either or both delivered and filed;

 
13.4                            Each of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida shall have delivered to Lender (a) a copy of its Certificate of Formation or Articles of Organization,

and all amendments thereto, certified by the Secretary of State of its jurisdiction of formation as of the most recent practicable date certifying that each of the foregoing
documents remains in full force and effect and has not been modified or amended, except as described therein, (b) a copy of its Operating Agreement, certified by its
Secretary and (c) a Certificate from its Secretary, dated the date hereof, certifying that each of the foregoing documents remains in full force and effect and has not been
modified or amended, except as described therein;



 
13.5                            Each of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida shall have delivered to Lender evidence, as of the most recent practicable date, that it is duly

qualified and in good standing in each jurisdiction set forth in Exhibit C annexed hereto, except with respect to those jurisdictions in which such qualification has not yet been
completed, in which case RT USA, New York LLC or TW Florida, as the case may be, shall deliver evidence of such qualification to Lender within the time period set forth
on Exhibit C hereto;

 
13.6                            Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, Secretary’s or Assistant Secretary’s Certificates of Directors’ Resolutions with

Shareholders’ Consent evidencing the adoption and subsistence of corporate resolutions approving the
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execution, delivery and performance by Borrower, and Guarantors of this Amendment and the agreements, documents and instruments to be delivered pursuant to this
Amendment;

 
13.7                            Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, for each of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida (a) a certificate of the

sole member of each such company identifying all managers (if any), officers or other persons authorized to act on behalf of such company and if applicable, the specific
management responsibilities of each such manager, officer or other authorized person, including a description of any restriction on any such manager’s, officer’s or other
person’s authority to act for such company or, if no restrictions are so imposed, a statement to that effect, (b) resolutions of each of the sole members of such company,
evidencing the adoption and subsistence of company resolutions approving the execution, delivery and performance by each of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW
Florida, respectively, of this Amendment and the agreements, documents and instruments to be delivered pursuant to this Amendment, in each case signed by all members of
each such company, and (c) Certificates of Membership of each such company identifying all members of such company and the relative voting and/or management rights of
the members, if applicable, of such company;

 
13.8                            Lender shall have received an opinion of counsel to RT USA and the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the other Guarantors with respect to the

transactions contemplated by this Amendment and the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, and such other matters as Lender shall reasonably request, addressed to
Lender, in form and substance and satisfactory to Lender;

 
13.9                            each of Borrowers and Guarantors shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to Lender a true and correct copy of any consent, waiver or approval to or of this

Amendment, which any Borrower or Guarantor is required to obtain from any other Person, and such consent, approval or waiver shall be in a form reasonably acceptable to
Lender;

 
13.10                     Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, all other consents, waivers, acknowledgments and other agreements from third

persons which Lender may deem necessary or desirable in order to permit, protect and perfect its security interests and liens upon the Collateral or to affect the provisions or
purposes of this Amendment and the other Financing Agreements;

 
13.11                     all requisite corporate action and proceedings in connection with this Amendment and the documents and instruments to be delivered hereunder shall be in

form and substance satisfactory to Lender, and Lender shall have received all information and copies of all documents, including, without limitation, records of requisite
corporate action and proceedings which Lender may have reasonably requested in connection therewith, such documents where requested by Lender or its counsel to be
certified by appropriate corporate officers or governmental authorities; and

 
13.12                     no Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and no event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or passage of time or both would

constitute an Event of Default.
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14.                                 Waiver of Event of Default.

 
14.1                            Lender hereby waives, subject to the terms and conditions contained in this Amendment, the Event of Default arising under Section 9.7(b) and 9.10 of the

Loan Agreement as a result of the formation by RTI of Trans World Florida, Inc., a Florida corporation.
 
14.2                            Lender has not waived and is not by this Amendment waiving, and has no intention of waiving, any other Event of Default, which may have occurred

before the date hereof, or may be continuing on the date hereof or any Event of Default that may occur after the date hereof, whether the same or similar to the Event of
Default described in Section 14.1 hereof or otherwise, other than the Event of Default specifically described in Section 14.1 hereof. Lender reserves the right, in its discretion,
to exercise its rights and remedies arising under the Financing Agreements, applicable law or otherwise as a result of any other Events of Default that may have occurred
before the date hereof, or are continuing on the date hereof, or any Event of Default that may occur after the date hereof, whether the same or similar to the Event of Default
described in Section 14.1 hereof or otherwise.
 
15.                                 Additional Events of Default.  The parties hereto acknowledge, confirm and agree that the failure of Borrowers or Guarantors to comply with the covenants,
conditions and agreements contained herein shall constitute an Event of Default.
 
16.                                 Effect of this Amendment.  This Amendment and the instruments and agreements delivered pursuant hereto constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect
to the subject matter hereof and thereof, and supersede all prior oral or written communications, memoranda, proposals, negotiations, discussions, term sheets and
commitments with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof.  Except as expressly amended pursuant hereto, and except for the consents expressly set forth in the
Consent No. 1 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 2 under  Loan Agreement, Consent No. 3 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 4 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 5
under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 6 under Loan Agreement, and Consent No. 7 under Loan Agreement, no other changes or modifications to the Financing Agreements or
consents under any provisions thereof are intended or implied, and in all other respects the Financing Agreements are hereby specifically ratified, restated and confirmed by
all parties hereto as of the effective date hereof.  To the extent of conflict between the terms of this Amendment and the other Financing Agreements, the terms of this
Amendment shall control.
 
17.                                 Further Assurances.  Borrowers shall execute and deliver such additional documents and take such additional action as may be reasonably requested by Lender to
effectuate the provisions and purposes of this Amendment.
 
18.                                 Governing Law.  The rights and obligations hereunder of each of the parties hereto shall be governed by and interpreted and determined in accordance with the
internal laws of the State of New York (without giving effect to principles of conflict of laws).
 
19.                                 Binding Effect.  This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.
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20.                                 Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, but all of such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same
agreement.  In making proof of this Amendment, it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one counterpart thereof signed by each of the parties hereto.
 

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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Please sign in the space provided below and return a counterpart of this Amendment, whereupon this Amendment, as so agreed to and accepted, shall become a

binding agreement among Borrowers and Lender.
 

Very truly yours,
  

CONGRESS FINANCIAL CORPORATION
  

By:
   

Title:
  
AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED:
  
TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION
  
By:
  
Title:
  
  
RECORD TOWN, INC.
  
By:
  
Title:
  
  
RECORD TOWN USA, LLC
  
By:
  
Title:
 

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON NEXT PAGE]
 

 
[SIGNATURES CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS PAGE]

 
RECORD TOWN, INC., as successor by merger of

Record Town Michigan, Inc. with and into Record Town, Inc.
 
By:
  
Title:
 
RECORD TOWN, USA, LLC., successor by merger of

Record Town Minnesota, LLC with and into Record Town, USA, LLC
 
 
By:
  
Title:
 
CONSENTED AND AGREED TO:
 
MEDIA LOGIC USA, LLC
 
By:
  
Title:
 
MOVIES PLUS, INC.
 
By:
  
Title:
 

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON NEXT PAGE]
 

 
[SIGNATURES CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS PAGE]

 



SATURDAY MATINEE, INC.
  
By:
  
Title:
  
  
RECORDS N’ SUCH, INC.
  
By:
  
Title:
  
 
TRANS WORLD NEW YORK, LLC
  
By:
  
Title:
  
  
RECORD TOWN, INC., as successor by merger of

Trans World Management Company, Inc. with and
into Record Town, Inc.

  
  
By:
  
Title:
  
  
TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION, a

successor-in-interest to, in its capacity as the sole shareholder of
the dissolution of Camelot Music Holdings, Inc.

  
By:
  
Title:
 

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON NEXT PAGE]
 

 
[SIGNATURES CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS PAGE]

 
SPEC’S MUSIC, INC.
  
By:
  
Title:
  
  
TRANS WORLD FLORIDA, LLC
  
By:
  
Title:

 

 
EXHIBIT A

TO
AMENDMENT NO. 8 TO

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
 

Information Certificate of Record Town USA LLC
 
 

(See Attached)
 

 
EXHIBIT B

TO
AMENDMENT NO. 8 TO

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
 

Schedule II to Information Certificate of Record Town, Inc.
 
 

(See Attached)
 



 
SCHEDULE 1.1(j)

TO
AMENDMENT NO. 8 TO

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
 

List of TW Florida Gift Certificate Agreements
 

 
SCHEDULE 1.1(o)

TO
AMENDMENT NO. 8 TO

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
 

List of TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements
 



EXHIBIT 22
 

TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION
 

SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
 

 
Name of Significant
Subsidiary

 

State of Incorporation
 

Subsidiary Trade Names
Media Logic, Inc. New York Media Logic, Inc.
     
Record Town, Inc. New York Record Town, Inc.

Saturday Matinee
Movies Plus
Tape World
Coconuts
Music World
F.Y.E. (For Your Entertainment)
Strawberries
Waxie Maxie
Planet Music
Camelot Music
The Wall
fye.com

     
Record Town Michigan, Inc. Delaware Record Town

Saturday Matinee
Tape World

     
Record Town Minnesota, Inc. Delaware Record Town
     
Spec’s Music, Inc. Florida Spec’s Music
     
Trans World New York, Inc. New York Trans World New York, Inc.
     
Trans World Management Company New York Trans World Management Company
     
Trans World Florida, Inc. Florida Trans World Florida, Inc.

 



Exhibit 23
 

Consent of Independent Auditors
 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Trans World Entertainment Corporation:
 
We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 33-14572, 33-40399, 33-51094, 33-51516, 33-59319, 333-75231, 333-81685 and 333-101532)
on Form S-8 pertaining to the Trans World Music Corp. 1986 Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan, the Trans World Music Corp. 1990 Stock Option Plan for Non-
Employee Directors, the Trans World Entertainment Corp. 1994 Stock Option Plan, the Camelot Music Holdings, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan, the Camelot Music Holdings,
Inc. Outside Directors Stock Option Plan, the Trans World Entertainment Corp. 1998 Stock Option Plan, the Trans World Entertainment Corp. 1999 Stock Option Plan, and
the Trans World Entertainment Corporation 2002 Stock Option Plan of our report dated March 19, 2004, relating to the consolidated balance sheets of Trans World
Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries as of January 31, 2004, and February 1, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended January 31, 2004, which report appears in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Trans World
Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004.
 
Our report dated March 19, 2004 contains an explanatory paragraph that states that the Company changed its methods of accounting for goodwill and vendor allowances
effective February 3, 2002.
 
 
Albany, New York
April 14, 2004

 



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, Robert J. Higgins, certify that:
 
1.                           I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Trans World Entertainment Corporation. (the Company);
 
2.                           Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.                           Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                           The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a—15(e) and 15d—15(e)) for the Company and have:
 

a)                                      Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)                                     (paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33—8238 and 34—47986);

 
c)                                      Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d)                                     Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.                   The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors
and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors:
 

a)                                      All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect Trans World Entertainment’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)                                     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
 
Date: April 15, 2004 /s/ Robert J. Higgins

Robert J. Higgins
President and Chief Executive Officer

 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, John J. Sullivan, certify that:
 
1.                           I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Trans World Entertainment Corporation. (the Company);
 
2.                           Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.                           Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                           The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Company and have:
 

a)                                      Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)                                     (paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986);

 
c)                                      Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d)                                     Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.                   The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors
and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors:
 

a)                                      All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect Trans World Entertainment’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)                                     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
 
Date: April 15, 2004 /s/ John J. Sullivan

John J. Sullivan
Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Secretary

 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Trans World Entertainment Corporation, (the “Corporation”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Robert J. Higgins, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, certify to my
knowledge, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section
1350), that:
 

1.                                       The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

2.                                       The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation.
 
 
Date: April 15, 2004 /s/ Robert J. Higgins

Robert J. Higgins
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

 

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Trans World Entertainment Corporation, (the “Corporation”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John J. Sullivan, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation,
certify to my knowledge, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C.
Section 1350), that:

 
1.                                       The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 
2.                                       The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation.

 
 
Date: April 15, 2004 /s/ John J. Sullivan

John J. Sullivan
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
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	III
	Company Background
	Super FYE stores.  The super FYE concept carries the same merchandise categories as traditional FYE mall locations, but with a much broader and deeper assortment.  This concept is designed to be a semi-anchor or destination location in major regional malls.  There were 15 super FYE stores at January 31, 2004 that averaged 24,200 square feet in size.
	Saturday Matinee stores.  The Saturday Matinee stores specialize in the sale of video products and related accessories.  They are located in large, regional shopping malls and average 2,100 square feet in size.  The Company operated 15 Saturday Matinee stores at January 31, 2004.
	Business Environment
	Competition
	Merchandise Categories
	Seasonality
	Trade Customs and Practices
	Employees
	Business Plans

	New Stores and Acquisitions
	Suppliers

	1.                                       Definitions.
	1.1                                 Additional Definitions.  As used herein or in any of the other Financing Agreements, the following terms shall have the meanings given to them below, and the Loan Agreement shall be deemed and is hereby amended to include, in addition and not in limitation, the following definitions:
	(a)                      “Future Capital Contributions Agreement” shall mean the Agreement to Make Future Contributions of Capital, dated as of February 1, 2004, among RTI, TW New York LLC and RT USA, as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.
	(b)                     “Gift Certificates” shall mean gift cards and gift certificates and other gift items generally purchased by consumers as gifts that are redeemed by consumers on a purchase of one or more music and video specialty products, electronics, video games and related products.
	(c)                      “Joint Plan of Reorganization” shall mean the Joint Plan of Reorganization, adopted by Borrowers and Existing Guarantors as of January 1, 2004, and by TW Florida as of February 7, 2004 with respect to TWE 2004 Business Restructuring, as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.
	(d)                     “Purchasing and Marketing Function Assets” shall have the meaning given in Section 2.1(b) hereof.
	(e)                      “RT Michigan/RTI Merger” shall mean the merger of Record Town Michigan, Inc. with and into Record Town, Inc, with Record Town, Inc. as the surviving corporation of the merger.
	(f)                        “RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger” shall mean the merger of Record Town Minnesota, LLC with and into Record Town USA, LLC, with Record Town USA, LLC as the surviving limited liability company of the merger.
	(g)                     “RT USA” shall mean Record Town USA, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and its successors and assigns.
	(h)                     “RTI Capital Contribution Agreement” shall mean the Contribution of Capital Agreement, dated as of January 4, 2004, among RTI, RT Michigan, TW New York LLC and RT USA, as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.
	(i)                         “TW Florida” shall mean Trans World  Florida, LLC, a Florida limited liability company and its successors and assigns.
	(j)                         “TW Florida Gift Certificate Agreements” shall mean, collectively, each of the Gift Certificate Issuance and Redemption Agreements set forth on Schedule 1.1(j) hereto entered into between TW Florida and each of the Borrowers and Guarantors identified on Schedule 1.1(j) hereto, as each of the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.
	(k)                      “TW Florida Conversion” shall mean the merger of Trans World Florida, Inc., a Florida corporation, into Trans World Florida, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, in accordance with the terms of the TW Florida Merger Agreements.
	(l)                         “TW Florida  Merger Agreements” shall mean, collectively, (i) the Articles of Merger of Trans World Florida, Inc. into Trans World Florida, LLC, filed with the Florida Secretary of State, (ii) the Plan of Merger of Trans World Florida, Inc. into Trans World Florida, LLC, dated February 9, 2004, and (iii) all related agreements, documents and instruments executed or delivered in connection therewith, as the same now exist or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.
	(m)                   “TW Management/RTI Merger” shall mean the merger of Trans World Management Company, Inc. with and into Record Town, Inc, with  Record Town, Inc. as the surviving corporation of the merger.
	(n)                     “TWE 2004 Business Restructure” shall mean the business restructure and transactions effected under the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements.
	(o)                     “TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements” shall mean, collectively, (i) the Joint Plan of Reorganization, (ii) the agreements, documents, and instruments listed on Schedule 1.1(o) hereto, including, without limitation, the agreements, documents and instruments executed and delivered in connection with the RT Michigan/RTI Merger, the RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger and the TW Management/RTI Merger, (iii) the TWE 2004 Cash Management Agreement, (iv) the TW Florida Merger Agreements, (v) the Future Capital Contribution Agreement, (vi) the RTI Capital Contribution Agreement, (vii) the TWE Capital Contribution Agreement, (viii) the TW Florida Gift Certificate Agreements, and (ix) all related agreements, documents and instruments executed, delivered or filed in connection with, or otherwise evidencing, each of the transactions consented to in Section 2 hereof, described on Schedule 1.1(o) hereto, as the same now exist or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.
	(p)                     “TWE 2004 Cash Management Agreement” shall mean the Cash Management Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2004, among TWE, RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and Trans World Florida, Inc., as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.
	(q)                     “TWE Capital Contribution Agreement” shall mean the Contribution of Capital Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2004, among TWE, RTI and TW New York LLC, as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced.
	(r)                        “Unitary Store Assets” shall have the meaning given in Section 2.1(d) hereof.
	(s)                      “Unitary Stores” shall mean the retail stores leased as of the date hereof by RTI listed on Schedule 1.1(s) hereto.
	(t)                        “Warehouse and Distribution Centers” shall mean the warehouse and distribution centers owned or leased by RTI located in Albany, New York, North Canton, Ohio and Carson, California.
	(u)                     “Wherehouse Music Stores” shall mean the retail store nos. 1422, 1472, 1483 and 1484 located in the State of Oregon and retain store no. 1497 located in the State of Utah operated under the name “Wherehouse Music”.
	(v)                     “Wherehouse Music Store Assets” shall have the meaning given in Section 2.1(c) hereof.

	1.2                                 Amendments to Definitions.  As used herein or in any of the other Financing Agreements, the following terms shall have the meanings given to them below, and the Loan Agreement shall be deemed and is hereby amended to include, in addition and not in limitation, the following definitions:
	(a)                      Borrowers.  All references to the term “Borrowers” in the Loan Agreement or any of the other Financing Agreements shall be deemed and each such reference is hereby
	amended to mean each of the Existing Borrowers, RT USA and TW New York LLC, individually and collectively, jointly and severally.
	(b)                     Guarantors.  All references to the term “Guarantors” in the Loan Agreement or any of the other Financing Agreements shall be deemed and each such reference is hereby amended to mean, individually and collectively, each Person that at any time guarantees payment or performance of all or any portion of the Obligations, including, without limitation, Media Logic, USA, LLC, a New York limited liability company, Movies Plus, Inc., a New York corporation, Records N’ Such, Inc., a New York corporation, Saturday Matinee, Inc., a New York corporation, Camelot Music Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Spec’s Music, Inc., a Florida corporation, and Trans World  Florida, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and their respective successors and assigns.
	(c)                      Collateral.  All references to the term “Collateral” in the Loan Agreement or the other Financing Agreements shall be deemed and each such reference is hereby amended to include when referring to Collateral of Borrowers, the Collateral granted by RT USA and the acknowledgment and confirmatory grant by TW New York LLC as set forth in Section 6 hereof.

	1.3                                 Interpretation.  All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Loan Agreement.

	2.                                       Consents to TWE 2004 Business Restructure.
	2.1                                 Formation of RT USA, Mergers, Conversions, etc.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Sections 9.1, 9.7(a), 9.7(b), 9.7(c), 9.10, or 9.12 of the Loan Agreement, Lender consents to the following transactions, effective as of the earlier of the date hereof or the effective date that such transaction occurred in accordance with the TWE 2004 Business Restructure to the extent such consent is or may be required under the Loan Agreement:
	(a)                      the formation of RT USA by TW New York LLC in accordance with the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof;
	(b)                     the contribution by TWE to TW New York LLC of all of TWE’s right, title and interest in and to all of the Inventory and Equipment located at the Warehouse and Distribution Centers and the rights, contract rights, interests, claims, demands, causes of action, utility and similar deposits, property and other assets acquired or used in connection with the purchasing and marketing functions of TWE (the “Purchasing and Marketing Function Assets”), subject to the security interests and liens of Lender therein, all in accordance with the TWE Capital Contribution Agreement and the other applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as each is in effect on the date hereof;
	(c)                      the contribution by RTI to RT USA of all of RTI’s right, title and interest in and to:  (i) the leases and leasehold interests with respect to the Wherehouse Music Stores, (ii) the Inventory and Equipment located at the Wherehouse Music Stores and (iii) the rights, contract rights, interests, claims, demands, causes of action, utility and similar deposits, property and other
	assets acquired or used in connection with the operation of the Wherehouse Music Stores (collectively, the “Wherehouse Music Store Assets”), subject to the security interests and liens of Lender in the Wherehouse Music Store Assets, all in accordance with the RTI Capital Contribution Agreement and the other applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as each is in effect on the date hereof;
	(d)                     the contribution from time to time by RTI to RT USA as the leases with respect to the Unitary Stores expire of all of RTI’s right, title and interest in and to:  (i) the Inventory and Equipment located at the Unitary Stores and (ii)  the rights, contract rights, interests, claims, demands, causes of action, utility and similar deposits, property and other assets acquired or used in connection with the operation of the Unitary Stores (collectively the “Unitary Store Assets”) in accordance with the Future Capital Contribution Agreement and the other applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as each is in effect on the date hereof; provided, that, as to any such capital contribution, (A) as of the date of and after giving effect to such contribution of the Unitary Store Assets, no Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and no event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default,  (B) such Unitary Store Assets contributed by RTI to RT USA shall at all times remain subject to the security interests and liens of Lender in such Unitary Stores Assets, and (C) Borrowers shall notify Lender in writing promptly after the contribution of such Unitary Store Assets, setting forth the list of Unitary Stores that have along with the Unitary Store Assets been contributed to  RT USA;
	(e)                      the assignment by TW New York LLC to RT Michigan of all of TW New York LLC’s right, title and interests in and to an intercompany receivable due to TW New York LLC from TWE in the amount of $150,000,000, subject to the security interests and liens of Lender therein, all in accordance with the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof;
	(f)                        the termination of the TWE 1998 Business Restructure Agreements listed on Schedule 2.1(f) hereto in accordance with the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof; provided, that, any transfers of assets or payments required under such TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements shall be subject to the security interests and liens of Lender;
	(g)                     the merger of Trans World Management Company, Inc. with and into Record Town, Inc. pursuant to the TW Management /RTI Merger, with Record Town, Inc. as the surviving corporation, in accordance with the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof;
	(h)                     the merger of Record Town Michigan, Inc. with and into Record Town, Inc. pursuant to the RT Michigan /RTI Merger, with Record Town, Inc. as the surviving corporation, in accordance with the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof; and
	(i)                         the merger of Record Town Minnesota, LLC with and into Record Town USA LLC pursuant to the RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger, with Record Town USA, LLC as the
	surviving limited liability company, in accordance with the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof.

	2.2                                 Dissolution of CMHI.
	(a)                      Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 5.1 of the General Security Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2003, by CMHI in favor of Lender, or 9.7(a) of the Loan Agreement, Lender hereby consents to the dissolution of CMHI.
	(b)                     Each of Borrowers and Guarantors hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that, upon the effectiveness of the dissolution of CMHI:
	(i)                                     The dissolution of CMHI consented to under Section 2(a) hereof shall not in any way limit, impair or adversely affect the Obligations now or hereafter owed to Lender by any continuing Borrower or Guarantor, including, without limitation, any such Obligations they have as shareholders of such dissolved Guarantors pursuant to applicable law;
	(ii)                                  Lender shall continue to have valid and perfected security interests, liens and rights in and to all assets and properties of CMHI and such assets and properties of CMHI shall continue to be deemed included in the Collateral of those entities, and such security interests, liens and rights and their perfection and priorities shall continue in all respects in full force and effect; and
	(iii)                               Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, true and complete copies of all of the dissolution agreements, documents and instruments with respect to the dissolution of CMHI, including, without limitation, the certificate of dissolution with respect to CMHI has been issued by the Delaware Secretary of State.


	2.3                                 New Tradename of TW New York LLC.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 5.1 of the General Security Agreement, dated as of December 31, 1998, by TW New York LLC in favor of Lender or Section 9.1 of the Loan Agreement, Lender hereby consents to the qualification by TW New York LLC to do business under the name “Trans World Entertainment” in accordance with the applicable TWE 2004  Business Restructure Agreements as in effect on the date hereof so long as:
	(a)                      the corporate legal name of TW New York LLC remains “Trans World New York LLC” and the jurisdiction of formation remains the State of New York; and
	(b)                     as soon as available, but in any event, no later than thirty (30) days after the date hereof, Lender shall have received, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Lender, a copy of the Certificate of Assumed Name filed by TW New York LLC to do business as Trans World Entertainment with the Secretary of State of New York.

	2.4                                 Consents regarding Conversion of TW Florida to LLC by Merger.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Sections 9.1 or 9.7 of the Loan Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions contained herein:
	(a)                      Lender hereby consents to the formation of Trans World Florida, Inc., a Florida corporation, on December 16, 1999.
	(b)                     Lender hereby consents to the formation of Trans World Florida, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, on February 6, 2004.
	(c)                      Lender hereby consents to the TW Florida Conversion pursuant to which Trans World Florida, Inc., a Florida corporation, shall have converted into Trans World Florida, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, by reason of the merger of Trans World Florida, Inc. with and into Trans World Florida, LLC with Trans World Florida, LLC as the surviving entity, in accordance with the TW Florida Merger Agreements as in effect on the date hereof.

	2.5                                 Proposed Merger of Specs into RTI.  Specs may merge with and into RTI; provided, that, each of the following conditions is satisfied as determined by Lender:
	(a)                      Lender shall have received not less than twenty (20) Business Days’ prior written notice of the intention of Specs and RTI to so merge, which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail the terms and conditions of such merger, and the material agreements and documents relating to such merger;
	(b)                     RTI shall be the surviving corporation of such merger;
	(c)                      Lender shall have received such other information with respect to such merger as Lender may reasonably request within a reasonable time of such request,
	(d)                     as of the effective date of the merger and after giving effect thereto, no Event of Default or act, event or condition which with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default shall exist or have occurred;
	(e)                      Lender shall have received, true, correct and complete copies of all agreements, documents and instruments relating to such merger, including, but not limited to, the certificate or certificates of merger to be filed with each appropriate Secretary of State (with a copy as filed promptly after such filing);
	(f)                        RTI as the surviving corporation shall expressly confirm, ratify and assume the Obligations and the Financing Agreements to which it is a party in writing, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender and execute and deliver such other agreements, documents and instruments as Lender may reasonably request in connection therewith;
	(g)                     RTI as the surviving corporation shall not become obligated with respect to any Indebtedness, nor any of its property subject to any lien, unless RTI or Specs could incur such Indebtedness or create such lien hereunder; and
	(h)                     each Guarantor shall ratify and confirm that its guarantee(s) of the Obligations shall apply to the Obligations as assumed by RTI as the surviving entity.


	3.                                       Assumption of Obligations; Acknowledgments with respect to TWE 2004 Business Restructure.  Effective as of the earlier of the date hereof or the effective date of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure as to the respective parties thereto:
	3.1                                 Assumption of Obligations.
	(a)                      Each of RT USA and TW New York LLC hereby expressly (i) assumes and agrees to be directly liable to Lender, jointly and severally with the other Borrowers, for all Obligations under, contained in, or arising out of the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements applicable to all Borrowers and as applied to each of RT USA and TW New York LLC as a Borrower, (ii) agrees to perform, comply with and be bound by all terms, conditions and covenants of the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements applicable to all Borrowers and as applied to each of RT USA and TW New York LLC as a Borrower, with the same force and effect as if each of RT USA and TW New York LLC had originally executed and been an original Borrower party signatory to the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements, and (iii) agrees that Lender shall have all rights, remedies and interests, including security interests in and to the Collateral granted pursuant to Section 6 hereof, the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements, with respect to each of RT USA and TW New York LLC and their respective properties and assets with the same force and effect as Lender has with respect to the other Borrowers and their respective assets and properties as if each of RT USA and TW New York LLC had originally executed and had been an original Borrower party signatory to the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements.
	(b)                     Each Borrower, including, without limitation, RT USA and TW New York LLC, and each Guarantor, including, without limitation, TW Florida, hereby agrees that (i) all references to Borrower or Borrowers or other terms intended to refer to a Borrower or Borrowers, such as Debtor or Debtors, contained in any of the Financing Agreements are hereby amended to include each of RT USA and TW New York LLC and each other person or entity at any time hereafter made a “Borrower” under the Loan Agreement, as an additional Borrower or Debtor, or other appropriate term of similar import, as the case may be and (ii) all references to Guarantor or Guarantors or other terms intended to refer to a  Guarantor or Guarantors, such as Obligor or Obligors and Debtor or Debtors, contained in any of the Financing Agreements are hereby amended to include each of  TW Florida and each other person or entity at any time hereafter made a “Guarantor” with respect to the Obligations of Borrowers, as an additional Obligor, Guarantor or Debtor, or other appropriate term of similar import, as the case may be.

	3.2                                 Acknowledgement with respect to Security Interests.  Each Borrower and Guarantor hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that, by operation of law and as provided in the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, as the case may be, and this Amendment:
	(a)                      Lender shall continue to have valid and perfected security interests, liens and rights in and to all of the Inventory, and all other assets and properties at any time owned and acquired by each Borrower or Guarantor that is the purchaser, assignee or transferee of any such assets and properties pursuant to the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements or otherwise, and all such assets and properties shall be deemed included in the Collateral or the Collateral of
	Guarantors, as the case may be, and such security interests, liens and rights and their perfection and priorities have continued and shall continue in all respects in full force and effect;
	(b)                     Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) none of the transactions contemplated by the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements shall in any way limit, impair or adversely affect the Obligations now or hereafter owed to Lender by any Borrower or Guarantor or any security interests or liens in any assets or properties securing the same, and (ii) the security interests, liens and rights of Lender in and to the assets and properties of any Borrower or Guarantor that is the recipient, assignee or transferee of any such assets and properties contributed, assigned or transferred pursuant to the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements have continued and, upon and after the consummation of such contribution, assignment or transfer, as the case may be, shall continue to secure all Obligations to Lender of Borrowers or Guarantors or the predecessor owner of such assets and properties, as the case may be, in addition to all other existing and future Obligations of such Borrower or Guarantor, as the case may be, to Lender.

	3.3                                 Acknowledgement with respect to Mergers.  As of the effective date of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure as to the respective parties thereto, each Borrower and each Guarantor hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that, by operation of law and as provided in the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, as the case may be, and this Amendment:
	(a)                      RTI, as the surviving corporation pursuant to each of the RT Michigan/RTI Merger and the TW Management/RTI Merger, shall continue to be directly and primarily liable in all respects for the Obligations of each of RT Michigan and TW Management arising prior to the effective time of the applicable RT Michigan/RTI Merger and the TW Management/RTI Merger.
	(b)                     Lender has and shall continue to have valid and perfected security interests, liens and rights in and to all of the assets and properties owned and acquired by RTI, as the surviving corporation pursuant to each of the RT Michigan/RTI Merger and the TW Management/RTI Merger under the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements or otherwise, and all such assets and properties shall be deemed included in the Collateral and such security interests, liens and rights and their perfection and priorities have continued and shall continue in all respects in full force and effect, and shall continue to secure all Obligations to Lender of RTI.
	(c)                      RT USA, as the surviving limited liability company pursuant to the RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger, shall continue to be directly and primarily liable in all respects for the Obligations of RT Minnesota arising prior to the effective time of the RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger.
	(d)                     Lender has and shall continue to have valid and perfected security interests, liens and rights in and to all of the assets and properties owned and acquired by RT USA, as the surviving limited liability company pursuant to the RT Minnesota/RT USA Merger under the applicable TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements or otherwise, and all such assets and properties shall be deemed included in the Collateral and such security interests, liens and rights and their perfection and priorities have continued and shall continue in all respects in full force and effect, and shall continue to secure all Obligations to Lender of RT USA.


	4.                                       Allocation of Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations.  Each of Borrowers and Guarantors confirms, acknowledges and agrees that:
	4.1                                 As of and after the effective date of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure as to RT Michigan, the portion of the Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations to or for the account of RT Michigan determined by Lender to be allocable to the Inventory and other Collateral of RT Michigan before the consummation of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure shall be deemed to be Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations of RTI.
	4.2                                 As of and after the effective date of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure as to RT Minnesota, the portion of the Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations to or for the account of RT Minnesota determined by Lender to be allocable to the Inventory and other Collateral of RT Minnesota before the consummation of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure shall be deemed to be Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations of  RT USA.

	5.                                       Continued Interrelated Business. After giving effect to the TWE 2004 Business Restructure and the transactions contemplated by the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, (a) Borrowers and Guarantors shall continue to make up an interrelated organization of various entities constituting a single economic and business enterprise in which each of Borrowers and Guarantors shares an identity of interests such that any benefit received by any one of the Borrowers and Guarantors benefits the other Borrowers and Guarantors, (b) each of Borrowers and Guarantors purchases or sells and supplies goods and renders or receives services to or from, or for the benefit of, the other such Persons and provides or receives other financial accommodations to or for the benefit of the other such Persons and administrative, marketing, payroll and management services to or from or for the benefit of, the other Borrowers and Guarantors, and (c) Borrowers and Guarantors have (i) substantially consolidated accounting, administrative, financial, computer, credit, legal and other services, and (ii) substantially common officers and directors and are identified to creditors as a common entity.
	6.                                       Collateral. Without limiting the provisions of Section 2 or 3 hereof, the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements, to secure payment and performance of all Obligations, RT USA hereby grants to Lender a continuing security interest in, a lien upon, and a right of set off against, and hereby assigns to Lender as security, the following property and interests in property of RT USA, and TW New York LLC hereby grants, and confirms its prior grant, to Lender a continuing security interest in, a lien upon, and a right of set off against, and hereby assigns, and confirms its prior assignment, to Lender as security, the following property and interests in property of TW New York LLC, in either case, whether now owned or hereafter acquired or existing, and wherever located (collectively, the “Collateral”):
	6.1                                 all Accounts;
	6.2                                 all general intangibles, including, without limitation, all Intellectual Property;
	6.3                                 all goods, including, without limitation, Inventory and Equipment;
	6.4                                 all Real Property and fixtures;
	6.5                                 all chattel paper, including, without limitation, all tangible and electronic chattel paper;
	6.6                                 all instruments, including, without limitation, all promissory notes;
	6.7                                 all documents;
	6.8                                 all deposit accounts;
	6.9                                 all letters of credit, banker’s acceptances and similar instruments and including all letter-of-credit rights;
	6.10                           all supporting obligations and all present and future liens, security interests, rights, remedies, title and interest in, to and in respect of Receivables and other Collateral, including (a) rights and remedies under or relating to guaranties, contracts of suretyship, letters of credit and credit and other insurance related to the Collateral, (b) rights of stoppage in transit, replevin, repossession, reclamation and other rights and remedies of an unpaid vendor, lienor or secured party, (c) goods described in invoices, documents, contracts or instruments with respect to, or otherwise representing or evidencing, Receivables or other Collateral, including returned, repossessed and reclaimed goods, and (d) deposits by and property of account debtors or other persons securing the obligations of account debtors;
	6.11                           all (a) investment property (including securities, whether certificated or uncertificated, securities accounts, security entitlements, commodity contracts or commodity accounts) and (b) monies, credit balances, deposits and other property of any Borrower or Guarantor now or hereafter held or received by or in transit to Lender or its Affiliates or at any other depository or other institution from or for the account of any Borrower or Guarantor, whether for safekeeping, pledge, custody, transmission, collection or otherwise;
	6.12                           all commercial tort claims, including, without limitation, those identified of Schedule 6.11 hereto and, as to RT USA, in the Information Certificate of RT USA ;
	6.13                           to the extent not otherwise described above, all Receivables;
	6.14                           all Records; and
	6.15                           all products and proceeds of the foregoing, in any form, including insurance proceeds and all claims against third parties for loss or damage to or destruction of or other involuntary conversion of any kind or nature of any or all of the other Collateral.

	7.                                       Indebtedness.
	7.1                                 Sections 9.9(g) and 9.9(h) of the Loan Agreement are hereby deleted and replaced with the following:
	“(g) indebtedness of TWE to RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida if and when incurred in accordance with the TWE 2004 Cash Management
	Agreement (as in effect as of February 1, 2004); provided, that, (i) all such indebtedness of TWE to RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida shall be subject to, and subordinated in right of payment to, the right of Lender to receive the prior indefeasible payment in full of all of the Obligations in accordance with the terms and conditions of a written subordination agreement among Lender RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida, (ii) no Event of Default, or event which with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and be continuing, and (iii) if TWE is required under the terms such written subordination agreement to evidence any such indebtedness of TWE to RTI, TW New York LLC, Specs or TW Florida by a promissory note, then RTI, TW New York LLC, Specs or TW Florida shall, upon the issuance of such note, deliver such note into the possession of Lender, duly indorsed to the order of Lender;
	(h) indebtedness of RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida to TWE if and when incurred in accordance with the TWE 2004 Cash Management Agreement (as in effect on the execution and delivery date thereof); provided, that, (i) all such indebtedness of RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida to TWE shall be subject to, and subordinated in right of payment to, the right of Lender to receive the prior indefeasible payment in full of all of the Obligations in accordance with the terms and conditions of a written subordination agreement between TWE and Lender, (ii) no Event of Default, or event which with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and be continuing, and (iii) if any RTI, TW New York LLC, Specs or TW Florida of  is required under the terms such written subordination agreement to evidence any such indebtedness of RTI, TW New York LLC, Specs or TW Florida to TWE by a promissory note, then TWE shall, upon the issuance of such note, deliver such note into the possession of Lender, duly indorsed to the order of Lender; and
	(i)  indebtedness consisting of the contingent obligation of RTI, RT USA and Specs to their customers in connection with the issuance of Gift Certificates in the ordinary course pursuant to the terms and conditions of the TW Florida Gift Certificate Agreements (as in effect on the execution and delivery date thereof).”

	8.                                       Transactions with Affiliates.
	8.1                                 Section 9.12 of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended by adding in Section 9.12(a), immediately preceding the word “except” appearing in the fifth line thereof, the phrase “except for such transactions engaged in pursuant to and in accordance with the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements (as in effect on the execution and delivery date thereof) that are not prohibited by any other term or provision of the Financing Agreements, and “
	8.2                                 Section 9.12 of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended by adding immediately after the word “business” appearing at the end of Section 9.12(b), the following:
	8.3                                 Section 5.12 of each of the General Security Agreements executed and delivered by Guarantors is hereby amended by adding immediately after the word “business” appearing at the end of Section 5.12(b), the following:

	9.                                       Gift Certificates.
	9.1                                 Availability Reserves.
	(a)                      Effective on the date hereof, in addition to any existing or future Availability Reserves that may be in effect on the date hereof or established from time to time, Lender may, subject to the terms of Section 9.1(b) hereof, establish and maintain an Availability Reserve against the amount of Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations otherwise determined by Lender to be available to Revolving Loan Borrowers under the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements in the amount equal to the outstanding amount of gift certificates issued by any Borrower or Guarantor (the “Gift Certificate Availability Reserve”).
	(b)                     Lender agrees not to exercise its right to establish the Gift Certificate Availability Reserve in such amounts as it may determine unless either (i) an Event of Default or
	an event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default shall exist or have occurred or (ii)  Excess Availability is less than $50,000,000.
	(c)                      The Gift Certificate Availability Reserve established in accordance with this Section 9.1 is in addition to, and not in limitation of, all other existing availability reserves and the rights of Lender from time to time to establish other and further reserves against the availability of Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations under the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements.

	9.2                                 Reporting.  In addition to and not in limitation of any covenant by Borrowers or Guarantors to provide reports, documents or other information regarding the Collateral, financial  condition or otherwise in the Loan Agreement or the other Financing Agreements, Borrowers shall furnish to Lender on a monthly basis or, if Excess Availability falls below $10,000,000 or an Event of Default exists or has occurred and is continuing, or an event has occurred or state of facts exists that would, with notice or passage of time, or both, constitute an Event of Default, more frequently as Lender may request, a schedule of the amount of Gift Certificates outstanding on an aggregate basis for RTI, RT USA and Specs to their customers.

	10.                                 Appointment of TWE and RTI as Agent.  In addition to, and not in limitation of, any provisions of Section 12.2 of the Loan Agreement:
	10.1                           Each of RT USA and TW New York LLC (together with RTI) hereby irrevocably appoints TWE as agent for such Borrower under the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements, to act in such capacity as agent for such Borrower hereunder and TWE hereby accepts such appointment.  Each of RT USA and TW New York LLC (together with RTI) further irrevocably authorizes TWE as agent for such purposes to take such action on such Borrower’s behalf and to exercise such rights and powers under the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements as are delegated to TWE in such capacity by the terms hereof and thereof, together with such rights and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto.
	10.2                           TWE as agent for each of RT USA and TW New York LLC (together with RTI) is hereby expressly and irrevocably authorized by each Borrower, without hereby limiting any implied or express authority, (a) to give and receive on behalf of such Borrower all notices and other materials delivered or provided to be delivered by Lender to such Borrower or by such Borrower to Lender pursuant to the Financing Agreements, (b) to request Loans and Letter of Credit Accommodations on behalf of such Borrower, (c) to receive disbursements of Loans and other financing accommodations on behalf of such Borrower, and (d) to pay, on behalf of such Borrower, all Obligations of such Borrower at any time due Lender pursuant to the terms of the Financing Agreements.
	10.3                           Each of RT USA and TW New York LLC hereby irrevocably appoints RTI to act as agent for each of them to receive and deposit on behalf of each of them, proceeds of all Collateral and any other items, and to cause the same to be remitted to the Blocked Accounts in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.3 of the Loan Agreement, and RTI hereby accepts such appointment.

	11.                                 Information Certificates and Schedules.
	11.1                           Exhibit A to the Loan Agreement and Section 1.29 of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended to include the Information Certificates of RT USA attached hereto as Exhibit A.
	11.2                           Schedule II of the Information Certificate of RTI is hereby amended and restated to include only those locations as set forth on Exhibit B hereto.

	12.                                 Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  Borrowers and Guarantors represent, warrant and covenant with and to Lender as follows, which representations, warranties and covenants are continuing and shall survive the execution and delivery hereof, the truth and accuracy of, or compliance with each, together with the representations, warranties and covenants in the other Financing Agreements, being a condition of the effectiveness of this Amendment and a continuing condition of the making or providing of any Revolving Loans or Letter of Credit Accommodations by Lender to Borrowers:
	12.1                           This Amendment and each other agreement or instrument to be executed and delivered by each of RT USA and TW New York LLC, or the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the other Guarantors hereunder have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by all necessary action on the part of each of RT USA and TW New York LLC, or the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the Guarantors  which is a party hereto and thereto and, if necessary, their respective stockholders (with respect to any corporation) or members (with respect to any limited liability company), and is in full force and effect as of the date hereof, as the case may be, and the agreements and obligations of each of RT USA and TW New York LLC, and the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the other Guarantors, as the case may be, contained herein and therein constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of each of RT USA and TW New York LLC, and the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the other Guarantors, as the case may be, enforceable against them in accordance with their terms.
	12.2                           Neither the execution and delivery of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, nor compliance with the provisions of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, shall result in the creation or imposition of any lien, claim, charge or encumbrance upon any of the Collateral, except in favor of Lender pursuant to the Loan Agreement and the Financing Agreements as amended hereby.
	12.3                           Neither the execution and delivery of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, nor the consummation of the transactions therein contemplated, nor compliance with the provisions thereof, (a) has violated or shall violate any applicable Federal or State securities laws or any other law or regulation in any material respect, including, without limitation, any Bulk Sales Act or Article 6 of the Uniform Commercial Code, or any order or decree of any court or governmental instrumentality in any respect or (b) does, or shall conflict with or result in the breach of, or constitute a default in any respect under any material mortgage, deed of trust, security agreement, agreement or instrument to which any of RT USA or TW New York LLC, or any other Borrower or TW Florida or any other Guarantor is a party or may be bound, or (c) shall violate any provision of the Certificates of Incorporation or By-Laws of
	Borrower or TW Florida or any other Guarantor that is a corporation, or (d) shall violate any provision of the Certificates of Formation or Operating Agreements of TW New York LLC or RT USA, TW Florida or any other Borrower or Guarantor that is a limited liability company.
	12.4                           None of the membership interests in either of TW New York LLC, RT USA or TW Florida has been evidenced by a membership certificate or other certificate, document, instrument or security.  All of the membership interests in each of TW New York LLC, RT USA and TW Florida (a) are noted in the respective books and records of each such company, (b) have been duly authorized, validly issued and (c) are fully paid and non-assessable, free and clear of all claims, liens, pledges and encumbrances of any kind, except in favor of Lender.
	12.5                           No court of competent jurisdiction has issued any injunction, restraining order or other order which has prohibited or prohibits consummation of the TWE 2004 Business Restructure or any part thereof, and no governmental action or proceeding has been threatened or commenced seeking any injunction, restraining order or other order which seeks to void or otherwise modify the transactions described in the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements.
	12.6                           Each of TW New York LLC, RT USA and TW Florida is a limited liability company, duly formed and validly existing in good standing under the laws of the State of its formation.  Each of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida (a) is duly licensed or qualified to do business as a foreign limited liability company or foreign corporation, as the case may be, and is in good standing in each of the jurisdictions set forth in Exhibit C annexed hereto, except as set forth on Exhibit C hereto, which are the only jurisdictions wherein the character of the properties owned or licensed or the nature of the business of any of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida makes such licensing or qualification to do business necessary, except for those jurisdictions in which the failure to so qualify would not have a material adverse effect on such entity’s financial conditions, results of operation or business or the rights of Lender in or to any of the Collateral; and (b) has all requisite power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted and will be conducted in the future.
	12.7                           The assets and properties of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida are owned by them, free and clear of all security interests, liens and encumbrances of any kind, nature or description, as of the date hereof, except those security interests existing in favor of Lender and those granted pursuant hereto in favor of Lender, and except for liens (if any) permitted under Section 8.4 of the Loan Agreement or the other Financing Agreements.
	12.8                           No action of, or filing with, or consent of any governmental or public body or authority, including, without limitation, any filing with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, other than the filing of UCC financing statements with the appropriate governmental authority, and no approval or consent of any other party, is required to authorize, or is otherwise required in connection with, the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment.
	12.9                           No Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and no event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default.
	12.10                     All of the representations and warranties set forth in the Loan Agreement as amended hereby, and the other Financing Agreements, are true and correct in all material respects after giving effect to the provisions of this Amendment, except to the extent any such representation or warranty is made as of a specified date, in which case such representation or warranty shall have been true and correct as of such date.
	12.11                     If the amount equal to (a) the Value of Eligible Inventory less the amount of Availability Reserves multiplied by (b) the then applicable advance rate with respect to the Value of Eligible Inventory is at any time equal to or less than $100,000,000, then within thirty (30) days after the date of the occurrence thereof, Borrowers and Guarantors shall deliver, or cause to be delivered to, Lender , in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, an Evidence of Property Insurance certificate together, with a Lender’s Loss Payable Endorsement, issued in favor of Lender with respect to property insurance of Borrowers and Guarantors.
	12.12                     If Excess Availability at any time is less than $30,000,000, Borrowers and Guarantors shall deliver within thirty (30) days after such date to Lender, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender:  (a)  an amended and restated blocked account agreement among Lender, LaSalle Bank National Association, and those Borrowers and Guarantors that maintain deposit accounts with LaSalle Bank National Association and (b) a deposit account control agreement for each of the deposit account banks at which Borrowers or Guarantors maintain deposit accounts that are determined by Lender in its good faith judgment to be material to the business and operations of the Borrowers and Guarantors or to the exercise of Lender’s rights and remedies under the Loan Agreement and the other Financing Agreements.  During such thirty (30) day period and in any event until such time as the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 12.12 have been satisfied as determined by Lender, the amount of Loans available to Borrowers based upon the lending formulas as determined by Lender in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement shall at all times be not less than $10,000,000.

	13.                                 Conditions Precedent.  The effectiveness of this Amendment and the agreement of Lender to the consents, modifications and amendments set forth in this Amendment are subject to the fulfillment of the following conditions precedent:
	13.1                           Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, evidence that (a) the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements have been duly executed and delivered by and to the appropriate parties thereto and (b) the transactions that are contemplated by the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements to be consummated prior to or as of the date hereof have been consummated prior to, or contemporaneously with, the execution of this Amendment;
	13.2                           Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, each of the following agreements to which it is a party, duly authorized, executed and delivered:
	(a)                      Guarantee by RT USA with respect to the Obligations of Borrowers (other than RT USA) to Lender;
	(b)                     Guarantee by TW New York LLC with respect to the Obligations of Borrowers (other than TW New York LLC) to Lender;
	(c)                      Guarantee by Borrowers with respect to the Obligations of RT USA and TW New York LLC to Lender;
	(d)                     Guarantee by Existing Guarantors with respect to the Obligations of RT USA and TW New York LLC;
	(e)                      Guarantee by TW Florida with respect to the Obligations of Borrowers;
	(f)                        General Security Agreement by TW Florida in favor of Lender;
	(g)                     Intercompany Parent Subordination Agreement between Lender and TWE, as acknowledged by RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida; and
	(h)                     Intercompany Subsidiary Subordination Agreement among Lender, RTI, TW New York LLC, RT USA, Specs and TW Florida, as acknowledged by TWE;

	13.3                           UCC financing statements and amendments to existing UCC financing statements with respect to RT USA, TW New York LLC, and all other Borrowers and TW Florida and all other Guarantors and other documents and instruments which Lender in its sole discretion has determined are necessary to perfect or continue perfected the security interests of Lender in all Collateral now or hereafter owned by RT USA and TW New York LLC and the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the other Guarantors shall have been either or both delivered and filed;
	13.4                           Each of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida shall have delivered to Lender (a) a copy of its Certificate of Formation or Articles of Organization, and all amendments thereto, certified by the Secretary of State of its jurisdiction of formation as of the most recent practicable date certifying that each of the foregoing documents remains in full force and effect and has not been modified or amended, except as described therein, (b) a copy of its Operating Agreement, certified by its Secretary and (c) a Certificate from its Secretary, dated the date hereof, certifying that each of the foregoing documents remains in full force and effect and has not been modified or amended, except as described therein;
	13.5                           Each of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida shall have delivered to Lender evidence, as of the most recent practicable date, that it is duly qualified and in good standing in each jurisdiction set forth in Exhibit C annexed hereto, except with respect to those jurisdictions in which such qualification has not yet been completed, in which case RT USA, New York LLC or TW Florida, as the case may be, shall deliver evidence of such qualification to Lender within the time period set forth on Exhibit C hereto;
	13.6                           Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, Secretary’s or Assistant Secretary’s Certificates of Directors’ Resolutions with Shareholders’ Consent evidencing the adoption and subsistence of corporate resolutions approving the
	execution, delivery and performance by Borrower, and Guarantors of this Amendment and the agreements, documents and instruments to be delivered pursuant to this Amendment;
	13.7                           Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, for each of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida (a) a certificate of the sole member of each such company identifying all managers (if any), officers or other persons authorized to act on behalf of such company and if applicable, the specific management responsibilities of each such manager, officer or other authorized person, including a description of any restriction on any such manager’s, officer’s or other person’s authority to act for such company or, if no restrictions are so imposed, a statement to that effect, (b) resolutions of each of the sole members of such company, evidencing the adoption and subsistence of company resolutions approving the execution, delivery and performance by each of RT USA, TW New York LLC and TW Florida, respectively, of this Amendment and the agreements, documents and instruments to be delivered pursuant to this Amendment, in each case signed by all members of each such company, and (c) Certificates of Membership of each such company identifying all members of such company and the relative voting and/or management rights of the members, if applicable, of such company;
	13.8                           Lender shall have received an opinion of counsel to RT USA and the other Borrowers and TW Florida and the other Guarantors with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Amendment and the TWE 2004 Business Restructure Agreements, and such other matters as Lender shall reasonably request, addressed to Lender, in form and substance and satisfactory to Lender;
	13.9                           each of Borrowers and Guarantors shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to Lender a true and correct copy of any consent, waiver or approval to or of this Amendment, which any Borrower or Guarantor is required to obtain from any other Person, and such consent, approval or waiver shall be in a form reasonably acceptable to Lender;
	13.10                     Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, all other consents, waivers, acknowledgments and other agreements from third persons which Lender may deem necessary or desirable in order to permit, protect and perfect its security interests and liens upon the Collateral or to affect the provisions or purposes of this Amendment and the other Financing Agreements;
	13.11                     all requisite corporate action and proceedings in connection with this Amendment and the documents and instruments to be delivered hereunder shall be in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, and Lender shall have received all information and copies of all documents, including, without limitation, records of requisite corporate action and proceedings which Lender may have reasonably requested in connection therewith, such documents where requested by Lender or its counsel to be certified by appropriate corporate officers or governmental authorities; and
	13.12                     no Event of Default shall exist or have occurred and no event or condition shall have occurred or exist which with notice or passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default.

	14.                                 Waiver of Event of Default.
	14.1                           Lender hereby waives, subject to the terms and conditions contained in this Amendment, the Event of Default arising under Section 9.7(b) and 9.10 of the Loan Agreement as a result of the formation by RTI of Trans World Florida, Inc., a Florida corporation.
	14.2                           Lender has not waived and is not by this Amendment waiving, and has no intention of waiving, any other Event of Default, which may have occurred before the date hereof, or may be continuing on the date hereof or any Event of Default that may occur after the date hereof, whether the same or similar to the Event of Default described in Section 14.1 hereof or otherwise, other than the Event of Default specifically described in Section 14.1 hereof. Lender reserves the right, in its discretion, to exercise its rights and remedies arising under the Financing Agreements, applicable law or otherwise as a result of any other Events of Default that may have occurred before the date hereof, or are continuing on the date hereof, or any Event of Default that may occur after the date hereof, whether the same or similar to the Event of Default described in Section 14.1 hereof or otherwise.

	15.                                 Additional Events of Default.  The parties hereto acknowledge, confirm and agree that the failure of Borrowers or Guarantors to comply with the covenants, conditions and agreements contained herein shall constitute an Event of Default.
	16.                                 Effect of this Amendment.  This Amendment and the instruments and agreements delivered pursuant hereto constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, and supersede all prior oral or written communications, memoranda, proposals, negotiations, discussions, term sheets and commitments with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof.  Except as expressly amended pursuant hereto, and except for the consents expressly set forth in the Consent No. 1 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 2 under  Loan Agreement, Consent No. 3 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 4 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 5 under Loan Agreement, Consent No. 6 under Loan Agreement, and Consent No. 7 under Loan Agreement, no other changes or modifications to the Financing Agreements or consents under any provisions thereof are intended or implied, and in all other respects the Financing Agreements are hereby specifically ratified, restated and confirmed by all parties hereto as of the effective date hereof.  To the extent of conflict between the terms of this Amendment and the other Financing Agreements, the terms of this Amendment shall control.
	17.                                 Further Assurances.  Borrowers shall execute and deliver such additional documents and take such additional action as may be reasonably requested by Lender to effectuate the provisions and purposes of this Amendment.
	18.                                 Governing Law.  The rights and obligations hereunder of each of the parties hereto shall be governed by and interpreted and determined in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York (without giving effect to principles of conflict of laws).
	19.                                 Binding Effect.  This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.
	20.                                 Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, but all of such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same agreement.  In making proof of this Amendment, it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one counterpart thereof signed by each of the parties hereto.

